


	 (in thousands, except per share data)

	 (unaudited)

Year Ended December 31,	 2020	 2019	 2018	 2017	 2016

Financial Performance
Net interest income.......................................................................... 	 $	37,248	 $	36,294	 $	35,015	 $	32,422	 $	28,504
Provision for loan losses....................................................................		  1,250		  1,300		  1,130		  1,400		  30	
Non-interest income........................................................................		  7,602		  8,317		  4,892		  6,887		  5,667		
Non-interest expense........................................................................		 28,955		 28,104		 25,885		 23,720		 22,163	
Net income......................................................................................		 12,083		 12,357		 11,335		  8,289		  8,924

Per Share Data
Net income - basic...........................................................................	 $	 3.42	 $	 3.53	 $	 3.27	 $	 2.42	 $	 2.64		
Net income - diluted........................................................................		  3.42		  3.53		  3.25		  2.41		  2.63	
Book value.......................................................................................		  37.80		  34.30		  29.95		  28.59		  27.43	
Cash dividends.................................................................................		  1.36		  1.32		  1.28		  1.24		  1.20

Selected Average Balances
Total assets.......................................................................................	$	1,343,984	 $	1,212,040	 $	1,176,910	 $	 1,117,163 	 $ 	 1,031,198
Total earning assets...........................................................................   	1,297,151		 1,174,619		 1,143,506		 1,082,436		  995,846	
Investment securities........................................................................		  390,906		  359,606		  372,803		  391,689		  359,310	
Loans held-for-sale...........................................................................		  3,530		  113		  52		  190		  283	
Loans receivable...............................................................................		  868,461		  811,413		  766,692		  682,292		  604,757	
Deposits...........................................................................................		 1,150,411		 1,030,373		 1,003,154		  962,498		  892,541		
Borrowed funds................................................................................		  60,311		  56,980		  60,939		  48,672		  40,200	
Shareholders’ equity.........................................................................		  123,790		  116,771		  108,241		  101,496		  94,472

Balance Sheet Data
Total assets.......................................................................................	$	1,440,229		  $	1,225,023		  $	1,175,452		  $	 1,152,337		    $ 	 1,063,141
Investment securities........................................................................		  448,495			   358,874			   353,642			   379,545			   394,071	
Loans held-for-sale...........................................................................		  6,570			   977			   –			   –			   789		
Loans receivable...............................................................................		  920,042			   820,616			   785,448			   733,283			   633,079		
Allowance for loan losses..................................................................		  (10,826	)		  (9,887	)		  (8,834	)		  (7,841	)		  (7,394	)	
Deposits...........................................................................................		 1,228,067			  1,037,860			  1,015,598			   993,948			   913,355		
Borrowed funds................................................................................		  58,838			   55,931			   50,872			   55,756			   52,660		
Shareholders’ equity.........................................................................		  134,445			   120,717			   104,348			   98,570			   93,567	

Selected Ratios
Return on average assets...................................................................	 0.90%	 1.02%	 0.96%	 0.74%	 0.87%	
Return on average shareholders’ equity.............................................	 9.76	 10.58	 10.47	 8.17	 9.45
Net interest margin..........................................................................	 2.92	 3.16	 3.13	 3.14	 3.03
Average shareholders’ equity to average total assets...........................	 9.21	 9.63	 9.20	 9.09	 9.16
 

Total Average LoansTotal Average Equity  Total Average Deposits
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We are pleased to present the 2020 Annual Report of QNB Corp. (QNB or the Company) which includes the activity of 
its subsidiary QNB Bank (the Bank). This year saw continued household, core deposit and loan growth.

Net income was $12,083,000, or $3.42 per share on a diluted basis compared to net income of $12,357,000, or $3.53 
per share on a diluted basis in 2019. Net income as expressed at a rate of return on average assets and average shareholder 
equity was 0.90% and 9.76%, respectively, for 2020. Total shareholder return over the last five years, measured by 
dividends and share appreciation has been 21.28%.

The Company saw an increase in net interest income of $954,000 due to loan and core deposit growth. Non-interest 
income decreased $715,000 primarily due to a $1,963,000 combined decrease in realized and unrealized investment 
gains. Non-interest expense increased $851,000 due primarily to employee salary and benefit increases.

The Bank had an improvement in its loan quality as measured by non-performing assets, which decreased from 
$16,464,000 on December 31, 2019 to $14,109,000 on December 31, 2020.

As a result of the Company’s financial performance and capital position, the Board of Directors increased the cash 
dividend in 2020 to $1.36 per share from $1.32 per share in 2019, a 3% increase. Based upon the closing price of a 
share as of close of business December 31, 2020, this represents a yield of 4.2%.

We are proud of our employees’ response to the crisis brought on by the COVID-19 pandemic. Our employees exhibited 
a remarkable level of dedication, flexibility and care for our customers and communities. The Bank instituted multiple 
safety measures and during the initial shutdown, despite our lobbies being closed, we continued to serve customers by 
appointment in-lobby and by extended drive-in hours. We helped our customers and communities with PPP loans, 
payment deferrals and fee waivers. The following pages contain more details on the Bank’s response to the pandemic.

The Company’s long-term success is directly related to the quality of our employees. The following officers were 
promoted or hired in 2020:

We look forward to the future with confidence, thanks to the strength of our customer relationships, the dedication of 
our employees, and the commitment of you, our shareholders. Thank you for your continued support.

Dennis Helf				         David W. Freeman
Chairman of the Board			       President and Chief Executive Officer

Melissa Brindley
VP Coopersburg Branch Manager

Gerald Donlon
VP Information Technology Director

Sandra Freeman
AVP Assistant Controller

Lynn Housenick
VP Retail Banking Analyst

Melanie Iezzi
AVP Special Assets Supervisor

Kimberly Lipyanik
Human Resources Officer

Amy Shimp
AVP Loan Services Manager

Jacklyn Thomas
AVP Colmar Branch Manager

Gary Trively
VP Wescosville Branch Manager

John Ventura
SVP Residential and Consumer Lending

Stephanie Zajkowski
AVP Commercial Loan Officer
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QNB’s community-focused culture takes 
center stage during coronavirus pandemic

 

David W. Freeman
President & CEO

At QNB it’s the relationships that 
matter most.

If 2020 was a constant lesson of 
navigating uncharted territory, 
then QNB weathered the storm 
through extreme challenges while 
listening to the science about 
social distancing, mask wearing 
and public health. The Bank was 
flexible in serving customers, and 
the organization made room to do 
business in new and different ways.

“Even when the lobbies were 
[initially] closed at the onset of 
the pandemic, we did not want 
customers to feel they had no one to 
talk to. It was a scary time, and we 
wanted to make sure people knew 
they could get their money,” said 
David W. (Dave) Freeman, QNB 
president/chief executive officer.

QNB remains one of the few banks 
in the region to continue offering 
walk-in lobby service. Even during 
a brief government mandated “red 
phase” lobby closure period in 
spring of 2020 customers still had 
access to lobby staff by appointment.

“Last year was one of the most 
challenging of my career  and 
probably the most rewarding,” 
Dave said. Offering lobby service, 
especially to the small business 

community, was a lifeline for those 
who regularly take in cash or coin 
for payment of goods and services. 
“Things like that really made a 
difference to our customers,” Dave 
said.

Innovative thinking wasn’t limited 
to front-office conference rooms, 
nor was creatively implementing 
solutions to challenges. Back-office 
employees worked together to 
process a tidal wave of Paycheck 
Protection Program loan 
applications with loan forgiveness in 
mind, which meant more customers 
received more money to keep their 
businesses going.

QNB employees didn’t just face 
down pandemic challenges they’d 
never seen before; they rose high 

“Even when the lobbies 
were [initially] closed 
at the onset of the 
pandemic, we did not 
want customers to feel 
they had no one to talk 
to. It was a scary time, 
and we wanted to make 
sure people knew they 
could get their money.”

““
- Dave Freeman
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above to solve them. Extraordinary 
creativity,  resilience, flexibility, and 
a clear sense of community are traits 
Dave witnessed, time and again. 
“We give people and our managers 
a lot of freedom in how they get 
things done,” he said.

Solutions to stubborn problems, like 
discovering the process is faster at 
3 a.m. for PPP applications than it 
is during the typical 9 to 5 workday, 
came from every corner of the 
organization.

Tellers covered positions in other 
branches when someone was out or 
in quarantine. Across departments, 
staff members worked to support 
one another, so no area was left to 
do without.

Loan processors and officers helped 
borrowers secure and refinance 
mortgages, work through loan 
modification terms and successfully 
manage an ever-evolving pandemic 
with a constantly changing rule book.

He credits an existing company 
culture which promotes honest, open 
communication from new and entry 
level employees to the executive 
team, and everyone in between.

Fostering a culture where people 
feel comfortable and safe to speak 
up means getting the best out of 
staff members because they feel 
heard. “Whether you’re me or a 
branch manager, you can’t fix things 
if everybody is afraid to raise their 

hands and say, ‘this isn’t working,’” 
Dave said.

While some choices seemed right 
at the time, management realized 
a different practice or solution was 
needed after listening to employees. 
“At least 10 decisions were reversed 
resulting in improved workflow,” 
according to Dave. 

The pandemic has undoubtedly 
changed customer behavior with 
more people using technology and 
digital banking services than ever 
before. Dave believes those changes, 
for many customers, will stay. “Once 
you adopt change, you won’t go 
back,” he said.

Left to right: Scott Orzehoski, EVP/Chief Lending Officer; Dale Westwood, EVP/Chief Retail Officer; Dave Freeman, 
President & CEO; Janice McCracken, EVP/Chief Financial Officer; Chris Cattie, EVP/Chief Information Technology Officer

QNB Executive Team
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Having a well-established 
company culture was an 

important asset in navigating 
the curveballs the coronavirus 
pandemic tossed out. QNB’s efforts 
to support customers through 
the crisis helped grow the bank’s 
business in 2020 according Janice 
McCracken, QNB executive vice 
president/chief financial officer.

“One of the things we pride 
ourselves on is our culture,” Janice 
said. “People don’t have to be told 
what to do. When this crisis hit, 
they knew what to do.”

Early last year that meant “reading 
the tea leaves” when Gov. Tom Wolf 
temporarily shut down much of the 

“We were here for the community, 
from individuals to businesses who 
didn’t have anywhere to go with 
their cash. At QNB, the lights stayed 
on,” Janice said.

Access and availability drove more 
business checking growth and 
overall deposits to QNB. With a 
more than 5 percent increase in 
business checking account activity, 
in-person lobby service was a vital 
factor driving those new accounts. 
“Because many of our competitor’s 
bank lobbies were closed, customers 
moved to us because they could 
bring their cash to us. Many 
businesses handling cash did not 
have access to their banks, but they 
had access to QNB,” Janice said.

Supporting customers through crisis leads 
to growth in business

 

Janice S. McCracken
EVP, Chief FInancial Officer

“Because many of 
our competitor’s bank 
lobbies were closed, 
customers moved to us 
because they could bring 
their cash to us. Many 
businesses handling 
cash did not have access 
to their banks, but they 
had access to QNB.”

““
- Janice McCracken

Commonwealth, and employers 
were scrambling to find ways to do 
business or simply stay in businesses.
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Overall deposit and loan growth 
outpaced expectations, too – with 
stimulus payments to individuals 
and families, and Paycheck 
Protection Program (PPP) funds 
deposited across QNB accounts.

Once QNB business customer 
needs for PPP loan applications 
were satisfied, efforts to support 
non-customers having problems 
obtaining the PPP federal funding 
started in earnest, creating a pipeline 
for new customer conversions. 
While PPP loans are not high 
yielding assets, fees associated with 
those transactions and the sheer 
volume QNB processed translated 
to increased revenue in 2020. 

Residential mortgage lending 
saw unprecedented growth, too, 
as historically low interest rates 
spurred the housing purchase and 
refinance market. QNB originated 
$71.5 million in mortgages during 
2020. “It was the best year for 
mortgage lending in the Bank’s 
history,” Janice said.

Another important metric to the 
Bank is net household growth. All 
told QNB’s net household growth 
was 1.88 percent in 2020, up from 
1.81 percent in 2019. “When the 
shutdown started in March, we 
thought we had little chance of 
exceeding our previous year’s 
growth, but we did,” Janice said.

With 2020 income at $12.1 million, 
just shy of $12.4 million in 2019 

earnings, QNB’s pandemic financial 
performance went well beyond 
expectations – taking into account 
additional expenses for personal 
protective equipment (PPE) and 
additional cleaning resources and 
services.

Since not everyone can work 
remotely, it was vital to make sure 
public spaces were safe, sanitized and 
regularly maintained. Implementing 
new sanitation protocols required 
some consideration to balance QNB’s 
“friendly, welcoming atmosphere” 
and avoid the appearance of a “sterile, 
cold environment,” Janice said. 

Even though social gatherings 
were curtailed in 2020, the casual 
get-togethers of previous years had 
already forged strong relationships 
among employees and across 
departments. They knew whose 
extension to call for answers.  
“Camaraderie at QNB proved to be 
a big benefit,” Janice said.

Over  a  5%  increase 
in  bus iness checking 
account  act iv i ty

Or ig inated $71.5  mi l l ion  in 
mortgages dur ing 2020, a 
new Bank record

Net  household  growth 
was 1.88%  in  2020, up 
f rom 1.81% in  2019

1.7%3%

1.6%2%

1.8%4%

1.9%5%

2020 by the numbers

1.5%1%

6% 2%
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QNB took a different approach 
to ensure more businesses 

could access Paycheck Protection 
Program [PPP] loans to keep their 
doors open for business. A mindful 
approach to efficient processing, 
servicing, and ensuring the best 
outcomes for loan forgiveness 
upfront was part of QNB’s response 
to the economic hardships created 
by the pandemic.

“This was a product none of 
us had ever seen in our careers 
before. There was no map, it was 
a blank piece of paper,” said Scott 
Orzehoski, QNB executive vice 
president/chief lending officer.

PPP loans, administered by the 
Small Business Administration 
(SBA), have been part of the 
federal coronavirus response. The 
program makes billions of dollars 
available through forgivable loans 
to keep small businesses open and 
employees paid. Nationally, about 
$525 billion of funding was released 
from March through August of 2020 
in Round 1, with 5.2 million loans 
made to small businesses.

“During that time QNB processed 
660 loans, for $82.5 million,” Scott 
said. Round 2 is currently underway 
with about 200 loans already 
processed at QNB, for about $20 
million so far.

Along with PPP applications being 
processed in commercial lending, 
Scott said QNB’s retail lending 
department  processed a record 444 
mortgage applications in 2020, more 
than the past three years combined. 
Historically low interest rates made 
home buying and refinancing a 
stable option for people during an 
unsettling time. During this “perfect 
storm” QNB added new customers. 
“We’re seeing a lot of people coming 
to us,” Scott said.

Loan balances overall grew more 
than 4 percent in the fourth quarter, 
something Scott said is “significant.” 
The growth shows how pent up 
demand during the shutdown 
pushed some business owners 

to make decisions about their 
businesses.

Many new accounts came to QNB 
because of its successful approach to 
the PPP loan program – a simple – if 
unconventional fix to a painful, often 
frustrating, and slow-going process.

The SBA’s system was initially unable 
to handle the sheer volume of PPP 
application uploads and was clogged 
by efforts from other institutions 
trying to access the system at the 
same time. To address the issue, 
QNB staff flipped the workday 
paradigm. The grassroots employee 
idea to work “third shift,” inputting 
applications over the early morning 
hours and before 6 a.m. solved 

Ensuring a financial lifeline
 

Scott G. Orzehoski
EVP, Chief Lending Officer
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the problem. The early morning 
approach broke data system gridlock 
to process loan applications faster 
and better serve small business 
customers. “It’s made a difference in 
people’s lives,” Scott said.

Working collaboratively, other ideas 
soon spread. 

Scott said the lending and the credit 
group took customer calls and 
applications, while documenting the 
loans. Loan servicing got involved, 
too, setting up bills and tracking 
them. “Soon everyone was going full 
tilt,” he said.

While the solution to uploading 
loan applications helped, constantly 
shifting SBA rules and paperwork  
challenged the PPP process. Over 
20 Interim Final Rules, multiple 
Procedural Notices, multiple 
Frequently Asked Questions and 
multiple application versions were 
released to banks and lenders 
during an already difficult process. 
“Now that’s a moving target,” Scott 
said.

““
“This was a 
product none of 
us had ever seen 
in our careers 
before. There was 
no map, it was 
a blank piece of 
paper.”

- Scott Orzehoski

QNB Bank Making a Difference, Going the Distance

Processed 660  PPP loans 
dur ing Round 1 , for       
$82.5  mi l l ion

Processed a  record 444 
mortgage appl icat ions , more 
than the past  3  years

Loan ba lances overa l l 
g rew over  4%  in  the 
four th  quar ter  o f  2020

2020 by the numbers

2%
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4%

0%
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For most customers a bank’s 
lobby is its heart and soul – with 

tellers and customer service staff 
members its beating pulse.

Among QNB’s top priorities 
has been to keep its branch 
lobbies open. Initially it was by 
appointment only during the onset 
of the coronavirus pandemic, then 
fully open to walk-in patrons. “I 
believe we made an impact. We 
had to really rethink how we do 
businesses,” said Dale Westwood, 
QNB executive vice president/chief 
retail officer.

Remaining open to customers is 
a testament to the idea of bank 
services for all – especially as other 
organizations’ lobbies remain 
dark. Dale said QNB’s customer 

base has grown because its lobbies 
remained open, a tangible benefit 
of the fidelity in creating safe, 
socially distanced in-person service. 
“Banking has always been changing 
and has to be flexible,” Dale said. 

From aggressive extra cleaning and 
sanitation procedures to marking 
flow patterns with footprints, 
customers can get the help they 
need and still exchange friendly 
banter with their favorite tellers, and 
familiar faces.

Dale said QNB’s branches and its 
customer service center worked in 
concert to meet customer needs 
during a public health crisis the 
world had not experienced since the 
1918 Influenza pandemic. “We’ve 
learned a lot,” she said.

While QNB did close its lobbies 
to walk in traffic on March 23 for 
several weeks, customers could 
make appointments for lobby 
service and had access to branches 
and staff with drive-in service.

“During that time our lobbies were 
closed, and we were planning how 
we’d reopen. At the time we thought 
that was the best for our customers 
and our employees…no one knew 
what to do” she said.

Remaining open and staying nimble
 

Dale A. Westwood
EVP, Chief Retail Officer
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QNB reopened its lobby service to 
the public in June.

Plexiglass shields went up. Teller 
stations were spread out to allow 
for more social distancing. Some 
branches had extended hours. In 
addition to new cleaning protocols, 
branches had greeters posted at the 
doors with masks to ensure patrons 
had and were wearing masks when 
entering the building. Greeters 
helped with directions to navigate 
the single flow pathway to enter, be 
served and exit the building.

Dale said at the beginning of the 
pandemic, many people were 
reluctant to wear masks. “It was 
the greeter’s responsibility to offer 
a patron a mask. If a customer 
declined, we offered them alternate 
ways to do business,” she said. 
As restrictions have been eased, 
branches no longer have the need 
for greeters at the door.

Aware of social distancing 
difficulties at the pandemic’s 

onset, QNB made the decision to 
temporary close its Quakertown 
Commons Office inside the GIANT 
Food Store in Quakertown. During 
that branch’s closure, staff moved to 
the Country Square Office, and hours 
there were extended to accommodate 
customers used to additional grocery 
store banking hours.

Dale said two by-products of the 
pandemic likely to stay include 
appointment lobby service and an 
increased awareness of stringent 
sanitation and cleaning practices. 

“Our facilities employees make 
sure the branches are clean – even 
having [disinfectant] foggers come 
in overnight, which is something 
I’d never imagined,” Dale said. And 
employees pitch in, routinely wiping 
down their workstations before 
leaving for the day. They’ve adopted 
the practice just in case someone 
else must cover the teller window 
the following day.

“Moving forward I think we’ll be 
much more careful,” she said.

QNB Bank Making a Difference, Going the Distance

“Our facilities employees 
make sure the branches 
are clean – even having 
[disinfectant] foggers 
come in overnight, which 
is something I’d never 
imagined.”““

- Dale Westwood

Distance and direction
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It’s one thing to say you’re there for 
the community - it’s another to 

really be there.

Navigating the unknown was the 
biggest challenge of the coronavirus 
pandemic, according to Christopher 
(Chris) Cattie QNB executive 
vice president/chief information 
technology officer. He oversees 
QNB’s deposit operations, facilities, 
marketing, and information 
technology. “As we were walking 
through this, it was all uncharted 
territory,” Chris said.

A critical transition during the 
pandemic was to strike the right 
balance between transitioning to 
more digital customer support 
while replicating the comfortable 
community bank feel for which 
QNB is well known. Despite having 
the pandemic plan and regular 
response testing in place, Chris 

said the impact of a real global 
pandemic health crisis, and its 
evolving dynamic were genuinely 
hard to fathom. “How to protect our 
employees and customers was our 
main concern,” Chris said.

As Covid-19 infection persisted 
and spread the biggest goal was to 
protect all employees throughout 

the public health crisis – from front 
line staff and lobby customers to 
everyone in the organization. “While 
masks had been contentious and 
politicized nationwide, mask wearing 
locally was readily accepted,” he said. 
At QNB Chris was pleased mask 
wearing wasn’t an issue. Those who 
felt unwell stayed or worked from 
home. Everyone wore masks and 
pulled together to do their best and 
protect one another.

QNB’s successful pandemic response 
proved that preparing for the 
unexpected definitely pays dividends 
when confronted with a crisis. 

Recognizing the need for 
infrastructure investment in 2017 – 
which included upgrading systems 
to allow employees to work from 
home, QNB was able to immediately 
respond in March 2020, when 
Governor Wolf temporarily shut 
down the commonwealth.

Upgrading technology results in
greater flexibility

 

Christopher T. Cattie
EVP, Chief Information Technology Officer

““

“Last year we upgraded 
our document imaging. 
We’re constantly looking 
at our platforms to make 
sure they are ready for 
the next challenge.”

- Chris Cattie



12

Chris said that vision and 
commitment included a complete 
infrastructure renovation – from 
communications and networking 
to servers, computers, and online 
banking upgrades. “Last year we 
upgraded our document imaging. 
We’re constantly looking at our 
platforms to make sure they are 
ready for the next challenge,” he said.

Flexibility provided a way for 
employees to continue to work in 
ways they felt most comfortable – 

from those entirely set up to work 
from home, to others who opted 
to work from home on a rotating 
basis. For those team members 
uncomfortable with working from 
home, safely working in the office 
was still an option.

“Traditionally banks and back office 
departments, are places where you 
have people not used to working 
from home; however, transitioning 
to that role at QNB went really well,” 
Chris said.

In the end, QNB weathered the 
greatest public health crisis in a 
over a century because the culture 
is centered on being true to the 
values of protecting the greater 
good, ensuring integrity and serving 
customers where they are.

“QNB is different because that’s 
the way we’ve made it,” Chris said. 
Having that community focused 
culture truly allowed QNB to make 
a difference and go the distance 
during the pandemic.

QNB Bank Making a Difference, Going the Distance

2017-2020 Upgrades

Document  Imaging

Network ing

Communicat ions

Servers

Onl ine  Banking

Computers
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DIRECTORS OF QNB CORP. AND QNB BANK
Autumn Bayles, VP Global Supply Chain at Aramark Corp.
Laurie A. Bergman, VP/CAO and Corporate Controller of UGI Corporations
Randy S. Bimes, President of Quakertown Veterinary Clinic
Thomas J Bisko, Retired President/CEO of QNB Bank
Kenneth F. Brown, President of McAdoo & Allen, Inc.
David W. Freeman, President/CEO of QNB Bank
Dennis Helf, Registered Investment Advisor
Jennifer Mann, President of JL Mann Consulting, LLC
Gary S. Parzych, President of Eugene T. Parzych, Inc.
W. Randall Stauffer, Chairman/COO of Stauffer Glove & Safety
Scott R. Stevenson, President/CEO of Phoebe Ministries

NEW DIRECTORS SPOTLIGHT

Laurie A. Bergman

Ms. Bergman is the Vice President, Chief Accounting Officer and 
Corporate Controller of UGI Corporation. She previously served as the 
Chief Accounting Officer and Corporate Controller of AmeriGas Propane, 
Inc. and as its Group Director – Financial Planning and Operations. 
Ms. Bergman’s educational background includes a Bachelor of Business 
Administration degree in Finance and a Master of Business Administration 
from Temple University. Ms. Bergman’s leadership of corporate accounting 
functions in large, publicly traded organizations give her the qualifications 
and skills to serve as a director of QNB. Ms. Bergman serves on the Audit 
Committee of the Board of Directors.
 
Randy S. Bimes

Dr. Bimes is the president and managing partner of Quakertown Veterinary 
Clinic. Furthermore, he is the chair of the Medical Advisory Board of 
Community Veterinary Partners. Dr. Bimes’ educational background 
includes a Doctor of Veterinary Medicine degree from the University of 
Illinois College of Veterinary Medicine. His experience in small business 
operations and development, strategic planning and work in small business 
aggregation, as well as his role in the community give Dr. Bimes the 
qualifications and skills to serve as a director of QNB. Dr. Bimes serves on 
the Asset Liability Committee.

OFFICERS OF QNB CORP.
Dennis Helf, Chairman 	
David W. Freeman, President/CEO	
Janice S. McCracken, CFO

EXECUTIVE MANAGEMENT OF QNB BANK
David W. Freeman, President/Chief Executive Officer 
Janice S. McCracken, EVP/Chief Financial Officer
Scott G. Orzehoski, EVP/Chief Lending Officer
Christopher T. Cattie, EVP/Chief Information Technology Officer
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PART I 

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS 

In addition to historical information, this document contains forward-looking statements. Forward-looking statements are typically 
identified by words or phrases such as “believe,” “expect,” “anticipate,” “intend,” “estimate,” “project” and variations of such words 
and similar expressions, or future or conditional verbs such as “will,” “would,” “should,” “could,” “may” or similar expressions. The 
U.S. Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 provides a safe harbor in regard to the inclusion of forward-looking statements in 
this document and documents incorporated by reference. 

Shareholders should note that many factors, some of which are discussed elsewhere in this document and in the documents that are 
incorporated by reference, could affect the future financial results of QNB Corp. and its subsidiary and could cause those results to differ 
materially from those expressed in the forward-looking statements contained or incorporated by reference in this document. These 
factors include, but are not limited to, the following: 

� Volatility in interest rates and shape of the yield curve; 
� Credit risk; 
� Liquidity risk; 
� Operating, legal and regulatory risks; 
� Economic, political and competitive forces affecting QNB Corp.’s business;  

� The effects of unforeseen external events, including acts of terrorism, natural disasters, and pandemics, including the 
COVID-19 Pandemic; and 

� The risk that the analysis of these risks and forces could be incorrect, and/or that the strategies developed to address them 
could be unsuccessful. 

QNB Corp. (herein referred to as “QNB” or the “Company”) cautions that these forward-looking statements are subject to numerous 
assumptions, risks and uncertainties, all of which change over time, and QNB assumes no duty to update forward-looking statements. 
Management cautions readers not to place undue reliance on any forward-looking statements. These statements speak only as of the date 
of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, even if subsequently made available by QNB on its website or otherwise, and they advise readers 
that various factors, including those described above, could affect QNB’s financial performance and could cause actual results or 
circumstances for future periods to differ materially from those anticipated or projected. Except as required by law, QNB does not 
undertake, and specifically disclaims any obligation, to publicly release any revisions to any forward-looking statements to reflect the 
occurrence of anticipated or unanticipated events or circumstances after the date of such statements. 
 
 
ITEM 1. BUSINESS 

Overview 

QNB was incorporated under the laws of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania on June 4, 1984. QNB is registered with the Board of 
Governors of the Federal Reserve System as a bank holding company under the Bank Holding Company Act of 1956 and conducts its 
business through its wholly-owned subsidiary, QNB Bank (the “Bank”). 

Prior to December 28, 2007, the Bank was a national banking association organized in 1877 as The Quakertown National Bank, was 
chartered under the National Banking Act and was subject to Federal and state laws applicable to national banks. Effective December 
28, 2007, the Bank became a Pennsylvania chartered commercial bank and changed its name to QNB Bank. The Bank, whose principal 
office is located in Quakertown, Bucks County, Pennsylvania, operated twelve full-service community banking offices in Bucks, 
Montgomery and Lehigh counties in southeastern Pennsylvania as of December 31, 2020. 

The Bank is engaged in the general commercial banking business and provides a full range of banking services to its customers. These 
banking services consist of, among other things, attracting deposits and using these funds in making commercial loans, residential 
mortgage loans, consumer loans, and purchasing investment securities. These deposits are in the form of time, demand and savings 
accounts. Time deposits include certificates of deposit and individual retirement accounts. The Bank’s demand and savings accounts 
include money market accounts, interest-bearing demand accounts (including a higher yielding checking account), club accounts, 
traditional statement savings accounts, and a higher yielding online savings account. 
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At December 31, 2020, QNB had total assets of $1,440,229,000, total loans receivable of $920,042,000, total deposits of $1,228,067,000 
and total shareholders’ equity of $134,445,000. For the year ended December 31, 2020, QNB reported net income of $12,083,000 
compared to net income for the year ended December 31, 2019 of $12,357,000 and December 31, 2018 of $11,335,000. 

At February 18, 2021, the Bank had 192 full-time employees and eight part-time employees. The Bank’s employees have a customer-
oriented philosophy emphasizing personal service and flexible solutions which together make achieving our customers’ goals possible. 
They maintain close contact with both the residents and local business people in the communities in which they serve, responding to 
changes in market conditions and customer requests in a timely manner. 

Competition and Market Area 

The banking business is highly competitive, and the profitability of QNB depends principally upon the Bank’s ability to compete in its 
market area. QNB faces intense competition within its market, both in making loans and attracting deposits. Bucks, Lehigh, and 
Montgomery counties have a high concentration of financial institutions, including large national and regional banks, community banks, 
savings institutions and credit unions. Some of QNB’s competitors offer products and services that QNB currently does not offer, such 
as traditional trust services and full-service insurance. 

In addition, as a result of consolidation in the banking industry, some of QNB’s competitors may enjoy advantages such as greater 
financial resources, a wider geographic presence, more favorable pricing alternatives and lower origination and operating costs. 
However, QNB has been able to compete effectively with other financial institutions by emphasizing the establishment of long-term 
relationships and customer loyalty. A strong focus on small-business solutions, providing fast local decision-making on loans, 
exceptional personal customer service and technology solutions, including internet- and mobile-banking, electronic bill pay and remote 
deposit capture, also enable QNB to compete successfully. 

Competition for loans and deposits comes principally from commercial banks, savings institutions, credit unions and non-bank financial 
service providers. Factors in successfully competing for deposits include providing excellent customer service, convenient locations and 
hours of operation, attractive rates, low fees, and alternative delivery systems. One such delivery system is remote deposit capture for 
those commercial customers that are not conveniently located near one of our branches, or mobile banking for retail customers. 
Successful loan origination tends to depend not only on interest rate and terms of the loan but also on being responsive and flexible to 
the customers’ needs. While many competitors within the Bank’s primary market have substantially higher legal lending limits, QNB 
often has the ability, through loan participations, to meet the larger lending needs of its customers. 

QNB’s success is dependent to a significant degree on economic conditions in southeastern Pennsylvania, especially Bucks, Lehigh and 
Montgomery counties, which it defines as its primary market. The banking industry is affected by general economic conditions, including 
the effects of recession, unemployment, declining real estate values, inflation, trends in the national and global economies, and other 
factors beyond QNB’s control. 

Monetary Policy and Economic Conditions 
The business of financial institutions is affected not only by general economic conditions, but also by the policies of various 
governmental regulatory agencies, including the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve (the “Federal Reserve”). The Federal 
Reserve regulates money, credit conditions and interest rates to influence general economic conditions primarily through open market 
operations in U.S. government securities, changes in the discount rate on bank borrowings and changes in the reserve requirements 
against depository institutions’ deposits. These policies and regulations significantly affect the overall growth and distribution of loans, 
investments and deposits, as well as the interest rates charged on loans and the interest rates paid on deposits. 

The monetary policies of the Federal Reserve have had a significant effect on the operating results of financial institutions in the past 
and are expected to continue to have significant effects in the future. In view of the changing conditions in the economy and the financial 
markets in addition to the activities of monetary and fiscal authorities, the prediction of future changes in interest rates, credit availability 
or deposit levels is very challenging. 

Supervision and Regulation 
Banks and bank holding companies operate in a highly-regulated environment and are regularly examined by Federal and state regulatory 
authorities. Federal statutes that apply to QNB and its subsidiary include the Bank Holding Company Act of 1956 (“BHCA”), the Federal 
Reserve Act and the Federal Deposit Insurance Act (“FDIA”), as those statutes have been significantly amended by recent laws such as 
the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act the “Dodd-Frank Act”), the Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act (“GLBA”), 
and others. In general, these statutes regulate the corporate governance of the Bank and eligible business activities of QNB and impose 
certain restrictions and limitations on such important matters as mergers and acquisitions, intercompany transactions, loans and 
dividends, and capital adequacy, among others. Other corporate governance requirements are imposed on QNB by Federal securities 
and other laws, including the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, described later. 
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The Company is under the jurisdiction of the Securities and Exchange Commission and of state securities commissions for matters 
relating to the offering and sale of its securities. In addition, the Company is subject to the Securities and Exchange Commission’s rules 
and regulations relating to periodic reporting, proxy solicitation and insider trading. 

Set forth below is a brief summary of some of the significant regulatory concepts and laws that affect QNB and the Bank. To the extent 
that the following information describes statutory or regulatory provisions, it is qualified in its entirety by references to the particular 
statutory or regulatory provisions themselves. Proposals to change banking laws and regulations are frequently introduced in Congress, 
the state legislatures, and before the various bank regulatory agencies. QNB cannot determine the likelihood of passage or timing of any 
such proposals or legislation or the impact they may have on QNB and its subsidiary. A change in law, regulations or regulatory policy 
may have a material effect on QNB and its subsidiary. 

Bank Holding Company Regulation 
QNB is registered as a bank holding company and is subject to the regulations of the Federal Reserve under the BHCA. In addition, 
QNB Corp., as a Pennsylvania business corporation, is subject to the Pennsylvania Business Corporation Law of 1988 (the “BCL”), as 
amended, and to certain provisions of the Pennsylvania Banking Code of 1965, as amended (the “Banking Code”). 

Bank holding companies are required to file periodic reports with, and are subject to examination by, the Federal Reserve. The Federal 
Reserve’s regulations require a bank holding company to serve as a source of financial and managerial strength to its subsidiary banks. 
As a result, the Federal Reserve, pursuant to its “source of strength” regulations, may require QNB to commit its resources to provide 
adequate capital funds to the Bank during periods of financial distress or adversity. 

Federal Reserve approval may be required before QNB may begin to engage in any non-banking activity and before any non-banking 
business may be acquired by QNB. 

Regulatory Restrictions on Dividends 
Dividend payments made by the Bank to the Company are subject to the Pennsylvania Banking Code, the FDIA, and the regulations of 
the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (“FDIC”). Under the Banking Code, no dividends may be paid except from “accumulated 
net earnings” (generally retained earnings). The Federal Reserve and the FDIC have formal and informal policies which provide that 
insured banks and bank holding companies should generally pay dividends only out of current operating earnings, with some exceptions. 
Under the FDIA, the Bank is prohibited from paying any dividends, making other distributions or paying any management fees if, after 
such payment, it would fail to satisfy its minimum capital requirements. See also “Supervision and Regulation – Bank Regulation”. 

In addition to the dividend restrictions described above, the banking regulators have the authority to prohibit or to limit the payment of 
dividends by the Bank if, in the banking regulator’s opinion, payment of a dividend would constitute an unsafe or unsound practice in 
light of the financial condition of the Bank. 

Under Pennsylvania law, QNB may not pay a dividend, if, after giving effect thereto, it would be unable to pay its debts as they become 
due in the usual course of business and, after giving effect to the dividend, the total assets of QNB would be less than the sum of its total 
liabilities plus the amount that would be needed, if QNB were to be dissolved at the time of distribution, to satisfy the preferential rights 
upon dissolution of shareholders whose rights are superior to those receiving the dividend. 

It is also the policy of the Federal Reserve that a bank holding company generally only pay dividends out of net income over the past 
year and only if the prospective rate of earnings retention appears consistent with a bank holding company’s capital needs, asset quality, 
and overall financial condition. In the current financial and economic environment, the Federal Reserve has indicated that bank holding 
companies should carefully review their dividend policy and has discouraged dividend pay-out ratios at the 100% level unless both asset 
quality and capital are very strong. A bank holding company also should not maintain a dividend level that places undue pressure on the 
capital of such institution’s subsidiaries, or that may undermine the bank holding company’s ability to serve as a source of strength for 
such subsidiaries. 

The minimum capital requirements implemented by Basel III, and described below under “Capital Adequacy,” also introduced a capital 
conservation buffer, comprised of common equity Tier 1 capital, above a banking institution’s minimum risk-based capital requirements 
in an amount greater than 2.5% of total risk-weighted assets in order to avoid limitations on certain distributions, including dividend 
payments. 

The approval of the Federal Reserve is required for a state bank member in the Federal Reserve system to pay dividends if the total of 
all dividends declared in any calendar year exceeds the Bank’s net profits (as defined) for that year combined with its retained net profits 
for the preceding two calendar years. Under this formula, the Bank can declare dividends in 2021 without approval of the Federal 
Reserve of approximately $21,883,000 plus an additional amount equal to the Bank’s net profits for 2020 up to the date of any such 
dividend declaration.  Under the restrictions applicable to the Bank, to remain “well capitalized,” the Bank had approximately 
$30,379,000 available for payment of dividends to the Company at December 31, 2020. 
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Capital Adequacy 

In July 2013, the Federal bank regulatory agencies adopted revisions to the agencies’ capital adequacy guidelines and prompt corrective 
action rules, which were designed to enhance such requirements and implement the revised standards of the Basel Committee on Banking 
Supervision, commonly referred to as Basel III. The rules generally implemented higher minimum capital requirements, added a new 
common equity Tier 1 capital requirement, and established criteria that instruments must meet to be considered common equity Tier 1 
capital, additional Tier 1 capital or Tier 2 capital. Tier 1 capital consists principally of common shareholders’ equity, plus retained 
earnings, less certain intangible assets. Tier 2 capital includes the allowance for loan and lease losses (up to 1.25 percent of risk-weighted 
assets), qualifying preferred stock, subordinated debt, and qualifying Tier 2 minority interests.   The current minimum capital 
requirements are a common equity Tier 1 capital ratio of 4.5%, a Tier 1 capital ratio of 6.0%, and a total capital ratio of 8.0%. In addition, 
in order to avoid limitations on certain capital distributions (including dividend payments and certain discretionary bonus payments to 
executive officers), as of January 1, 2019, a banking organization must hold a capital conservation buffer comprised of common equity 
Tier 1 capital above its minimum risk-based capital requirements in an amount greater than 2.5% of total risk-weighted assets.  At 
December 31, 2020, QNB’s Tier 1 capital, total capital (Tier 1 and Tier 2 combined) and common equity Tier 1 equity ratios were 
12.86%, 13.95%, and 12.86%, respectively. 

In addition to the risk-based capital guidelines, the Federal Reserve requires a bank holding company to maintain a minimum leverage 
ratio. This requires a minimum level of Tier 1 capital (as determined under the risk-based capital rules) to average total consolidated 
assets of 4% for those bank holding companies that have the highest regulatory examination ratings and are not contemplating or 
experiencing significant growth or expansion.  The Federal Reserve expects all other bank holding companies to maintain a ratio of at 
least 1% to 2% above the stated minimum. At December 31, 2020, QNB’s leverage ratio was 9.07%. 

Pursuant to the prompt corrective action provisions of the FDIA, the Federal banking agencies have specified, by regulation, the levels 
at which an insured institution is considered well capitalized, adequately capitalized, undercapitalized, significantly undercapitalized, or 
critically undercapitalized. Under these regulations, an institution is considered well capitalized if it satisfies each of the following 
requirements: 

� Total risk-based capital ratio of 10% or more. 

� Tier 1 risk-based capital ratio of 8% or more. 

� Common equity tier 1 risk-based capital ratio of 6.5% or more. 

� Leverage ratio of 5% or more, and 

� Not subject to any order or written directive to meet and maintain a specific capital level 

At December 31, 2020 and 2019, the Bank qualified as well capitalized under these regulatory standards. See Note 20 of the Notes to 
Consolidated Financial Statements included at Item 8 of this Report for additional information.  

Bank Regulation 

As a Pennsylvania-chartered insured commercial bank, the Bank is subject to extensive regulation and examination by the Pennsylvania 
Department of Banking and Securities (the “Department”) and by the FDIC, which insures its deposits to the maximum extent permitted 
by law. 

The Federal and state laws and regulations applicable to banks regulate, among other things, the scope of their business, their 
investments, the reserves required to be kept against deposits, the timing of the availability of deposited funds, the nature and amount 
of collateral for certain loans, the activities of a bank with respect to mergers and consolidations, and the establishment of branches. The 
laws and regulations governing the Bank generally have been promulgated to protect depositors and not for the purpose of protecting 
QNB’s shareholders. This regulatory structure also gives the Federal and state banking agencies extensive discretion in connection with 
their supervisory and enforcement activities and examination policies, including policies with respect to the classification of assets and 
the establishment of adequate loan loss reserves for regulatory purposes. Any change in such regulation, whether by the Department, 
the FDIC or the United States Congress, could have a material impact on the Company, the Bank and their operations. 

As a subsidiary bank of a bank holding company, the Bank is subject to certain restrictions imposed by the Federal Reserve Act on 
extensions of credit to QNB, on investments in the stock or other securities of QNB, and on taking such stock or securities as collateral 
for loans. 
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FDIC Insurance Assessments 

The Bank’s deposits are insured to the applicable limits as determined by the FDIC, which is currently $250,000 per depositor.  Under 
the FDIC's risk-based assessment system, insured institutions were previously assigned one of four risk categories based on supervisory 
evaluations, regulatory capital levels and certain other factors. An institution's assessment rate depended largely on the category to which 
it was assigned, with institutions deemed less risky paying lower FDIC deposit insurance premiums. The Dodd-Frank Act required the 
FDIC to revise its procedures to base deposit insurance assessments on each insured institution's total assets less tangible equity instead 
of deposits and also mandated that the Deposit Insurance Fund achieve a reserve ratio of 1.35% of insured deposits by September 2020.  
Assessments for most banks are based on certain financial measures and supervisory ratings derived from statistical modeling estimating 
the probability of failure over three years, and also set maximum rates for institutions with composite CAMELS ratings of 1 or 2 and 
minimum rates for other institutions,  The total base assessment range (after possible adjustments) for most banks is 1.5 basis points to 
30 basis points.  As of the September 2019 assessment date, when the Deposit Insurance Fund reserve ratio reached or exceeded 1.38%, 
banks with less than $10 billion of total consolidated assets began receiving certain "small bank assessment credits" for the portion of 
their assessments that contributed to the growth in the FDIC's fund reserve ratio from 1.15% to 1.35%; credits were to be applied so 
long as the Deposit Insurance Fund reserve ratio is at or above 1.35%.  All then remaining small bank credits were refunded during 
2020, ending the application of small bank credits. 

At June 30, 2019 and September 30, 2019 the Reserve Ratio was greater than 1.38% and the Bank received Small Institution Credits 
totaling $273,000. For the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018, the Bank recorded $569,000, $266,000 (net of Small 
Institution Credits of $273,000), and $592,000, respectively, in FDIC deposit insurance premium expense. 

All insured institutions of the FDIC were required to pay assessments to fund interest payments on Financing Corporation (FICO) bonds. 
The Financing Corporation was created by Congress to issue bonds to finance the resolution of failed thrift institutions. The FDIC had 
the authority to set the Financing Corporation assessment rate every quarter. These assessments continued until the Financing 
Corporation bonds matured in 2019.  The expense for 2019 and 2018 recorded by QNB was $3,000 and $32,000, respectively.   There 
was no expense recorded in 2020. 

Federal Home Loan Bank System 

The Bank is a member of the Federal Home Loan Bank of Pittsburgh (“FHLB”), which is one of 11 regional Federal Home Loan Banks. 
Each Federal Home Loan Bank serves as a reserve or central bank for members within its assigned region. It is funded primarily from 
funds deposited by member institutions and proceeds from the sale of consolidated obligations of the Federal Home Loan Bank System. 
It makes loans to members (i.e. advances) in accordance with policies and procedures established by the board of directors of the Federal 
Home Loan Bank. At December 31, 2020, the Bank had $0 of overnight FHLB advances outstanding and $10,000,000 in long-term 
debt. 

The Bank is required to purchase and maintain stock in the FHLB as a condition of membership in an amount equal to 0.10% of its 
assets. In addition, each member is required to purchase and maintain activity-based stock of 4% of outstanding advances from the 
FHLB. At December 31, 2020, the Bank had $1,029,000 in stock of the FHLB. 

Community Reinvestment Act 

Under the Community Reinvestment Act, (“CRA”) as amended the FDIC is required to assess all financial institutions that it regulates 
to determine whether these institutions are meeting the credit needs of the communities that they serve. The CRA focuses specifically 
on low- and moderate-income neighborhoods. 

An institution’s record is considered during the evaluation of any application made by such institutions for, among other things: 

� Approval of a branch or other deposit facility; 

� An office relocation or a merger; and 

� Any acquisition of bank shares. 

The CRA also requires that the regulatory agency make publicly available the evaluation of the Bank’s record of meeting the credit 
needs of its entire community, including low- and moderate-income neighborhoods. This evaluation includes a descriptive rating of 
either outstanding, satisfactory, needs to improve, or substantial noncompliance, and a statement describing the basis for the rating. The 
Bank’s most recent CRA rating was “Satisfactory”. 
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USA Patriot Act 

The USA Patriot Act strengthens the anti-money laundering provisions of the Bank Secrecy Act. The Act requires financial institutions 
to establish certain procedures to be able to identify and verify the identity of its customers. Specifically, the Bank must have procedures 
in place to: 

� Verify the identity of persons applying to open an account; 

� Ensure adequate maintenance of the records used to verify a person’s identity; and 

� Determine whether a person is on any U.S. government agency list of known or suspected terrorists or a terrorist 
organization.  

Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 
The Sarbanes-Oxley Act is intended to bolster public confidence in the nation’s capital markets by imposing new duties and penalties 
for non-compliance on public companies and their executives, directors, auditors, attorneys and securities analysts. Some of the more 
significant aspects of the Act as it relates to QNB include: 

� Corporate Responsibility for Financial Reports - requires Chief Executive Officers (“CEOs”) and Chief Financial Officers 
(“CFOs”) to certify certain matters relating to a company’s financial records and accounting and internal controls. 

� Management Assessment of Internal Controls - requires auditors to certify the company’s underlying controls and processes 
that are used to compile the financial results for companies that are accelerated filers. 

� Real-time Issuer Disclosures - requires that companies provide real-time disclosures of any events that may affect the 
company’s stock price or financial performance, generally within a 48-hour period. 

� Criminal Penalties for Altering Documents - provides severe penalties for “whoever knowingly alters, destroys, mutilates” 
any record or document with intent to impede an investigation. Penalties include monetary fines and prison time. 

The Act also imposes requirements for corporate governance, auditor independence, accounting standards, audit committee member 
independence and increased authority, executive compensation, insider loans and whistleblower protection. As a result of the Act, QNB 
adopted a Code of Business Conduct and Ethics applicable to its CEO, CFO and Controller, which meets the requirements of the Act, 
to supplement its long-standing Code of Ethics, which applies to all directors and employees. 

QNB’s Code of Business Conduct and Ethics can be found on the Bank’s website at www.qnbbank.com. 

Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act of 2010 (“Dodd-Frank Act”) 
The Dodd-Frank Act was enacted on July 21, 2010. This law made significant changes to the bank regulatory structure and affects the 
lending, deposit, investment, trading and operating activities of financial institutions and their holding companies. 

The Dodd-Frank Act created a new Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (“CFPB”) with broad powers to supervise and enforce 
consumer protection laws. The CFPB has broad rule-making authority for a wide range of consumer protection laws that apply to all 
banks and savings institutions, including the authority to prohibit “unfair, deceptive or abusive” acts and practices. The CFPB has 
examination and enforcement authority over all banks and savings institutions with more than $10 billion in assets. Banks and savings 
institutions with $10 billion or less in assets such as the Bank will continue to be examined for compliance with the consumer laws by 
their primary bank regulators. The Dodd-Frank Act also weakened the Federal preemption rules that had been applicable for national 
banks and Federal savings associations and gave state attorneys general the ability to enforce Federal consumer protection laws. 

Many of the provisions of the Dodd-Frank Act do not apply to the Bank, as it does not engage in many of the specific activities sought 
to be regulated by the Dodd-Frank Act. Many of the provisions, however, such as increased capital requirements and changes to FDIC 
insurance premiums already implemented, affected all banking entities. In addition, the financial crisis of 2008 and the enactment of the 
Dodd-Frank Act in response to that crisis has resulted in an era of increased regulatory oversight over all financial entities. The ultimate 
changes resulting from the Dodd-Frank Act may impact the profitability of our business activities, require changes to certain of our 
business practices, impose upon us more stringent capital, liquidity and leverage ratio requirements or otherwise adversely affect our 
business. These changes may also require us to invest significant management attention and resources to evaluate and make necessary 
changes in order to comply with new statutory and regulatory requirements. 
  



- 9 - 

Economic Growth, Regulatory Relief, and Consumer Protection Act 

On May 24, 2018, the Economic Growth, Regulatory Relief, and Consumer Protection Act (the “EGRC Act”), which was designed to 
ease certain restrictions imposed by the Dodd-Frank Act, was enacted into law.  Most of the changes made by the EGRC Act can be 
grouped into five general areas:  mortgage lending; certain regulatory relief for “community” banks; enhanced consumer protections in 
specific areas, including subjecting credit reporting agencies to additional requirements; certain regulatory relief for large financial 
institutions, including increasing the threshold at which institutions are classified a systemically important financial institutions (from 
$50 billion to $250 billion) and therefore subject to stricter oversight, and revising the rules for larger institution stress testing; and 
certain changes to Federal securities regulations designed to promote capital formation.  Some of the key provisions of the EGRC Act 
as it relates to community banks and bank holding companies include, but are not limited to: (i) designating mortgages held in portfolio 
as “qualified mortgages” for banks with less than $10 billion in assets, subject to certain documentation and product limitations; (ii) 
exempting banks with less than $10 billion in assets (and total trading assets and trading liabilities of 5% or less of total assets) from 
Volcker Rule requirements relating to proprietary trading; (iii) simplifying capital calculations for banks with less than $10 billion in 
assets by requiring Federal banking agencies to establish a community bank leverage ratio of Tier 1 capital to average consolidated 
assets of not less than 8% or more than 10%, and provide that banks that maintain Tier 1 capital in excess of such ratio will be deemed 
to be in compliance with risk-based capital and leverage requirements; (iv) assisting smaller banks with obtaining stable funding by 
providing an exception for reciprocal deposits from FDIC restrictions on acceptance of brokered deposits; (v) raising the eligibility for 
use of short-form Call Reports from $1 billion to $5 billion in assets; (vi) clarifying definitions pertaining to high volatility commercial 
real estate loans (HVCRE), which require higher capital allocations, so that only loans with increased risk are subject to higher risk 
weightings; and (vii) changing the eligibility for use of the small bank holding company policy statement from institutions with under 
$1 billion in assets to institutions with under $3 billion in assets.  As noted, the ECRC Act as implemented by the Federal Reserve Board 
effective August 30, 2018, raised the threshold of the Federal Reserve Board's "Small Bank Holding Company" exception to the 
application of consolidated capital requirements from $1 billion to $3 billion of consolidated assets. Consequently, bank holding 
companies having less than $3 billion of consolidated assets are not subject to the consolidated capital requirements unless otherwise 
directed by the Federal Reserve Board. 

Section 201 of the EGRC Act directed the federal banking agencies to develop a community bank leverage ratio (“CBLR”) of not less 
than 8% and not more than 10% for qualifying community banks and bank holding companies with total consolidated assets of less than 
$10 billion.  Qualifying community banking organizations that exceed the CBLR level established by the agencies, and that elect to be 
covered by the CBLR framework, will be considered to have met:  (i) the generally applicable leverage and risk-based capital 
requirements under the banking agencies’ capital rules; (ii) the capital ratio requirements necessary to be considered “well capitalized” 
under the banking agencies’ prompt corrective action framework in the case of insured depository institutions; and (iii) any other 
applicable capital or leverage requirements.    

On November 13, 2019, the Federal banking agencies published a final rule that provides for a simple measure of capital adequacy for 
certain community banking organizations, consistent with Section 201 of the EGRC Act. The final rule is effective on January 1, 2020.  
Under the EGRC Act, depository institutions and depository institution holding companies that have less than $10 billion in total 
consolidated assets and meet other qualifying criteria, including a leverage ratio (equal to tier 1 capital divided by average total 
consolidated assets) of greater than 9%, will be eligible to opt into the community bank leverage ratio framework (qualifying community 
banking organizations). Qualifying community banking organizations that elect to use the community bank leverage ratio framework 
and that maintain a leverage ratio of greater than 9% will be considered to have satisfied the generally applicable risk-based and leverage 
capital requirements in the agencies’ generally applicable capital rules and, if applicable, will be considered to have met the well-
capitalized ratio requirements for purposes of prompt corrective action framework under Section 38 of the FDIA. The final rule includes 
a two-quarter grace period during which a qualifying community banking organization that temporarily fails to meet any of the qualifying 
criteria, including the greater than 9% leverage ratio requirement, generally would still be deemed well-capitalized so long as the banking 
organization maintains a leverage ratio greater than 8%. At the end of the grace period, the banking organization must meet all qualifying 
criteria to remain in the community bank leverage ratio framework or otherwise must comply with and report under the generally 
applicable rule. Similarly, a banking organization that fails to maintain a leverage ratio greater than 8% would not be permitted to use 
the grace period and must comply with the capital rule’s generally applicable requirements and file the appropriate regulatory reports.  
As a result of the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act enacted during 2020, the CBLR was reduced to 8.0% for the 
remainder of 2020 and set at 8.5% for 2021. 

QNB does not currently meet all the requirements under the EGRC Act, including the CBLR framework, to be considered a qualifying 
community banking organization.   QNB does not believe, however, that the changes resulting from the EGRC Act will materially 
impact QNB’s business, operations, or financial results going forward. 
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Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act 

On March 27, 2020, the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security (“CARES”) Act was signed into law.  As permitted under 
Section 4013 of the CARES Act, QNB continues to provide customers experiencing financial hardship caused by the COVID-19 
Pandemic, solutions to help them through this difficult period.  Upon requests from customers, QNB: has provided an interest only 
payment option, granted in 90 days increments; has provided payment deferment for commercial, mortgage and consumer loans with 
no late fee during the deferment period; has granted foreclosure and motor vehicle repossession reprieve; and will not adversely impact 
credit reporting for customers who were granted relief on mortgage or consumer loans.  None of these modifications are considered 
troubled-debt restructurings as the customers were not experiencing financial difficulty prior to the COVID-19 Pandemic.  Interest 
continues to be accrued on all COVID-19 modifications during the deferment period. QNB had modified a total 305 commercial loans 
or $160,676,000 and 61 retail loans or $8,808,000 during the year due to COVID-19.  As of December 31, 2020, QNB had modifications 
on approximately 4.0% of the December 31, 2020 commercial portfolio, consisting of 16 loans with an outstanding balance of 
$31,147,000, of which 13 loans totaling $30,613,000 had extended the initial modification period, and had modifications to 
approximately 1.8% of the December 31, 2020 retail portfolio, consisting of 13 loans with an outstanding balance of $2,723,000, of 
which 11 loans totaling $2,428,000 had extended the initial deferment period,  related to the COVID-19 Pandemic.   QNB will continue 
work with our borrowers during this difficult time. 

As provided under the CARES Act, the U.S. Small Business Administration (“SBA”) and Treasury have implemented the Paycheck 
Protection Program (“PPP”) which is designed to assist small businesses and their employees during this crisis. This program provides 
small businesses with payroll assistance in the form of a 100% guaranteed loan from SBA. Eligible borrowers can receive up to 2.5 
times their monthly average payroll expenses for the prior year.  Congress originally approved $349 billion for this program as part of 
the CARES Act. The first round of funding was quickly exhausted by April 16, 2020 and Congress worked to provide an additional 
$310 billion in funding which was approved on April 23, 2020.  The SBA reopened its portal to begin accepting PPP loans for approval 
on Monday, April 27, 2020.  As of August 13, 2020,  QNB closed 660 loans totaling $82,475,000; of which $72,821,000 were 
outstanding at December 31, 2020.   QNB received origination fees from the SBA ranging from one to five basis points which are 
recognized in interest income as a yield adjustment over the term of the loan.  Net unearned fees and costs on PPP loans was $1,909,000  
at December 31, 2020.  Funds are primarily being transferred into the borrowers’ deposit  accounts, and disbursement on these PPP loan 
proceeds are being funded by cash held at the Federal Reserve and proceeds from calls and payments of investment securities.  QNB 
has ample resources to cover future disbursements through short-term Federal Home Loan Bank (“FHLB”) advances and participation 
in the Federal Reserve’s Paycheck Protection Program Liquidity Facility (“PPPLF”), if necessary.  On June 5, 2020, the Paycheck 
Protection Program Flexibility Act of 2020 was signed into law and amends the CARES Act.  The amended act eases rules on how and 
when small businesses can use the proceeds from PPP loans and still be eligible for loan forgiveness. The amended act made the 
following changes: (1) extended the maximum covered period for loan forgiveness purposes to 24 weeks or December 31, 2020; (2) 
lowered the amount required to be spent on payroll costs from 75% to 60%; (3) extended the loan maturity period from two to five 
years; and (4) revised the loan deferral period, among other changes. 

On December 27, 2020, the Consolidated Appropriations Act was signed into law, which both funds the federal government until 
September 30, 2021 and broadly addresses additional COVID-19 responses and relief. Included among those relief provisions are certain 
extensions to elements of the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act (the CARES Act) that address the application of U.S. 
GAAP by financial institutions.  

Section 540 (Extensions of Temporary Relief and Emergency Authorities) amended Section 4014 of the CARES Act and further delays 
the required adoption of the FASB’s ASU 2016-13, Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial Instruments (Topic 326), including the 
current expected credit loss (CECL) model, by insured depository institutions, credit unions and bank holding companies. Those entities 
that have not previously adopted and were preparing to adopt on December 31, 2020, now have until the earlier of a) the first day of the 
financial institution’s fiscal year that begins after the date on which the national COVID-19 emergency terminates or b) January 1, 2022 
to adopt ASU 2016-13.  The required adoption date for QNB and other small reporting companies has not changed and remains at 
January 31, 2023. 

Section 541 (Extension of Temporary Relief from Troubled Debt Restructurings and Insurer Clarification) also extends the period 
established by Section 4013 of the CARES Act under which consideration of troubled debt restructuring identification and accounting 
triggered by effects of the COVID-19 epidemic are suspended. That period is extended to the earlier of a) January 1, 2022, or b) the date 
that is 60 days after the date on which the national COVID-19 emergency terminates. In addition, Section 541 amended the relief to 
expand beyond financial institutions to include insurance companies. The requirement that the subject specific loans not be more that 
30 days past due as of December 31, 2019 was not changed. 

On December 27, 2020, the Economic Aid to Hard-Hit Small Businesses, Nonprofits and Venues Act (“Economic Aid Act”) was signed 
into law.  The Economic Aid Act reopens and expands the PPP. Eligible businesses that previously did not obtain a First Draw Loan 
may now apply for a PPP loan through March 31, 2021, or until the appropriations are exhausted. Second Draw Loans are available to 
those who previously received a First Draw Loan.  Under these new PPP loans, a borrower may select a covered period anywhere 
between eight weeks and 24 weeks after the loan is first advanced.   
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The full impact of the COVID-19 Pandemic is unknown and rapidly evolving.  Uncertainties exist related to the duration of the COVID-
19 Pandemic and its potential effects on QNB’s customers and prospects, including impacts on national and local economies, 
unemployment, maintaining  a competent workforce, and disruptions in the supply chain.   There are no assurances as to how the 
COVID-19 Pandemic might affect QNB’s loan, investment and deposit portfolios. 

Possible Future Legislation 

Congress is often considering some financial industry legislation, and the Federal banking agencies routinely propose new regulations. 
The Company cannot predict the future effect any new legislation, or new rules adopted by Federal or state banking agencies, will have 
on the business of the Company and its subsidiaries. Given that the financial industry remains under scrutiny, the Company expects that 
there will be legislative and regulatory actions that may materially affect the banking industry in the foreseeable future. 

Additional Information 

QNB’s principal executive offices are located at 320 West Broad Street, Quakertown, Pennsylvania. Its telephone number is (215) 538-
5600.   

QNB also makes its periodic and current reports available, including this annual report for Form 10-K, free of charge, on its website, 
www.qnbbank.com, as soon as reasonably practicable after such material is electronically filed with the SEC. Information available on 
the website is not a part of, and should not be incorporated into, this annual report on Form 10-K.  In addition, the SEC maintains a 
website that contains reports, proxy and information statements and other information regarding registrants, including QNB, that file 
electronically with the SEC which can be accessed at www.sec.gov. 
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ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS 

The following discusses risks that management believes are specific to our business and could have a negative impact on QNB’s financial 
performance. When analyzing an investment in QNB, the risks and uncertainties described below, together with all of the other 
information included or incorporated by reference in this report, should be carefully considered. This list should not be viewed as 
comprehensive and may not include all risks that may affect the financial performance of QNB. 

Our net interest income, net income and results of operations are sensitive to fluctuations in interest rates. 
QNB’s profitability is largely a function of the spread between the interest rates earned on earning assets and the interest rates paid on 
deposits and other interest-bearing liabilities. Like most financial institutions, QNB’s net interest income and margin will be affected by 
general economic conditions and other factors, including fiscal and monetary policies of the Federal government, that influence market 
interest rates and QNB’s ability to respond to changes in such rates. At any given time, QNB’s assets and liabilities may be such that 
they are affected differently by a change in interest rates. As a result, an increase or decrease in rates, the length of loan terms or the mix 
of adjustable- and fixed-rate loans or investment securities in QNB’s portfolio could have a positive or negative effect on its net income, 
capital and liquidity. Although management believes it has implemented strategies and guidelines to reduce the potential effects of 
adverse changes in interest rates on results of operations, any substantial and prolonged change in market interest rates could affect 
operating results negatively. 

We are subject to credit risk in connection with our lending activities, and our financial condition and results of operations may 
be negatively affected by economic conditions and other factors that could adversely affect our customers. 
As a lender, QNB is exposed to the risk that its borrowers may be unable to repay their loans and that the current market value of any 
collateral securing the payment of their loans may not be sufficient to assure repayment in full. Credit losses are inherent in the lending 
business and could have a material adverse effect on the operating results of QNB. Adverse changes in the economy or business 
conditions, either nationally or in QNB’s market areas, could increase credit-related losses and expenses and/or limit growth. 
Substantially all of QNB’s loans are to businesses and individuals in its limited geographic area and any economic decline in this market 
could impact QNB adversely. QNB makes various assumptions and judgments about the collectability of its loan portfolio and provides 
an allowance for loan losses based on a number of factors. If these assumptions are incorrect, the allowance for loan losses may not be 
sufficient to cover losses and may cause QNB to increase the allowance in the future by increasing the provision for loan losses, thereby 
having an adverse effect on operating results. QNB has adopted underwriting and credit monitoring procedures and credit policies that 
management believes are appropriate to control these risks; however, such policies and procedures may not prevent unexpected losses 
that could have a material adverse effect on QNB’s financial condition or results of operations. 

A deterioration in regional or national economic conditions may adversely affect our financial condition and results of 
operations. 
QNB primarily provides banking services to customers located in the Bucks, Lehigh and Montgomery Counties in Pennsylvania. 
Adverse effects of a regional economic downturn could affect QNB’s ability to attract deposits and qualified loans.  Economic factors 
impacting the local economy with this region, such as a decline in real estate values, unemployment, and natural disasters, may have a 
negative impact on credit-worthiness of customers, the value of collateral, and customers’ ability to repay loans, which would result in 
write-downs, increases in non-performing loans, and a decline in QNB’s financial performance measurements.  Unlike larger banks that 
are more geographically diversified, we provide banking and financial services locally and therefore are more affected by adverse local 
economic conditions. 
Similarly, potential adverse effects of any national economic downturn or concerns with the stability of the financial markets could lead 
to lack of consumer confidence, increased market volatility, and a general reduction in business activity.  Such events may result in 
increased regulation of the financial services industry and increased compliance costs; greater difficulty in assessing the creditworthiness 
of customers and increased credit risk; greater difficulty in originating loans that meet our underwriting criteria; liquidity issues to the 
extent that it becomes more difficult to borrow from third parties, including other financial institutions; and limitations on growth. 

We face significant competition from other banks and financial institutions in our market area, many of which are larger in 
terms of asset size and market capitalization. 
The financial services industry is highly competitive, with competition for attracting and retaining deposits and making loans coming 
from other banks and savings institutions, credit unions, mutual fund companies, insurance companies and other non-bank businesses. 
Many of QNB’s competitors are much larger in terms of total assets and market capitalization, have a higher lending limit, have greater 
access to capital and funding, and offer a broader array of financial products and services. In light of this, QNB’s ability to continue to 
compete effectively is dependent upon its ability to maintain and build relationships by delivering top quality service. Competition 
within the financial services industry also impacts QNB’s ability to attract and retain low-cost deposits which could impact QNB’s 
liquidity.  Lowering loan rates and increasing deposit rates compresses the interest rate margin and profitability. 
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At December 31, 2020, our lending limit per borrower was approximately $19,003,000. Accordingly, the size of loans that we may offer 
to potential borrowers (without participation by other lenders) is less than the size of loans that many of our competitors with larger 
capitalization are able to offer. Our legal lending limit also impacts the efficiency of our lending operation because it tends to lower our 
average loan size, which means we have to generate a higher number of transactions to achieve the same portfolio volume. We may 
engage in loan participations with other banks for loans in excess of our legal lending limit. However, there can be no assurance that 
such participations will be available or on terms which are favorable to us and our customers. 

Our results of operations may be adversely affected by other-than-temporary impairment charges relating to our debt securities. 
QNB purchases U.S. Government and U.S. Government agency debt securities, U.S. Government agency issued mortgage-backed 
securities or collateralized mortgage obligation securities, obligations of states and municipalities and corporate debt securities. QNB is 
exposed to the risk that the issuers of these debt securities may experience significant deterioration in credit quality which could impact 
the market value of such issuer’s securities. QNB periodically evaluates its debt securities to determine if market value declines are 
other-than-temporary. Once a decline is determined to be other-than-temporary, the value of the security is reduced and a corresponding 
charge to earnings is recognized for the credit related portion of the impairment. 

Our results of operations may be adversely affected by fair value declines in our investments in equity securities. 

The Company’s investment in marketable equity securities primarily consists of investments in large cap stock companies. Changes in 
fair value are recorded in unrealized gain/(losses) in non-interest income These equity securities are carried at fair value and are no 
longer analyzed for impairment on an ongoing basis beginning in 2018. QNB had 16 equity securities with unrealized losses of 
approximately $1,122,000 at December 31, 2020. The severity and duration of the fair value declines are consistent with current stock 
market developments. 

At December 31, 2020, the Bank had $1,029,000 in capital stock of the FHLB and $12,000 in capital stock of ACBB. These equity 
securities are restricted in that they can only be sold back to the respective institutions or another member institution at par. Therefore, 
they are less liquid than other tradable equity securities, their fair value is equal to amortized cost, and no impairment write-downs have 
been recorded on these securities. 

Our assets at December 31, 2020 included a deferred tax asset and we may not be able to realize the full benefit of that asset. 
As of December 31, 2020, QNB had a net deferred tax asset of $66,000. Our ability to realize these tax benefits ultimately depends on 
the existence of sufficient taxable income of the appropriate character (ordinary income or capital gains) within the applicable carryback 
and carryforward periods provided under the tax law. Estimating whether the deferred tax asset will be realized requires us to exercise 
significant judgment and is inherently uncertain because it requires the prediction of future occurrences. The deferred tax asset may be 
reduced in the future if estimates of future income, our tax planning strategies, or tax rate changes resulting from Federal tax reform do 
not support the amount of the deferred tax asset. If it is determined in the future that a valuation allowance of the deferred tax asset is 
necessary, we may incur a charge to earnings resulting and a reduction to regulatory capital for the amount included in any such 
allowance. 

A disruption in components of our business infrastructure resulting from financial or technological difficulties of our third- 
party vendors on which we rely could adversely affect our business. 

Third parties provide key components of our business infrastructure, such as Internet connections, software platforms and network 
access. Any disruption in Internet, network access or other voice or data communication services provided by these third parties or any 
failure of these third parties to handle current or higher volumes of use could adversely affect the ability to deliver products and services 
to clients and otherwise to conduct business.  Disruptions or failures in the business infrastructure or operating systems that support our 
business and customers, or cyber-attacks or security breaches of the networks, systems, or devices that our customers use to access our 
products and services, could damage our reputation, cause us to incur additional expenses, result in losses, or subject us to regulatory 
sanctions or additional regulatory scrutiny, any of which could adversely affect our results of operations or financial condition. 

Our failure to properly or timely utilize effective technologies to deliver our products and services, or a systems failure or breach 
of network security with respect to our information systems could adversely affect our business. 

The market for financial services is increasingly affected by advances in technology, including developments in telecommunications, 
data processing, computers, automation, Internet-based banking and mobile banking. Our ability to compete successfully in our markets 
may depend on the extent to which we are able to exploit such technological changes. However, we can provide no assurance that we 
will be able to properly or timely anticipate or implement such technologies or properly train our staff to use such technologies. Any 
failure to adapt to new technologies could adversely affect our business, financial condition or operating results. 
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In addition, we rely heavily on our information systems to conduct business. Maintaining and protecting those systems is difficult and 
expensive, as is dealing with any failure, interruption or breach in security of these systems, whether due to acts or omissions by us or 
by a third party and whether intentional or not. Any such failure, interruption or breach could result in failures or disruptions in our 
customer relationship management or our information systems. The policies, procedures and technical safeguards we have in place to 
prevent or limit the effect of any failure, interruption or security breach of our information systems may be insufficient to prevent or 
remedy the effects of any such event. Moreover, as cyber threats continue to evolve, we may be required to expend significant additional 
resources to modify or enhance our protective measures relating to information security.  The occurrence of any failures, interruptions 
or security breaches of our information systems could damage our reputation, cause us to incur additional expenses, result in losses, or 
subject us to regulatory sanctions or additional regulatory scrutiny, any of which could adversely affect our business, financial condition 
or operating results. 

Changes in accounting standards applicable to us could materially impact how we report our financial condition and results of 
operations.  

Our accounting policies and methods are fundamental to how we record and report our financial condition and results of operations. 
From time to time the FASB changes the financial accounting and reporting standards that govern the preparation of our financial 
statements. 

These changes can be hard to predict and can materially impact how we record and report our financial condition and results of 
operations. In some cases, we could be required to apply a new or revised standard retroactively, resulting in our restating prior period 
financial statements. Management believes the current financial statements are prepared in accordance with U.S. generally accepted 
accounting principles. 
 
A new accounting standard, which requires us to measure certain financial assets (including loans) using current expected 
credit losses (“CECL”) beginning in calendar year 2023, will likely result in material changes to our allowance for loan losses. 
 

Current U.S. GAAP requires an incurred loss methodology for recognizing credit losses that delays recognition until it is probable that 
a loss has been incurred as of the balance sheet date.  The Financial Accounting Standards Board has adopted a new accounting standard, 
effective for QNB beginning January 1, 2023, referred to as CECL.  The new accounting standard replaces the current loss methodology 
with a methodology that reflects current expected credit losses and requires consideration of a broader range of reasonableness and 
reportable information to determine credit loss estimates.  QNB is in the process of evaluating the impact of the adoption of the new 
accounting standard on QNB’s financial statements; however, it is expected that the allowance for loan losses will materially change 
upon the adoption of CECL.  Any increase in our allowance for loan losses may have a material adverse effect on our financial condition 
and results of operations.   
 
We operate in a highly regulated environment and are subject to examination and supervision by bank regulatory agencies, 
which could have an adverse impact on our operations or increase the cost of our operations.   
 
We operate in a highly regulated environment and are subject to extensive examination by the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve 
System, the FDIC, and the Pennsylvania Department of Banking and Securities.  The bank regulatory agencies exercise broad discretion 
in connection with their supervisory and enforcement activities. Federal and state banking laws and regulations are designed primarily 
to protect depositors, the deposit funds, and consumers, and not necessarily shareholders of a financial institution.  Banking regulations 
or the activities of bank regulatory agencies may, for example, limit a financial institution’s growth and potential shareholder returns by 
restricting certain activities such as the payment of dividends, expansion of branch offices, and acquisition activities.  
   
The significant laws and regulations that govern our activities are described under “Item 1 - Description of Business” in this Form 10-
K.  These laws and regulations, along with existing tax, accounting, securities, and monetary laws, regulations, standards, policies, and 
interpretations control the manner in which financial institutions conduct business.  Such laws, regulations, standards, policies, and 
interpretations are constantly evolving and may change significantly over time.  The potential exists for additional federal or state laws 
or regulations, or new policies or interpretations by regulatory agencies having jurisdiction over our activities, to affect many aspects of 
our operations, including capital requirements, lending and funding practices, and liquidity standards.  Additional laws, regulations or 
other regulatory requirements, or any substantial change in regulation and oversight, may have a material impact on our operations by 
increasing our cost of regulatory compliance and of doing business and otherwise affecting our operations, and may significantly affect 
the markets in which we do business, the markets for and value of our investments, the fees we charge and our ongoing operations, costs 
and profitability. 
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If we lose the availability of wholesale funding we may be unable to support interest-earning asset growth, which could adversely 
impact our operating results and liquidity. 
Management periodically uses wholesale funding sources to support loan demand and deposit withdrawals and to provide sufficient 
liquidity.  Wholesale funding primarily is made up of borrowings from the FHLB but may also include unsecured Federal funds from 
correspondent banks, Federal advances and wholesale certificates of deposit.  
If wholesale funding becomes unavailable, QNB may need to reduce interest-earning asset growth through production reduction, sale 
of assets, or participating out future and current loans; this could adversely impact future net income.  A termination or change in 
borrowings from the FHLB, the Federal Reserve or correspondent banks may have an adverse effect on our liquidity and operating 
results. 

Our disclosure controls and procedures and our internal control over financial reporting may not achieve their intended 
objectives. 
Management diligently reviews and updates its internal controls, disclosure controls and procedures, and corporate governance policies 
and procedures. Our disclosure controls and procedures are designed to reasonably assure that information required to be disclosed by 
QNB in reports filed or submitted under the Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated to management, and recorded, processed, 
summarized, and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms. Management believes that any disclosure 
controls and procedures or internal controls and procedures, no matter how well conceived and operated, can provide only reasonable, 
not absolute, assurance that the objectives of the control system are met. Any undetected circumvention of these controls could have a 
material adverse impact on QNB’s financial condition and results of operations. 

These inherent limitations include the realities that judgments in decision-making can be faulty, and that breakdowns can occur because 
of simple error or mistake. Additionally, controls can be circumvented by the individual acts of some persons, by collusion of two or 
more people or by an unauthorized override of the controls. Accordingly, because of the inherent limitations in our control system, 
misstatements due to error or fraud may occur and not be detected. 

We may not be able to attract and retain highly qualified personnel to execute our business strategy. 
Our success depends upon the ability to attract and retain highly motivated, well-qualified personnel. We face significant competition 
in the recruitment of qualified employees. Our ability to execute our business strategy and provide high-quality service may suffer if we 
are unable to recruit or retain a sufficient number of qualified employees or if the costs of employee compensation or benefits increase 
substantially. QNB currently has employment agreements and change of control agreements with five of its senior officers. 
 
Uncertainty relating to the expected phase-out of the London Interbank Offered Rate (“LIBOR”) in 2021 may adversely affect 
us. 
 
LIBOR has been used extensively in the United States as a reference rate for various financial contracts, including adjustable-rate loans, 
asset-backed securities, and interest rate swaps.  In 2017, the Chief Executive of the United Kingdom Financial Conduct Authority, 
which regulates LIBOR, announced that the FCA will not compel panel banks to submit rates for the calculation of LIBOR after 2021. 
The announcement means that the continuation of LIBOR on the current basis cannot be guaranteed after 2021.  At this time, no 
consensus exists as to what rate or rates may become acceptable alternatives to LIBOR, and it is impossible to predict the effect of any 
such alternatives on the value of LIBOR-based variable rate loans and other securities or financial arrangements, given LIBOR's current 
role in determining market interest rates globally.  The uncertainty as to the nature and effect of such reforms and actions relating to the 
discontinuance of LIBOR may adversely affect the value of and return on certain of our financial assets and liabilities that are based on 
or are linked to LIBOR, which may adversely affect the Company's results of operations or financial condition. In addition, LIBOR-
related reforms may also require changes to the agreements that govern these LIBOR-based products, as well as our internal systems 
and processes. 

Acts of terrorism and other external events, including natural disasters and epidemics, could impact our ability to conduct 
business. 
Financial institutions have been, and continue to be, targets of terrorist threats aimed at compromising operating and communication 
systems. Other external events, including natural disasters and epidemics could impact our business continuity.  Such events could cause 
significant damage, impact the stability of our facilities and result in additional expenses, impair the ability of our borrowers to repay 
their loans, and result in the loss of revenue. While we have established and regularly test disaster recovery procedures, the occurrence 
of any such event could have a material adverse effect on our business, operations and financial condition. 
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The continuing COVID-19 pandemic may adversely impact our business and financial results, and the ultimate impact will 
depend on future developments, which are highly uncertain and cannot be predicted, including the scope and duration of the 
pandemic and actions taken by governmental authorities in response to the pandemic. 
  
Since the beginning of January 2020, the coronavirus outbreak has disrupted global supply chains, lowered equity market valuations, 
created significant volatility and disruption in financial markets, increased unemployment levels, and decreased consumer confidence.   
Additionally, the COVID-19 pandemic has resulted in temporary closures of many businesses and the institution of social distancing 
and sheltering in place requirements in many states and communities, including in our primary market areas. As a result, the demand 
for our products and services may be significantly impacted, which could adversely affect our revenue.  This may result in a significant 
decrease in business and/or cause QNB’s customers to be unable to meet existing payment or other obligations to QNB, particularly in 
in QNB’s market area. The continuing COVID-19 pandemic could result in the recognition of credit losses in our loan portfolios and 
increases in our allowance for credit losses, particularly if businesses remain closed, the impact on the global economy worsens, or more 
customers draw on their lines of credit or seek additional loans to help finance their businesses. Similarly, because of changing economic 
and market conditions affecting bond issuers, we may be required to recognize impairments on the securities we hold as well as 
reductions in other comprehensive income. Although the Company maintains contingency plans for pandemic outbreaks, a spread of 
COVID-19, or an outbreak of another contagious disease, could also negatively impact the availability of key personnel of QNB 
necessary to conduct the business of QNB.  Our business operations may be further disrupted if significant portions of our workforce 
are unable to work effectively, including because of illness, quarantines, government actions, or other restrictions in connection with 
the pandemic.   Such a spread or outbreak could also negatively impact the business and operations of third-party service providers who 
perform critical services for QNB’s business.   Moreover, the pandemic has created additional operational and compliance risks, 
including the need to quickly implement and execute new programs and procedures for the products and services we offer our customers, 
provide enhanced safety measures for our employees and customers, comply with rapidly changing regulatory requirements, address 
any increased risk of fraudulent activity, and protect the integrity and functionality of our systems and networks as a larger number of 
our employees work remotely. The extent to which the COVID-19 pandemic impacts our business, results of operations, and financial 
condition, as well as our regulatory capital and liquidity ratios and our cost of capital, will depend on future developments, which are 
highly uncertain and cannot be predicted, including the scope and duration of the pandemic and actions taken by governmental 
authorities and other third parties in response to the pandemic. 
 
 
ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS 
None. 
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ITEM 2. PROPERTIES 
The principal office of both QNB Bank and QNB Corp. is located at 15 North Third Street, Quakertown, Pennsylvania. QNB Bank 
conducts business from its principal office and eleven other branch offices located in Bucks, Lehigh, and Montgomery Counties in 
Pennsylvania. QNB Bank owns its principal office, three branch locations, its administrative and operations facility and a computer 
facility. QNB Bank leases its remaining eight branch properties. The leases on the properties generally contain renewal options. In 
management’s opinion, these properties are in good condition and are currently adequate for QNB’s purposes. 

The following table details QNB Bank’s properties: 

Location 
 
  � Quakertown, PA – Downtown Branch (Principal Office) - 15 North Third Street Owned 

  � Quakertown, PA – Towne Bank Center - 320-322 West Broad Street        Owned 

  � Quakertown, PA – Computer Center - 121 West Broad Street       Owned 

  � Quakertown, PA – Country Square Branch - 240 South West End Boulevard       Leased 

  � Quakertown, PA – Quakertown Commons Branch - 901 South West End Boulevard       Leased 

  � Dublin, PA – Dublin Branch - 161 North Main Street       Leased 

  � Pennsburg, PA – Upper Perkiomen Valley Branch - 410 Pottstown Avenue       Leased 

  � Coopersburg, PA – Coopersburg Branch - 51 South Third Street       Owned 

  � Perkasie, PA – Perkasie Branch - 607 Chestnut Street       Owned 

  � Souderton, PA – Souderton Branch - 750 Route 113       Leased 

  � Wescosville, PA – Wescosville Branch - 950 Mill Creek Road       Leased 

  � Colmar, PA – Colmar Branch - 127 Bethlehem Pike       Owned 

  � Warminster, PA – Warminster Branch - 1402 West Street Road       Owned 

  � Allentown, PA – Allentown Branch - 535 N. 19th Street      Leased 
 

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS 
Although there are currently no material proceedings to which QNB is the subject, future litigation that arises during the normal course 
of QNB’s business could be material and have a negative impact on QNB’s earnings. Future litigation also could adversely impact the 
reputation of QNB in the communities that it serves. 

ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES 
None. 
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PART II 

 

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR THE REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND 
ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES 

Stock Information 

QNB common stock is quoted on the over-the-counter bulletin board (“OTCBB”). QNB had approximately 649 shareholders of record 
as of February 26, 2021. 

The following table sets forth the high and low bid and ask stock prices for QNB common stock on a quarterly basis during 2020 and 
2019. These prices reflect inter-dealer prices, without retail mark-up, mark-down or commission and may not necessarily represent 
actual transactions. 
 

                                    Cash   
    High     Low     dividend   
    Bid     Ask     Bid     Ask     per share   

2020                                
First Quarter   $ 38.60    $ 39.95    $ 27.00    $ 28.00    $ 0.34   
Second Quarter     30.00      35.00      28.00      28.49      0.34   
Third Quarter     28.80      30.00      26.60      27.30      0.34   
Fourth Quarter     32.10      33.88      27.20      33.88      0.34   
                                 
2019                                
First Quarter   $ 38.24    $ 39.00    $ 36.25    $ 37.00    $ 0.33   
Second Quarter     38.00      38.25      36.52      36.75      0.33   
Third Quarter     36.90      37.00      36.07      36.10      0.33   
Fourth Quarter     38.94      40.00      36.55      36.75      0.33   
 
QNB has traditionally paid quarterly cash dividends on the last Friday of each quarter. The Company expects to continue the practice 
of paying quarterly cash dividends to its shareholders; however, future dividends are dependent upon future earnings, financial condition, 
appropriate legal restrictions, and other factors relevant at the time the board of directors considers declaring a dividend. Certain laws 
restrict the amount of dividends that may be paid to shareholders in any given year. See “Shareholders’ Equity - Capital Adequacy” 
included in Item 7 of this Form 10-K filing and Note 20 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in Item 8 of this 
Form 10-K filing, for additional information that discusses and quantifies this regulatory restriction. 

The following table provides information on repurchases by QNB of its common stock in each month of the quarter ended December 31, 
2020. 
 

Period   
Total Number of 
Shares Purchased     

Average Price 
Paid per Share     

Total Number of 
Shares 

Purchased as 
Part of Publicly 

Announced 
Plan     

Maximum 
Number of 
Shares that 
may yet be 
Purchased 

Under the Plan   
October 1, 2020 through October 31, 2020     —       —       —       42,117  
November 1, 2020 through November 30, 2020     1,100     $ 31.74       1,100       41,017  
December 1, 2020 through December 31, 2020     3,000       31.76       3,000       38,017  
Total     4,100     $ 31.75       4,100       38,017   

 
(1) Transactions are reported as of settlement dates. 
(2) QNB’s current stock repurchase plan was approved by its Board of Directors and announced on January 24, 2008 and subsequently 

increased on February 9, 2009.  
(3) The total number of shares approved for repurchase under QNB’s current stock repurchase plan is 100,000 as of the filing of this 

Form 10-K. 
(4) QNB’s current stock repurchase plan has no expiration date. 
(5) QNB has no stock repurchase plan that it has determined to terminate or under which it does not intend to make further purchases. 
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Stock Performance Graph 

Set forth below is a performance graph comparing the yearly cumulative total shareholder return on QNB’s common stock with: 

� the yearly cumulative total shareholder return on stocks included in the NASDAQ Market Index, a broad market index; 
� the yearly cumulative total shareholder return on the SNL $1B to $5B Bank Index, a group encompassing publicly traded 

banking companies trading on the NYSE, AMEX, or NASDAQ with assets between $1B and $1.5B; 
� the yearly cumulative total shareholder return on the SNL Mid-Atlantic Bank Index, a group encompassing publicly traded 

banking companies trading on the NYSE, AMEX, or NASDAQ headquartered in Delaware, District of Columbia, 
Maryland, New Jersey, New York, Pennsylvania, and Puerto Rico; and 

� the yearly cumulative total shareholder return on the SNL Bank Pink Index >$500M, a group of publicly traded banking 
companies with assets greater than $500 million trading on over-the-counter bulletin board. 

 
All of these cumulative total returns are computed assuming the reinvestment of dividends at the frequency with which dividends were 
paid during the applicable years. 
 

 
 
    Period Ending   
Index   12/31/15     12/31/16     12/31/17     12/31/18     12/31/19     12/31/20   
QNB Corp.     100.00       117.85       151.83      134.36      139.70      121.28   
NASDAQ Composite Index     100.00       108.87       141.13      137.12      187.44      271.64   
SNL Bank $1B-$5B Index     100.00       143.87       153.37      134.37      163.35      138.81   
SNL Mid-Atlantic Bank Index     100.00       127.10       155.78      133.10      189.29      168.47   
SNL Bank Pink > $500M Index     100.00       116.60       145.63      153.61      167.43      148.33   
 

Source: S&P Global Markets Intelligence © 2020 
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ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA (in thousands, except share and per share data) 
 
Year ended December 31,   2020     2019     2018     2017     2016   
Income and expense                                
Interest income   $ 43,693    $ 46,418    $ 43,200    $ 38,102    $ 33,237   
Interest expense     6,445      10,124      8,185      5,680      4,733   
Net interest income     37,248      36,294      35,015      32,422      28,504   
Provision for loan losses     1,250      1,300      1,130      1,400      30   
Non-interest income     7,602      8,317      4,892      6,887      5,667   
Non-interest expense     28,955      28,104      25,885      23,720      22,163   
Income before income taxes     14,645      15,207      12,892      14,189      11,978   
Provision for income taxes     2,562      2,850      1,557      5,900      3,054   
Net income   $ 12,083    $ 12,357    $ 11,335    $ 8,289    $ 8,924   
                                 
Share and Per Share Data                                
Net income - basic   $ 3.42    $ 3.53    $ 3.27    $ 2.42    $ 2.64   
Net income - diluted     3.42      3.53      3.25      2.41      2.63   
Book value     37.80      34.30      29.95      28.59      27.43   
Cash dividends     1.36      1.32      1.28      1.24      1.20   
Average common shares outstanding - basic     3,537,323      3,498,326      3,463,450      3,428,970      3,386,766   
Average common shares outstanding - diluted     3,537,360      3,504,150      3,482,509      3,445,811      3,395,839   
                                 
Balance Sheet at Year-end                                
Investment securities                                

Trading   $ —    $ —    $ —    $ —    $ 3,596   
Available-for-sale debt     435,646      349,710      344,221      374,570      381,972   
Equity     12,849      9,164      9,421      4,975      8,503   

Restricted investment in bank stocks     1,041      1,073      797      1,501      1,017   
Loans held-for-sale     6,570      977      —      —      789   
Loans receivable     920,042      820,616      785,448      733,283      633,079   
Allowance for loan losses     (10,826 )    (9,887 )    (8,834 )    (7,841 )    (7,394 ) 
Other earning assets     25,909      5,210      570      5,538      1,824   
Total assets     1,440,229      1,225,023      1,175,452      1,152,337      1,063,141   
Deposits     1,228,067      1,037,860      1,015,598      993,948      913,355   
Borrowed funds     58,838      55,931      50,872      55,756      52,660   
Shareholders' equity     134,445      120,717      104,348      98,570      93,567   
                                 
Selected Financial Ratios                                
Net interest margin     2.92 %    3.16 %    3.13 %    3.14 %    3.03 % 
Net income as a percentage of:                                

Average total assets     0.90      1.02      0.96      0.74      0.87   
Average shareholders' equity     9.76      10.58      10.47      8.17      9.45   

Average shareholders' equity to average total assets     9.21      9.63      9.20      9.09      9.16   
Dividend payout ratio     39.82      37.39      39.12      51.31      45.56   
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF 
OPERATIONS 
Results of Operations – Overview 
QNB Corp. (“QNB” or the “Company”) earns its net income primarily through its subsidiary, QNB Bank (the “Bank”). Net interest 
income, or the spread between the interest, dividends and fees earned on loans and investment securities and the expense incurred on 
deposits and other interest-bearing liabilities, is the primary source of operating income for QNB. QNB seeks to achieve sustainable and 
consistent earnings growth while maintaining adequate levels of capital and liquidity and limiting its exposure to credit and interest rate 
risk levels approved by the Board of Directors. Due to its limited geographic area, comprised principally of Bucks, Lehigh and 
Montgomery counties, growth is pursued through expansion of existing customer relationships and building new relationships by 
stressing a consistent high level of service at all points of contact. 

Tabular information presented throughout management’s discussion and analysis, other than share and per share data, is presented in 
thousands of dollars. 

Net income for the year ended December 31, 2020 was $12,083,000, or $3.42 per share on a diluted basis. This compares to 2019 net 
income of $12,357,000, or $3.53 per share on a diluted basis and 2018 net income of $11,335,000, or $3.25 per share on a diluted basis. 
Two important measures of profitability in the banking industry are an institution’s return on average assets and return on average 
shareholders’ equity.  Return on average assets was 0.90%, 1.02% and 0.96% in 2020, 2019, and 2018, respectively, and return on 
average shareholders’ equity was 9.76%, 10.58% and 10.47%, respectively, during those same periods. 

The Bank contributed $11,753,000 to net income for the year ended December 31, 2020 compared to $10,648,000 for the same period 
in 2019; whereas the holding company contributed $330,000 to net income for the year ended December 31, 2020 compared to  
$1,709,000 for the same period in 2019.  The decrease at the holding company resulted primarily from a decrease in gains on sales of 
equity securities and a decrease in the fair value of the equity portfolio during 2020. 
 

2020 versus 2019 
 
The results for 2020 include the following significant components: 

� Net interest income increased $954,000, or 2.6%, to $37,248,000 for 2020. 
 

� The net interest margin on a tax-equivalent basis decreased 24 basis points to 2.92% for 2020 from 3.16% for 2019. 
 

� Provision for loan losses totaled $1,250,000 for 2020, compared with $1,300,000 for 2019. 
 

� Non-interest income for 2020 was $7,602,000, a decrease of $715,000, or 8.6%, compared with 2019. Non-interest expense 
for 2020 was $28,955,000, an increase of $851,000, or 3.0%, compared with 2019. 

 
� Provision for income taxes decreased $288,000.     

 
� Loans receivable grew $99,426,000, or 12.1%, from December 31, 2019. Deposits increased $190,207,000, or 18.3%, from 

December 31, 2019.      
 

� Total non-performing loans, which represent loans on non-accrual status, loans past due 90 days or more and still accruing 
interest, and restructured loans, were $14,109,000, or 1.53% of total loans receivable at December 31, 2020, compared with 
$16,464,000, or 2.01% at December 31, 2019.  Loans on non-accrual status were $9,640,000 at December 31, 2020 
compared with $11,704,000 at December 31, 2019.  Net charge-offs for 2020 were $311,000, or 0.04% of average total 
loans, as compared with $247,000, or 0.03% of average total loans for 2019. 

 

2019 versus 2018 
 
The results for 2019 include the following significant components: 

� Net interest income increased $1,279,000, or 3.7%, to $36,294,000 for 2019. 
 

� The net interest margin on a tax-equivalent basis increased three basis points to 3.16% for 2019 from 3.13% for 2018. 
 

� Provision for loan losses totaled $1,300,000 for 2019, compared with $1,130,000 for 2018. 
 

� Non-interest income for 2019 was $8,317,000, an increase of $3,425,000, or 70.0%, compared with 2018. Non-interest 
expense for 2019 was $28,104,000, an increase of $2,219,000, or 8.6%, compared with 2018. 

 
� Provision for income taxes increased $1,293,000.  The 2018 provision for income taxes included a $415,000 benefit 

resulting from method changes to the bad debt conformity election and for deferred loan origination costs on the 2017 
returns, realizing the benefit at the higher Federal corporate tax of 34%.   

 
� Loans receivable grew $35,168,000, or 4.5%, from December 31, 2018. Deposits increased $22,262,000, or 2.2%, from 

December 31, 2018.      
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� Total non-performing loans were $16,464,000, or 2.01% of total loans at December 31, 2019, compared with $9,638,000, 
or 1.23% of total loans at December 31, 2018.  Loans on non-accrual status were $11,704,000 at December 31, 2019 
compared with $7,478,000 at December 31, 2018.  Net charge-offs for 2019 were $247,000, or 0.03% of average total loans, 
as compared with $137,000, or 0.02% of average total loans for 2018.  

These items, as well as others, will be explained more thoroughly in the next sections. 

Net Interest Income 
The following table presents the adjustment to convert net interest income to net interest income on a fully taxable equivalent basis for 
the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019, and 2018. 
 

Year ended December 31,   2020     2019     2018   
Total interest income   $ 43,693    $ 46,418    $ 43,200   
Total interest expense     6,445      10,124      8,185   
Net interest income     37,248      36,294      35,015   
Tax-equivalent adjustment     691      780      818   
Net interest income (tax-equivalent basis)   $ 37,939    $ 37,074    $ 35,833   

 

Net interest income is the primary source of operating income for QNB. Net interest income is interest income, dividends, and fees on 
earning assets, less interest expense incurred for funding sources. Earning assets primarily include loans, investment securities and 
interest-bearing balances at the Federal Reserve Bank (Fed). Sources used to fund these assets include deposits and borrowed funds. Net 
interest income is affected by changes in interest rates, the volume and mix of earning assets and interest-bearing liabilities, and the 
amount of earning assets funded by non-interest-bearing deposits. 
 
For purposes of this discussion, interest income and the average yield earned on loans and investment securities are adjusted to a tax-
equivalent basis as detailed in the table that appears above. This adjustment to interest income is made for analysis purposes only. 
Interest income is increased by the amount of savings of Federal income taxes, which QNB realizes by investing in certain tax-exempt 
state and municipal securities and by making loans to certain tax-exempt organizations. In this way, the ultimate economic impact of 
earnings from various assets can be more easily compared. 
 
The net interest rate spread is the difference between average rates received on earning assets and average rates paid on interest-bearing 
liabilities, while the net interest margin, which includes interest-free sources of funds, is net interest income expressed as a percentage 
of average interest-earning assets. The Asset/Liability and Investment Management Committee works to manage and maximize the net 
interest margin for the Company. 

2020 versus 2019 
On a tax-equivalent basis, net interest income for 2020 increased $865,000, or 2.3%, to $37,939,000. The net interest margin, which 
decreased 24 basis points to 2.92% was unfavorably impacted by decreased rates on loans.  The average rate earned on earning assets 
decreased 60 basis points from 4.02% for 2019 to 3.42% for 2020 with the yield on loans decreasing 53 basis points, favorably impacted 
by a $48,161,000 increase in average commercial and industrial loans partially offset by an 123 basis point decrease in the related yield 
and a $9,475,000 increase in average residential real estate loans partially offset by a 19 basis point decrease in yield, and unfavorably 
impacted by a 36 basis point decrease in the yield partially offset by a $21,719,000 increase in average commercial real estate loans.  
The yield on investment securities declined 45 basis points to 1.92%. In comparison, the interest rate paid on total average interest-
bearing liabilities decreased 44 basis points from 1.07% for 2019 to 0.63% for 2020 with the average rate paid on interest-bearing 
deposits increasing from 1.06% to 0.63% for the same time periods, respectively, partially offset by a $75,213,000 increase in average 
interest-bearing deposits. 

Market disruption caused by local bank consolidation positively impacted both loan and deposit growth which was partially offset by 
the competitive local interest rate market for quality loans and deposits.  Net interest spread decreased 16 basis points to 2.79% for 2020 
compared to 2.95% for 2019.  Average earning assets increased by $122,532,000, or 10.4%, to $1,297,151,000 for 2020, with average 
loans increasing $60,465,000, or 7.5%, to $871,991,000. The growth in loans and investment securities was funded by a $120,038,000, 
or 11.6%, increase in average total deposits. 

2019 versus 2018 
On a tax-equivalent basis, net interest income for 2019 increased $1,241,000, or 3.5%, to $37,074,000. The net interest margin, which 
increased three basis points to 3.16% was favorably impacted by increased rates on loans.  The average rate earned on earning assets 
increased 17 basis points from 3.85% for 2018 to 4.02% for 2019 with the yield on loans increasing 16 basis points, favorably impacted 
by a $32,443,000 increase in average commercial real estate loans and an 16 basis point increase in the related yield, a $5,290,000 
increase in average residential real estate loans and a 12 basis point increase in yield, and a $2,447,000 increase in average commercial 
and industrial loans and a 15 basis point increase in the related yield.  The yield on investment securities increased to 2.37%. In 
comparison, the interest rate paid on total average interest-bearing liabilities increased 19 basis points from 0.88% for 2018 to 1.07% 
for 2019 with the average rate paid on interest-bearing deposits increasing from 0.86% to 1.06% for the same time periods, respectively, 
and a $15,780,000 increase in average interest-bearing deposits. 
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Average Balances, Rates, and Interest Income and Expense Summary (Tax-Equivalent Basis) 
 

   2020   2019   2018  
   Average    Average          Average    Average          Average    Average         
   balance    rate    Interest   balance    rate    Interest   balance    rate    Interest  

Assets                                                   
Investment securities (AFS &  
Equities):                                                   

U.S. Treasury  $ —      0.00 %  $ —   $ 2,185     208.00 %  $ 46   $ —      0.00 %  $ —  
U.S. Government agencies    64,517      1.38      891     69,742     1.81      1,261     72,255      1.79      1,295  
State and municipal    65,824      3.08      2,027     54,632     3.54      1,936     71,048      3.29      2,335  
Mortgage-backed and CMOs    242,039      1.61      3,908     216,638     2.18      4,715     213,356      2.14      4,565  
Pooled trust preferred    85      3.14      3     105     4.80      4     150      4.35      6  
Corporate debt    7,365      3.69      272     8,018     3.74      300     6,258      2.39      150  
Equities    11,076      3.54      392     8,286     3.31      274     9,736      3.08      300  

Total investment securities 
   (AFS & Equities)    390,906      1.92      7,493     359,606     2.37      8,536     372,803      2.32      8,651  

Loans:                                                   
Commercial real estate    486,231      4.46      21,662     464,512     4.82      22,393     432,069      4.66      20,135  
Residential real estate    77,077      3.79      2,922     67,602     3.98      2,688     62,312      3.86      2,402  
Home equity loans    61,493      3.79      2,328     67,638     4.67      3,158     67,376      4.44      2,989  
Commercial and industrial    205,566      4.02      8,273     157,405     5.25      8,269     154,958      5.10      7,901  
Consumer loans    5,959      5.28      314     6,800     6.01      409     7,017      5.99      420  
Tax-exempt loans    35,665      3.57      1,274     47,569     3.38      1,609     43,012      3.22      1,384  

Total loans, net of unearned 
   income*    871,991      4.22      36,773     811,526     4.75      38,526     766,744      4.59      35,231  

Other earning assets    34,254      0.34      118     3,487     3.90      136     3,959      3.45      136  
Total earning assets    1,297,151      3.42      44,384     1,174,619     4.02      47,198     1,143,506      3.85      44,018  

Cash and due from banks    19,654                 13,275                12,557              
Allowance for loan losses    (10,443 )               (9,216 )              (8,287 )            
Other assets    37,622                 33,362                29,134              

Total assets  $ 1,343,984               $ 1,212,040              $ 1,176,910              
                                                    
Liabilities and Shareholders' Equity                                                   
Interest-bearing deposits:                                                   

Interest-bearing demand  $ 252,050      0.26 %  $ 668   $ 212,415     0.47 %  $ 990   $ 194,372      0.35 %  $ 689  
Municipals    119,673      0.57      679     112,539     1.80      2,023     106,411      1.44      1,537  
Money market    90,989      0.45      405     90,150     0.90      815     77,713      0.42      329  
Savings    288,285      0.40      1,155     242,859     0.66      1,605     266,946      0.62      1,657  
Time    113,647      1.41      1,599     120,980     1.58      1,908     121,021      1.30      1,578  
Time of $100,000 or more    98,870      1.57      1,556     109,358     1.90      2,083     106,058      1.62      1,723  

Total interest-bearing deposits    963,514      0.63      6,062     888,301     1.06      9,424     872,521      0.86      7,513  
Short-term borrowings    51,745      0.48      247     56,980     1.23      700     60,939      1.10      672  
Long-term debt    8,566      1.57      136     —     0.00      —     —      0.00      —  

Total interest-bearing liabilities    1,023,825      0.63      6,445     945,281     1.07      10,124     933,460      0.88      8,185  
Non-interest-bearing deposits    186,897                 142,072                130,633              
Other liabilities    9,472                 7,916                4,576              
Shareholders' equity    123,790                 116,771                108,241              

Total liabilities and 
shareholders' equity  $ 1,343,984               $ 1,212,040              $ 1,176,910              

Net interest rate spread          2.79 %              2.95 %               2.97 %      
Margin/net interest income          2.92 %  $ 37,939          3.16 %  $ 37,074           3.13 %  $ 35,833   
Tax-exempt securities and loans were adjusted to a tax-equivalent basis and are based on the marginal Federal corporate tax rate of 21 
percent.  Non-accrual loans and investment securities are included in earning assets. 

* Includes loans held-for-sale 
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Rate-Volume Analysis of Changes in Net Interest Income (1) (2) (3) 
 

    2020 vs. 2019     2019 vs. 2018   
    Due to change in:     Total     Due to change in:     Total   
    Volume     Rate     Change     Volume     Rate     Change   

Interest income:                                      
Investment securities (AFS & Equities):                                      

U.S. Treasury   $ (46 )  $ —    $ (46 )  $ 1    $ 45    $ 46   
U.S. Government agencies     (94 )    (276 )    (370 )    (46 )    12      (34 ) 
State and municipal     396      (305 )    91      (539 )    140      (399 ) 
Mortgage-backed and CMOs     553      (1,360 )    (807 )    70      80      150   
Pooled trust preferred     —      (1 )    (1 )    (2 )    —      (2 ) 
Corporate debt     (24 )    (4 )    (28 )    42      108      150   
Equities     93      25      118      (45 )    19      (26 ) 

Total investment securities (AFS & Equities)     878      (1,921 )    (1,043 )    (519 )    404      (115 ) 
Loans:                                      

Commercial real estate     1,047      (1,778 )    (731 )    1,512      746      2,258   
Residential real estate     377      (143 )    234      204      82      286   
Home equity loans     (286 )    (544 )    (830 )    12      157      169   
Commercial and industrial     2,531      (2,527 )    4      124      244      368   
Consumer loans     (51 )    (44 )    (95 )    (12 )    1      (11 ) 
Tax-exempt loans     (402 )    67      (335 )    147      78      225   

Total loans     3,216      (4,969 )    (1,753 )    1,987      1,308      3,295   
Other earning assets     1,199      (1,217 )    (18 )    (16 )    16      —   

Total interest income     5,293      (8,107 )    (2,814 )    1,452      1,728      3,180   
Interest expense:                                      
Interest-bearing demand     185      (507 )    (322 )    64      237      301   
Municipals     128      (1,472 )    (1,344 )    88      398      486   
Money market     8      (418 )    (410 )    52      434      486   
Savings     301      (751 )    (450 )    (150 )    98      (52 ) 
Time     (115 )    (194 )    (309 )    (1 )    331      330   
Time of $100,000 or more     (200 )    (327 )    (527 )    54      306      360   

Total interest-bearing deposits     307      (3,669 )    (3,362 )    107      1,804      1,911   
Short-term borrowings     (65 )    (388 )    (453 )    (43 )    71      28   
Long-term debt     —      136      136      —      —      —   

Total interest expense     242      (3,921 )    (3,679 )    64      1,875      1,939   
Net interest income   $ 5,051    $ (4,186 )  $ 865    $ 1,388    $ (147 )  $ 1,241   
 
(1) Loan fees have been included in the change in interest income totals presented. Non-accrual loans and investment securities have 

been included in average balances. 
(2) Changes due to both volume and rates have been allocated in proportion to the relationship of the dollar amount change in each. 
(3) Interest income on loans and securities is presented on a tax-equivalent basis. 

The Rate-Volume Analysis tables, as presented on a tax-equivalent basis, highlight the impact of changing rates and volumes on interest 
income and interest expense. Total interest income on a tax-equivalent basis decreased $2,814,000 to $44,384,000 for 2020, while total 
interest expense decreased $3,679,000 to $6,445,000. Volume growth in earning assets contributed an additional $5,293,000 of interest 
income and interest rate decreases contributed to a reduction in interest income of $8,107,000. Rate-related interest expense decreased 
$3,921,000, while volume-related interest expense increased $242,000.  

Investments 
2020 versus 2019 
Interest income on available-for-sale and equity investment securities decreased $1,043,000 when comparing the two years. The increase 
in average balances contributed an additional $878,000 to interest income but was offset by $1,921,000 due to the 45-basis point decrease 
in rates. The average yield on the available-for-sale and equity investment portfolio decreased to 1.92% for 2020 compared to 2.37% 
for 2019.  
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Income on U.S. Government agency securities decreased $370,000, due to a decrease in average balances totaling $5,225,000 and a 43-
basis point decrease in the yield from 1.81% for 2019 to 1.38% for 2020.  Most of the bonds in the agency portfolio have call features 
ranging from three months to three years, many of which were exercised during 2020 as a result of the declining rates during the year. 

Interest income on tax-exempt municipal securities increased $91,000.  Average balances, which increased $11,192,000, contributed 
$396,000 to interest income. The decrease in yield of 46 basis points from 3.54% in 2019 to 3.08% in 2020 partially offset the increase 
in interest income by $305,000. Many of these bonds have either reached maturity or their call dates and are being replaced with 
municipal bonds with less favorable tax-equivalent yields. Typically, QNB purchased municipal bonds with 10- to 15-year maturities 
with call dates between 2 and 5 years.   Future demand for tax-exempt municipal securities is uncertain, as the tax-equivalent yield could 
be less favorable compared to other securities with similar risk-based capital asset-weighting characteristics.   

All the mortgage-backed and collateralized mortgage obligations (“CMO”) securities owned by QNB are issued by U.S. Government 
agencies and sponsored enterprises (“GSE”) and carry the implicit backing of the U.S. Government, but they are not direct obligations 
of the U.S. Government. Interest income on mortgage-backed securities and CMOs decreased $807,000 due to 57-basis point decrease 
in rate from 2.18% for 2019 to 1.61% for 2020 partially offset by an increase of $25,401,000, or 11.7%, in average balances. This 
portfolio generally provides higher yields relative to agency bonds and provides monthly cash flow which can be used for liquidity 
purposes or can be reinvested as interest rates increase.  

Income on corporate debt securities decreased $28,000 due to a decrease in average balances of $653,000 and a decrease in yield from 
3.74% for 2019 to 3.69% for 2020.   

Dividend income on equities increased $118,000 due to an increase in average balances of $2,790,000 and an increase in yield of 23 
basis points. 
 
2019 versus 2018 
Interest income on available-for-sale and equity investment securities decreased $115,000 when comparing the two years. The decrease 
in average balances contributed to $519,000 of the decrease, partially offset by $404,000 due to the increase in rates. The average yield 
on the available-for-sale and equity investment portfolio increased slightly to 2.37% for 2019 compared to 2.32% for 2018. The decrease 
in the investment portfolio is due to funding needs to support loan growth. 

Income on U.S. Government agency securities decreased $34,000, due to a decrease in average balances totaling $2,513,000, which was 
partially offset by an increase in the yield on the portfolio of two basis points from 1.79% for 2018 to 1.81% for 2019.  Most of the 
bonds in the agency portfolio have call features ranging from three months to three years, many of which were not exercised during 
2019 as a result of the rising rates during the year. 

Interest income on tax-exempt municipal securities decreased $399,000.  Average balances, which decreased $16,416,000, contributed 
$539,000 to the interest income decline. The increase in yield of 25 basis points from 3.29% in 2018 to 3.54% in 2019 partially offset 
the decrease in interest income by $140,000. 

Interest income on mortgage-backed securities and CMOs increased $150,000 due to both an increase of $3,282,000, or 1.5%, in average 
balances and an increase in yield of four basis points from 2.14% for 2018 to 2.18% for 2019.  

Income on corporate debt securities increased $150,000 due to an increase in average balances of $1,760,000 and an increase in yield 
from 2.39% for 2018 to 3.74% for 2019.   

Loans 
2020 versus 2019 
The largest category of the loan portfolio is commercial real estate loans. This category of loans includes commercial purpose loans 
secured by either commercial properties such as office buildings, hotels, factories, warehouses, medical facilities and retail 
establishments, or residential real estate, usually the residence of the business owner or investment properties. The category also includes 
construction and land development loans. Income on commercial real estate loans decreased $731,000. The increase in average balances 
of $21,719,000, or 4.7%, contributed an increase in interest income of $1,047,000; this was offset by the 36-basis point decrease in 
yield, from 4.82% in 2019 to 4.46% in 2020 resulted in a decrease of interest income of $1,778,000. 
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Income on commercial and industrial loans, the second largest category, increased $4,000 with the positive impact from an increase in 
average balances. Average commercial and industrial loans increased $48,161,000, or 30.6%, to $205,566,000 for 2020, resulting in a 
$2,531,000 increase in interest income.  Average yield on these loans decreased 123 basis points to 4.02% causing a decrease of 
$2,527,000 in interest income. Many of the loans in this category are indexed to the prime interest rate, which decreased 25 basis points 
in August 2019 with an additional decrease of 25 basis points in September 2019, 25 basis points in October and a total of 150 basis 
points in March 2020.   Included in this category are the PPP loans which contributed $53,374,000 of the net volume increase.  The PPP 
loans yield one percent to the customer, however QNB received origination fees from the SBA ranging from one to five basis points, 
resulting in a yield of approximately 3.36% for 2020.   The PPP loans contributed 24 basis points to the decline in the average yield.   

Tax-exempt loan income decreased $335,000 from $1,609,000 in 2019. When comparing the same periods, average balances decreased 
$11,904,000 to $35,665,000, which contributed a $402,000 decrease in interest income.  The average yield on the tax-exempt loan 
portfolio increased from 3.38% for 2019 to 3.57% for 2020, resulting in an increase in interest income of $67,000. The decrease in 
volume during 2020 was a result of municipal loans being refinanced as bonds. 

QNB strives to become the “local consumer lender of choice”, and to affect this goal, QNB has refocused its retail lending efforts by 
strengthening the management of the area, adding new product offerings and by increasing marketing and promotion. The positive 
impact of this renewed focus has been year-over-year growth in balances in residential mortgages. Overall, interest income for retail 
lending decreased $691,000 in 2020 compared with 2019, driven by the 62-basis point decrease in yield.   

Given the low yields on alternative investment securities, QNB retained certain fixed rate and hybrid adjustable rate mortgages to 
borrowers with high credit scores and low loan-to-value ratios. As a result, average residential mortgage loans secured by first lien 1-4 
family residential mortgages increased by $9,475,000, or 14.0%, to $77,077,000 for 2020. The average yield on the residential real 
estate portfolio decreased 19 basis points to 3.79% for 2020 compared to 3.98% for 2019. Overall, interest income for this segment grew 
$234,000 in 2020. 

Income on home equity loans decreased by $830,000 when comparing 2020 and 2019.  During 2020 and 2019, QNB offered attractive 
rates on both variable rate and fixed rate home equity loans.  Mortgage rates dropped during 2020 resulting in the refinancing home-
equity lines into longer-term mortgages, this contributed to the decrease in average balances of $6,145,000, or 9.1%, to $61,493,000 
when comparing 2020 and 2019. The yield on the home equity portfolio decreased 88 basis points to 3.79% when comparing the two 
years. The home values have recovered; therefore, we expect that the demand for home equity loans will continue. 

Interest income on consumer loans decreased $95,000.  Consumer loans at QNB experienced a decline in average balances in 2020, 
which decreased $841,000, or12.4%, led by a decline in student loans. Student loan balances are no longer insured, and QNB ceased 
funding originations through its third-party provider during the second half of 2018; average balances decreased $544,000 and interest 
income decreased $69,000 when comparing 2020 and 2019.   

2019 versus 2018 

Income on commercial real estate loans increased $2,258,000. The increase in average balances of $32,443,000, or 7.5%, contributed 
an increase in interest income of $1,512,000. The 16-basis point increase in yield, from 4.66% in 2018 to 4.82% in 2019 resulted in an 
increase of interest income of $746,000. 

Income on commercial and industrial loans increased $368,000 with the positive impact from an increase in yield and average balances. 
Average commercial and industrial loans increased $2,447,000, or 1.6%, to $157,405,000 for 2019, resulting in a $124,000 increase in 
interest income.  Average yield on these loans increased 15 basis points to 5.25% providing an additional $244,000 in interest income.   

Tax-exempt loan income increased $225,000 from 2018. When comparing the same periods, average balances increased $4,557,000 to 
$47,569,000, which contributed a $147,000 increase in interest income.  The average yield on the tax-exempt loan portfolio increased 
from 3.22% for 2018 to 3.38% for 2019, resulting in an increase in interest income of $78,000. 

Interest income for retail lending interest income for retail lending increased $444,000 in 2019 compared with 2018, driven by the 
increase in average balances and average rate increases on residential and home equity loans. 

Average residential mortgage loans secured by first lien 1-4 family residential mortgages increased by $5,290,000, or 8.5%, to 
$67,602,000 for 2019. The average yield on the residential real estate portfolio increased 12 basis points to 3.98% for 2019 compared 
to 3.86% for 2018. Overall, interest income for this segment grew $286,000 in 2019. 
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Income on home equity loans increased by $169,000 when comparing 2019 and 2018. Average balances increased $262,000, or 0.4%, 
to $67,638,000 when comparing 2019 and 2018. The yield on the home equity portfolio increased 23 basis points to 4.67% when 
comparing the two years. 

Interest income on consumer loans decreased $11,000. Average balances in this segment decreased $217,000, or 3.1%, led by a decline 
in student loans. Student loan average balances decreased $362,000 and interest income decreased $17,000 when comparing 2019 and 
2018.  This decrease was partially offset by an increase in consumer installment loans. 

Deposits and Borrowings 
2020 versus 2019 
Earning assets are funded primarily by deposits, which increased on average by $120,038,000, or 11.6%, to $1,150,411,000, when 
comparing 2020 and 2019. Total interest expense for 2020 was $6,455,000 compared with $10,124,000 for 2019, a decrease of 
$3,679,000. Interest expense on total deposits decreased $3,362,000 and interest expense on borrowed funds decreased $317,000 when 
comparing the two years. The rate paid on interest-bearing deposits decreased 43 basis points; the rate paid on borrowings decreased 59 
basis points, when comparing the two periods. Deposit and borrowing costs are expected to increase as the competition for deposits 
increases when rates rise 

Consistent with the past several years, the growth in deposits during 2020 was centered in accounts with greater liquidity. Average non-
interest-bearing demand accounts increased $44,825,000, or 31.6%, to $186,897,000 for 2020; QNB has been successful in increasing 
both personal and business checking accounts. Average interest-bearing demand accounts increased $39,635,000, or 18.7%, to 
$252,050,000 for 2020 compared with 2019, with interest expense on interest-bearing demand accounts decreasing $322,000 to 
$668,000 for 2020. The average rate paid decreased 21 basis points to 0.26% for 2020 compared to 0.47% for 2019. Interest-bearing 
business checking account average balances increased by $10,689,000, or 24.3%, and related interest expense decreased $265,000, or 
72 basis points in yield, when comparing the two years.  This was primarily due to initial proceeds from PPP loans being held by 
customers at the Bank.  Also included in this category is QNB-Rewards checking, a tiered-rate checking account product. In order to 
receive the high rate a customer must receive an electronic statement, have one direct deposit or other ACH transaction and have at least 
12 debit card purchase transactions post and clear per statement cycle. If these qualifications are not met, the rate paid for 2020 was 
0.20%.  For 2020, the average balance in this product was $74,447,000 and the related interest expense was $325,000 for an average 
cost of funds of 0.44%. In comparison, the average balance in this product was $59,490,000 and the related interest expense was 
$392,000 for an average cost of funds of 0.66%. The rates paid on the QNB-Rewards product, assuming qualifications are met, is 
attractive relative to competitors’ offerings as well as other QNB products. This product also generates fee income through the use of 
the debit card.  The average balance of other interest-bearing demand accounts included in this category increased from $108,872,000 
for 2019 to $122,861,000 for 2020. The average rate paid on these balances was 0.05% for both years. 

Average money market accounts increased $839,000, or 0.9%, to $90,989,000 for 2020 compared with 2019. Interest expense on money 
market accounts decreased $410,000 to $405,000 for 2020 compared with 2019. The average interest rate paid on money market 
accounts was 0.45% for 2020, a decrease of 45 basis points compared with 2019. The balances in this category primarily comprise 
Select money market accounts, a product that pays a tiered rate based on account balances. The balances remaining in these accounts 
for 2020 were primarily at higher-yielding tiers. 

Interest expense on municipal interest-bearing demand accounts decreased $1,344,000 to $679,000 for 2020. The average balance of 
municipal interest-bearing demand accounts increased $7,134,000, or 6.3%, to $119,673,000 and the average interest rate paid on these 
accounts decreased 123 basis points to 0.57% for 2020 from 1.80% for 2019. Most of these accounts are indexed to the Federal funds 
rate with negotiated rate floors between 0.25% and 0.50%. Many of these deposits are seasonal in nature and are received during the 
third quarter as tax receipts are collected and are withdrawn over the course of the next year. 

QNB’s online e-Savings product is the largest category of savings deposits and was created to compete with other online savings 
accounts.  Average balances increased $35,050,000, or 20.4%, to $207,177,000 in 2020 compared with $172,127,000 in 2019.   The 
average cost of funds on these accounts was 0.50% for 2020 and 0.86% for 2019. The yield on this account may rise along with market 
rates and as competition for savings balances increases. Traditional statement savings accounts and club accounts are also included in 
the savings category and increased on average by $10,376,000, or 14.7%, to $81,108,000. The average rate paid on total savings accounts 
was 0.40% for 2020, a 26-basis point decrease from 0.66% for 2019 and interest expense decreased $450,000, to $1,155,000 from 
$1,605,000 over the same period. 

Interest expense on time deposits decreased $836,000, to $3,155,000 in 2020, due to a 25-basis point decrease in yield, from 1.73% in 
2019 to 1.48% in 2020.  The decrease in average balances was $17,821,000 in 2020, to $212,517,000. Similar to fixed-rate loans and 
investment securities, time deposits reprice over time and, therefore, have less of an immediate impact on costs in either a rising or 
falling rate environment. However, the maturity and repricing characteristics of time deposits tend to be shorter.  
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Approximately $131,190,000, or 66.6%, in time deposits will reprice or mature over the next 12 months compared with 59.8% of the 
portfolio at December 31, 2019. The average rate paid on these time deposits is approximately 1.16%.  

Short-term borrowings are comprised of sweep accounts structured as repurchase agreements with our commercial customers and 
overnight borrowings from correspondent banks with average balances in 2020 of $50,007,000 and $1,738,000, respectively. Interest 
expense on short-term borrowings decreased by $453,000 to $247,000 when comparing the two years. During this period average 
balances of repurchase agreements increased $9,788,000 with a 28-basis point decrease in average rate paid, resulting in a decrease of 
cost of funds of $69,000.  The average balances of borrowings from correspondent banks declined $15,023,000 and the average rate 
paid decreased 59 basis points, resulting in a decrease in cost of funds of $384,000.   

Average long-term debt was $8,566,000 with an average yield of 1.57%, 33 basis points lower than the yield on short-term FHLB 
borrowings. The yield on interest-bearing liabilities decreased 44 basis points to 0.63% for 2020. 

2019 versus 2018 
Total interest expense for 2019 was $10,124,000 compared with $8,185,000 for 2018, an increase of $1,939,000. Interest expense on 
total deposits increased $1,911,000 and interest expense on borrowed funds increased $28,000 when comparing the two years. The rate 
paid on interest-bearing deposits increased 20 basis points; the rate paid on borrowings increased 13 basis points, when comparing the 
two periods. 

Average non-interest-bearing demand accounts increased $11,439,000, or 8.8%, to $142,072,000 for 2019; QNB has been successful in 
increasing both personal and business checking accounts. Average interest-bearing demand accounts increased $18,043,000, or 9.3%, 
to $212,415,000 for 2019 compared with 2018, with interest expense on interest-bearing demand accounts increasing $301,000 to 
$990,000 for 2019. The average rate paid increased 12 basis points to 0.47% for 2019 compared to 0.35% for 2018. Interest-bearing 
business checking account average balances increased by $10,206,000, or 30.2%, and related interest expense increased $245,000, or 
35 basis points in yield, when comparing the two years.  This was primarily due to one large commercial customer consolidating both 
existing and external accounts.  For 2019, the average balance QNB-Rewards checking was $59,490,000 and the related interest expense 
was $392,000 for an average cost of funds of 0.66%. In comparison, the average balance of the QNB-Rewards accounts for 2018 was 
$54,188,000, yielding 0.62%. The average balance of other interest-bearing demand accounts included in this category increased from 
$106,337,000 for 2018 to $108,872,000 for 2019. The average rate paid on these balances was 0.05% for both years 

Average money market accounts increased $12,437,000, or 16.0%, to $90,150,000 for 2019 compared with 2018. The increase in money 
market balances is a result of a shift in balances to from less liquid and lower yielding savings accounts. Interest expense on money 
market accounts increased $486,000 to $815,000 for 2019 compared with 2018. The average interest rate paid on money market accounts 
was 0.90% for 2019, an increase of 48 basis points compared with 2018. 

Interest expense on municipal interest-bearing demand accounts increased $486,000 to $2,023,000 for 2019. The average balance of 
municipal interest-bearing demand accounts increased $6,128,000, or 5.8%, to $112,539,000 and the average interest rate paid on these 
accounts increased 36 basis points to 1.80% for 2019 from 1.44% for 2018.  

Online eSavings average balances declined $23,131,000, or 11.8%, to $172,127,000 in 2019 compared with 195,258,000 in 2018, 
resulting from a shift to more liquid deposit accounts. .   The average cost of funds on these accounts was 0.86% for 2019 and 0.79% 
for 2018.  Traditional statement savings accounts and club accounts are also included in the savings category and decreased on average 
by $956,000, or 1.3%, to $70,732,000. The average rate paid on total savings accounts was 0.66% for 2019, a four-basis point increase 
from 2018 while interest expense decreased $52,000, to $1,605,000 from $1,657,000 over the same period.  

Interest expense on time deposits increased $690,000, to $3,991,000 in 2019, due to a 28-basis point increase in yield, from 1.45% in 
2018 to 1.73% in 2019.  The increase in average balances was $3,259,000 in 2019, to $230,338,000.  

Short-term borrowings are comprised of sweep accounts structured as repurchase agreements with our commercial customers and 
overnight borrowings from correspondent banks with average balances in 2019 of $40,219,000 and $16,761,000, respectively. Interest 
expense on short-term borrowings increased by $28,000 to $700,000 when comparing the two years. During this period average balances 
of repurchase agreements increased $2,047,000 with a 15-basis point increase in average rate paid, resulting in an increase of cost of 
funds of $73,000.  This was partly offset by a decrease in average balances of borrowings from correspondent banks of $6,006,000 while 
the average rate paid increased 46 basis points, resulting in a net decrease in cost of funds of $45,000.   
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Provision for Loan Losses 
The provision for loan losses represents management’s determination of the amount necessary to be charged to operations to bring the 
allowance for loan losses to a level that represents management’s best estimate of the known and inherent losses in the existing loan 
portfolio. QNB recorded a provision for loan losses of $1,250,000, $1,300,000 and $1,130,000 for the twelve-month periods ended 
December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018, respectively.  Net loan charge-offs were $311,000, or 0.04% of total average loans for 2020 
compared with $247,000, or 0.03% of total average loans in 2019 and $137,000, or 0.02% of total average loans in 2018. The majority 
of the commercial loans charged off during 2020 and 2019 had specific reserves established during the allowance for loan loss 
calculation process prior to the decision to charge-off the loans. Deterioration in credit quality or significant growth in the loan portfolio 
may result in a higher provision for loan losses in 2021. 

Non-Interest Income 
 
Non-interest income comparison                                                         
                            Change from prior year   
                            $ Change     % Change   
Year ended December 31,   2020     2019     2018     2020 to 2019     2019 to 2018     2020 to 2019     2019 to 2018   
Fees for services to customers   $ 1,315    $ 1,691    $ 1,699    $ (376 )  $ (8 )    -22.2 %    -0.5 % 
ATM and debit card     2,195      2,070      1,895      125      175      6.0      9.2   
Retail brokerage and advisory     581      560      370      21      190      3.8      51.4   
Bank-owned life insurance     294      292      291      2      1      0.7      0.3   
Merchant     417      348      326      69      22      19.8      6.7   
Net gain (loss) on sale of investment 
   securities     609      1,755      (76 )    (1,146 )    1,831      -65.3    N/M   
Unrealized gain (loss) on investment equity 
   securities     (47 )    770      (336 )    (817 )    1,106      -106.1      —   
Net gain on sale of loans     1,724      195      105      1,529      90      784.1      85.7   
Other     514      636      618      (122 )    18      -19.2      2.9   
Total   $ 7,602    $ 8,317    $ 4,892    $ (715 )  $ 3,425      -8.6 %    70.0 % 
                                                          
N/M - Not Meaningful                                                         
 

2020 versus 2019 
QNB, through its core banking business, generates various fees and service charges. Total non-interest income includes service charges 
on deposit accounts, ATM and debit card income, retail brokerage and advisory income, income on bank-owned life insurance, merchant 
income and gains and losses on investment securities and residential mortgage loans. Total non-interest income was $8,317,000 in 2019 
compared with $7,602,000 in 2020, a decline of $715,000.  

Fees for services to customers are primarily comprised of service charges on deposit accounts. These fees were $1,315,000 for 2020, a 
decrease of $376,000, or 22.2%, from 2019. Overdraft income, which represented approximately 71% and 77% of total fees for services 
to customers in 2020 and 2019, respectively, decreased by $376,000, or 28.8%, when comparing 2020 to 2019. The decrease in overdraft 
income primarily reflects a decrease in the number of overdraft occurrences. 

ATM and debit card income is primarily comprised of transaction income on debit cards and ATM cards and ATM surcharge income 
for the use of QNB’s ATM machines by non-QNB customers. ATM and debit card income was $2,195,000 in 2020, an increase of 
$125,000, or 6.0%, from the amount recorded in 2019. Debit card interchange income increased $117,000, or 5.8%, to $2,131,000 in 
2020, while ATM surcharge income and monthly card fees income increased $8,000 to $64,000. The growth in checking accounts and 
card usage contributed to the increase in debit card income, including the QNB Rewards checking product, a tiered-rate checking account 
which requires, among other terms, the posting of a minimum of twelve debit card purchase transactions per statement cycle to receive 
the high interest rate. 

QNB provides securities and advisory services under the name QNB Financial Services through an independent third-party registered 
Broker/Dealer and Registered Investment Advisor. QNB terminated its contract with its third-party broker-dealer effective August 1, 
2018 and entered into a similar arrangement with another third-party provider. QNB Financial Services finalized the transferring of 
accounts to the new provider’s platform during 2019. QNB receives a percentage of the revenue generated but is responsible for salaries 
and expenses of advisors who are QNB employees.  Retail brokerage and advisory revenue was $581,000 for 2020 compared with 
$560,000 in 2019, an increase of $21,000, or 3.8%.  In 2018 and throughout 2019, there was a transition to move toward advanced 
advisory fees based on assets under management in lieu of fees per transaction; advisory fees increased $24,000 comparing 2020 to 
2019.  Sales in front-loaded products, such as annuities and alternative investments (which include private equity, hedge funds, managed 
futures, real estate “REITs”, commodities and derivatives contracts) and trailing income related to these decreased $3,000 in 2020 over 
2019. In 2020, the net income provided by QNB Financial Services was $197,000, compared with $82,000 in net income for 2019. 
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Income on bank-owned life insurance (“BOLI”) represents the earnings and death benefits on life insurance policies in which the Bank 
is the beneficiary. The insurance carriers reset the rates on these policies annually taking into consideration the interest rate environment 
as well as mortality costs. The existing policies have rate floors which limit how low the earnings rate can go. Some of these policies 
are currently at their floor. Income on these policies during 2020 was $294,000 compared to $292,000 for 2019. 

Merchant income represents fees charged to merchants for the Bank’s handling of credit card or charge sales. Merchant income was 
$417,000 for 2020, an increase of $69,000, or 19.8%, from the amount reported in 2019. The increase in merchant income is primarily 
a result of increased usage.  

The fixed-income securities portfolio represents a significant portion of QNB’s earning assets and is also a primary tool in liquidity and 
asset/liability management. QNB actively manages its fixed-income portfolio to take advantage of changes in the shape of the yield 
curve, changes in spread relationships in different sectors, and for liquidity purposes. Management continually reviews strategies that 
will result in an increase in the yield or improvement in the structure of the investment portfolio, including monitoring credit and 
concentration risk in the portfolio. In addition, the Corporation owns a small portfolio of equity securities for the purpose of generating 
both dividend income and capital appreciation. 

Net gains on investment securities decreased $1,146,000 to a net gain of $609,000 for the year ended December 31, 2020, compared 
with a net gain of $1,755,000 for the year ended December 31, 2019, primarily due to market conditions which resulted in greater 
opportunities for profitable sales in 2019 compared with 2020. Gains from equity securities were $1,781,000 in 2019 compared to gains 
of $585,000 in 2020.  Net gains on the sale of fixed income securities were $24,000 for 2020 compared to net losses of $26,000 for 
2019.  Unrealized losses on equity securities of $47,000 were recorded during 2020 compared to unrealized gains $770,000 during 2019.  

The net gain on residential mortgage sales is directly related to the volume of mortgages sold and the timing of the sales relative to the 
interest rate environment. Residential mortgage loans to be sold are identified at origination. The net gain on the sale of residential 
mortgage loans was $1,724,000 and $195,000 for 2020 and 2019, respectively. Mortgage financing activity increased in 2020, as an 
improvement in rates prompted borrowers to purchase. Proceeds from the sale of residential mortgages were $35,605,000 and 
$7,324,000 for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively. Included in the gains on the sale of residential mortgages in 
2020 and 2019 are $249,000 and $54,000, respectively, related to the recognition of mortgage servicing assets.   

QNB retains servicing rights for residential mortgages sold in the secondary market. A servicing fee is retained on all mortgage loans 
sold and serviced. QNB recognizes its obligation to service financial assets that are retained in a transfer of assets in the form of a 
servicing asset. The servicing asset is amortized in proportion to, and over, the period of net servicing income or loss. On a quarterly 
basis, servicing assets are assessed for impairment based on their fair value. Mortgage servicing income of $41,000 for 2020 and 
$117,000 for 2019 is included in other non-interest income. 

Other non-interest income, excluding mortgage servicing income, was $473,000 for 2020, a decline of $46,000 from the amount recorded 
in 2019. Other non-interest income included broker-dealer conversion costs reimbursements of $66,000 and $83,000 for 2020 and 2019, 
respectively.  Other non-interest income included a $58,000 deferred gain on the sale of a bank-financed other real estate owned property 
in 2019. Title company income increased $31,000 when comparing 2020 to 2019.  

2019 versus 2018 
Total non-interest income was $8,317,000 in 2019 compared with $4,892,000 in 2018, an increase of $3,425,000.  

Fees for services to customers were $1,691,000 for 2019, a decrease of $8,000, or 0.5%, from 2018.  ATM and debit card income was 
$2,070,000 in 2019, an increase of $175,000, or 9.2%, from the amount recorded in 2018. Debit card interchange income increased 
$173,000, or 9.4%, to $2,014,000 in 2019, while ATM surcharge income and monthly card fees income increased $2,000 to $56,000. 

Retail brokerage and advisory revenue was $560,000 for 2019 compared with $370,000 in 2018, an increase of $190,000, or 51.4%.  In 
2018 and throughout 2019, there was a transition to move toward advanced advisory fees based on assets under management in lieu of 
fees per transaction; advisory fees increased $175,000 comparing 2019 to 2018.  There was also growth in sales in front-loaded products 
in 2019 than in 2018, resulting in increased revenues of $15,000. 

Income on BOLI policies during 2019 was $292,000 compared to $291,000 for 2018.  

Merchant income was $348,000 for 2019, an increase of $22,000, or 6.7%, from the amount reported in 2018. The increase in merchant 
income is primarily a result of increased usage.  
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Net gains on investment securities increased $1,831,000 to a net gain of $1,755,000 for the year ended December 31, 2019, compared 
with a net loss of $76,000 for the year ended December 31, 2018, primarily due to market conditions which resulted in greater 
opportunities for profitable sales in 2019 compared with 2018. Gains from equity securities were $1,781,000 in 2019 compared to losses 
of $79,000 in 2018. Strong performance in the U.S. equity markets during 2019, enabled QNB to sell some equity holdings and recognize 
gains. Net losses on the sale of fixed income securities were $26,000 for 2019 compared to net gains of $3,000 for 2018.  The adoption 
of Accounting Standard Update 2016-01 (ASU 2016-01) effective January 1, 2018 requires the Company to record unrealized gains or 
losses on equity securities through earnings, rather than in other comprehensive income (loss), a component of shareholders’ equity. 
Unrealized gains on equity securities of $770,000 were recorded during 2019 compared to unrealized losses $336,000 during 2018.  

The net gain on the sale of residential mortgage loans was $195,000 and $105,000 for 2019 and 2018, respectively. Mortgage financing 
activity increased in 2019, as an improvement in rates prompted borrowers to purchase. Proceeds from the sale of residential mortgages 
were $7,324,000 and $4,478,000 for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively. Included in the gains on the sale of 
residential mortgages in 2019 and 2018 are $54,000 and $33,000, respectively, related to the recognition of mortgage servicing assets.   

Other non-interest income, excluding mortgage servicing income, was $519,000 for 2019, an increase of $27,000 from the amount 
recorded in 2018. Other non-interest income included broker-dealer conversion costs reimbursements of $83,000 and $48,000 for 2019 
and 2018, respectively.  Other non-interest income included a $58,000 deferred gain on the sale of a bank-financed other real estate 
owned property in 2019 and 2018 included a $57,000 sales tax refund. Decreased revenues from letters of credit fees of $22,000 were 
partially offset by increased revenue in credit cards and title company income of  $8,000 and $12,000, respectively, when comparing 
2019 to 2018.  

Non-Interest Expense 
 
Non-interest expense comparison                                                         
                            Change from prior year   
                            $ Change     % Change   
Year ended December 31,   2020     2019     2018     2020 to 2019     2019 to 2018     2020 to 2019     2019 to 2018   
Salaries and employee benefits   $ 16,541    $ 16,086    $ 14,411    $ 455    $ 1,675      2.8 %    11.6 % 
Net occupancy     2,164      2,040      1,872      124      168      6.1      9.0   
Furniture and equipment     2,750      2,496      2,165      254      331      10.2      15.3   
Marketing     876      1,042      927      (166 )    115      -15.9      12.4   
Third party services     1,923      1,853      1,889      70      (36 )    3.8      -1.9   
Telephone, postage and supplies     736      720      685      16      35      2.2      5.1   
State taxes     887      760      727      127      33      16.7      4.5   
FDIC insurance premiums     569      269      624      300      (355 )    111.5      -56.9   
Other     2,509      2,838      2,585      (329 )    253      -11.6      9.8   
Total   $ 28,955    $ 28,104    $ 25,885    $ 851    $ 2,219      3.0 %    8.6 % 
 

2020 versus 2019 

Non-interest expense is comprised of costs related to salaries and employee benefits, net occupancy, furniture and equipment, marketing, 
third party services, FDIC insurance premiums, regulatory assessments and taxes and various other operating expenses. Total non-
interest expense was $28,955,000 in 2020, an increase of $851,000, or 3.0%, from the $28,104,000 in 2019. QNB’s overhead efficiency 
ratio, which represents the percentage of each dollar of revenue that is used for non-interest expense, is calculated by taking non-interest 
expense divided by net operating revenue (tax-equivalent net interest income plus non-interest income). QNB’s efficiency ratios for 
2020, 2019 and 2018 were 63.6%, 61.9%, and 63.6%, respectively.  The increase in the 2020 efficiency ratio is primarily due to non-
interest expense in 2020 being higher by $851,000 over 2019 versus tax-equivalent income increasing $148,000.  

Salaries and benefits expense is the largest component of non-interest expense. QNB monitors, using various surveys, the competitive 
salary and benefit information in its markets and makes adjustments when appropriate. Salaries and benefits expense for 2020 was 
$16,541,000, an increase of $455,000 compared with $16,086,000 reported in 2019. Salary expense and related payroll taxes for 2020 
was $13,762,000, an increase of $88,000 compared with $13,674,000 reported in 2019. Included in salary expense in 2020 was incentive 
compensation plus related payroll taxes of $731,000, a $309,000 decrease over incentive compensation in 2019. Benefit expense for 
2020 was $2,779,000, an increase of $367,000, or 15.2%, from the amount recorded in 2019.  Medical premiums increased $330,000.  
Retirement plan matching and safe harbor increased $92,000 compared to 2019.  QNB utilized unvested forfeited 401(k) contributions 
to offset retirement plan matching in 2020 and 2019.  
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Net occupancy and furniture and equipment expense increased $378,000, to $4,914,000 when comparing 2020 to 2019, due primarily 
to increased software, additional 2020 building and equipment maintenance resulting from the COVID-19 Pandemic, branch rent related 
to a 2020 renewed lease and higher depreciation in 2020 resulting from renovations, one new branch and a branch relocation in 2019. 

Marketing expense was $876,000 for 2020, a $166,000 decrease from the expense recorded in 2019. Advertising and sales promotions 
expense declined $87,000 and marketing expenses related to public relations declined $82,000, respectively, for the year ended 
December 31, 2020 compared with 2019. QNB’s contributions and sponsorships for not-for-profit organizations, events and clubs in 
the communities it serves are included in public relations expense; many of these events were cancelled or postponed due to the COVID-
19 Pandemic. 

Third party services are comprised of professional services, including legal, accounting, auditing and consulting services, as well as fees 
paid to outside vendors for support services of day-to-day operations. These support services include correspondent banking services, 
statement printing and mailing, investment security safekeeping and supply management services. Third party services increased 
$70,000.  

Telephone, postage and supplies expense increased $16,000 to $736,000 in 2020, compared with 2019, primarily due to an increase in 
supplies of  $16,000 related to the COVID-19 Pandemic.  

FDIC insurance premium expense increased $300,000 in 2020.  The premium assessment formula for small institutions was changed by 
the FDIC and implemented in late 2016 and is based on asset growth and related risk assumptions determined by the FDIC as well as 
capital. Small institutions, for FDIC premium assessments purposes, are defined as those with total consolidated assets less than $10 
billion.  On September 30, 2018, the Deposit Insurance Fund Reserve Ratio reached 1.36%. Because the reserve ratio has exceeded 
1.35%, a change impacting QNB’s deposit insurance assessment occurred under the FDIC regulations:  Small institutions were awarded 
assessment credits for the portion of their assessments that contributed to the growth in the reserve ratio from 1.15% to 1.35%, to be 
applied when the reserve ratio is at least 1.38%.  QNB received $273,000 in assessment credits  during 2019. 

State tax expense represents the payment of the Pennsylvania Shares Tax and Pennsylvania sales and use tax. State tax expense was 
$887,000 and $760,000 for the years 2020 and 2019, respectively. The Pennsylvania Shares Tax is based primarily on the equity of the 
Bank.  The increase in Pennsylvania Shares Tax is a result of growth of the Bank’s capital. 

Other operating expenses for the twelve months ended December 31, 2020 decreased $329,000, or 11.6%.  In 2019 there was a write-
off of a receivable of $103,000 and foreclosure expenses of $42,000.  The remaining decreases were primarily due to reduced business 
development, travel, seminar and meeting expenses related to cancellations of events due to the COVID-19 Pandemic.     

2019 versus 2018 

Total non-interest expense was $28,104,000 in 2019, an increase of $2,219,000, or 8.6%, from the $25,885,000 recorded in 2018.   
Salaries and benefits expense for 2019 was $16,086,000, an increase of $1,675,000 compared with $14,411,000 reported in 2018. Salary 
expense and related payroll taxes for 2019 was $13,674,000, an increase of $1,411,000 compared with $12,263,000 reported in 2018. 
Included in salary expense in 2019 was incentive compensation plus related payroll taxes of $1,040,000, a $130,000 increase over 
incentive compensation in 2018. Benefit expense for 2019 was $2,412,000, an increase of $264,000, or 12.3%, from the amount recorded 
in 2018.  Medical premiums increased $129,000.  Retirement plan matching and safe harbor increased $71,000 compared to 2018.  QNB 
utilized unvested forfeited 401(k) contributions to offset retirement plan matching in 2019 and 2018.   

Net occupancy and furniture and equipment expense increased $499,000, to $4,536,000 when comparing 2019 to 2018, due primarily 
to increased software, higher depreciation resulting from 2019 renovations, one new branch and a branch relocation, building and 
equipment maintenance and branch rent. 

Marketing expense was $1,042,000 for 2019, a $115,000 increase from the expense recorded in 2018. Advertising and sales promotions 
expense increased $83,000 and marketing expenses related to public relations increased $32,000, respectively, for the year ended 
December 31, 2019 compared with 2018. 

Third party services decreased $36,000 when comparing the two periods, primarily due to tax preparation fees in 2018 of $36,000 related 
to method changes implemented for the 2017 returns.  

Telephone, postage and supplies expense increased $35,000 to $720,000 in 2019, compared with 2018, primarily due to an increase in 
postage expense of $31,000.  

FDIC insurance premium expense decreased $355,000, or 56.9%, in 2019.  QNB received $273,000 in assessment credits during 2019. 
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State tax expense represents the payment of the Pennsylvania Shares Tax and Pennsylvania sales and use tax. State tax expense was 
$760,000 and $727,000 for the years 2019 and 2018, respectively. 

Other operating expenses for the twelve months ended December 31, 2019 increased $253,000, or 9.8%.  In 2019 there was a write-off 
of a receivable of $103,000, the remaining increases were primarily due to debit card expense, business development costs and 
foreclosure expenses.     

Income Taxes 

Applicable income tax expense and effective tax rates were $2,562,000, or 17.5% for 2020, $2,850,000, or 18.7%, for 2019 compared 
with $1,557,000, or 12.1%, for 2018.  The primary reason for the decreased effective tax rate for 2020 over 2019 was due to the state 
taxes on the realized gains on securities in 2019.  In 2018, QNB elected to change its tax methods for bad debt conformity and for loan 
origination costs effective with the filing of the 2017 tax return which resulted in a tax benefit of $415,000.  These discrete tax items 
were recorded in 2018. 
 

Summary Impact of 2018 Discrete Tax Items           
            
Year ended December 31,   2018     
Non-GAAP adjusted net income excluding impact 
   of discrete items and tax legislation   $ 10,920     
Tax provision, discrete items and revaluation of 
   net deferred tax asset     415     
Reported Net Income (GAAP)   $ 11,335     
            
Non-GAAP earnings per share, excluding impact 
   of discrete items and tax legislation   $ 3.14     
Effect of  discrete items and tax legislation on 
   diluted earnings per share     0.11     
Reported Diluted Earnings per Share (GAAP)   $ 3.25     

 
Non-GAAP financial measures should be viewed in addition to, and not as an alternative for, our reported results prepared in accordance 
with GAAP. In the event of disclosure or release of non-GAAP financial measures, the SEC Regulation G requires: (i) the presentation 
of the most directly comparable financial measure calculated and presented in accordance with GAAP and (ii) a reconciliation of the 
differences between the non-GAAP financial measure presented and the most directly comparable financial measure calculated and 
presented in accordance with GAAP. 

For the year ended December 31, 2018, the effective tax rate excluding the discrete items was 15.3%; the primary reason for the increase 
effective tax rate for 2019 over 2018 was due to the state taxes on the realized gains on securities.  QNB expects the effective tax rate 
in 2021 to be similar to the 17.5%, less than the 21% corporate rate, due to its holdings of tax-free assets, including municipal bonds, 
municipal loans, and life insurance contracts.  For a more comprehensive analysis of income tax expense and deferred taxes, refer to 
Note 11 in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. 
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Financial Condition 

ASSETS 

The following table presents total assets at the dates indicated: 
 

                    Change from prior year   
Year ended December 31,   2020     2019     Amount     Percent   
Cash and cash equivalents   $ 39,331     $ 17,608     $ 21,723       123.4 % 
Investment securities AFS     435,646       349,710       85,936       24.6   
Investment equity securities     12,849       9,164       3,685       40.2   
Restricted investment in bank stocks     1,041       1,073       (32 )     -3.0   
Loans held-for-sale     6,570       977       5,593       —   
Loans receivable     920,042       820,616       99,426       12.1   
Allowance for loan losses     (10,826 )     (9,887 )     (939 )     -9.5   
Premises and equipment, net     15,404       15,608       (204 )     -1.3   
Bank-owned life insurance     11,791       11,490       301       2.6   
Accrued interest receivable     4,825       2,828       1,997       70.6   
Other assets     3,556       5,836       (2,280 )     -39.1   
Total assets   $ 1,440,229     $ 1,225,023     $ 215,206       17.6 % 

 

Cash and interest-earning deposits 

Total cash and cash equivalents increased $21,723,000 from $17,608,000 at December 31, 2019 to $39,331,000 at December 31, 2020. 
QNB had interest-bearing balances at the Federal Reserve Bank of $25,581,000 compared with $1,584,000 and interest-bearing balances 
in a brokerage account of $242,000 compared with $3,616,000 at December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019, respectively.  Net cash 
was provided by operating activities.  The maturity, prepayment and sales of investment securities and proceeds received from deposit 
growth more than offset loan growth and the purchases of investment securities. 

Investment Securities and Other Short-Term Investments 

At December 31, 2020 and 2019, QNB had no Federal funds sold. With the Federal funds rate between 0% and 0.25%, excess funds for 
liquidity purposes are kept at the Federal Reserve.  These funds carry a 0% risk weighting for risk-based capital calculation purposes. 

QNB accounts for its investments by classifying securities into four categories. Debt securities that are bought and held principally for 
the purpose of selling them in the near term are classified as trading securities and reported at fair value, with unrealized gains and losses 
included in earnings. Debt securities that QNB has the positive intent and ability to hold to maturity are classified as held-to-maturity 
securities and reported at amortized cost. Debt securities not classified as either held-to-maturity securities or trading securities are 
classified as available-for-sale securities and reported at fair value, with unrealized gains and losses, net of tax, excluded from earnings 
and reported as a separate component of shareholders’ equity. Equity investments with readily determinable fair values are measured at 
fair value with changes in fair value recognized in net income.  Management determines the appropriate classification of securities at 
the time of purchase. 
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Investment Portfolio History                         
December 31,   2020     2019     2018   
Investment Securities Available-for-Sale                    
U.S. Government agency   $ 69,776    $ 69,298    $ 68,409   
State and municipal     87,812      50,781      66,313   
U.S. Government agencies and sponsored enterprises (GSEs):                    

Mortgage-backed     175,847      134,829      125,913   
Collateralized mortgage obligations (CMOs)     94,948      86,610      75,491   

Pooled trust preferred     70      79      116   
Corporate debt     7,193      8,113      7,979   
Total investment securities available-for-sale   $ 435,646    $ 349,710    $ 344,221   
Equity Investments                    
Equity   $ 12,849    $ 9,164    $ 9,421   
Total equity investments   $ 12,849    $ 9,164    $ 9,421   
Total investment securities   $ 448,495    $ 358,874    $ 353,642   

Investment Securities - Trading 
 
QNB did not hold any trading security during 2020 or 2019.  

Investments Held-To-Maturity Debt Securities 
QNB did not hold any held-to-maturity security during 2020 or 2019.  

Investments Available-For-Sale Debt Securities 
Available-for-sale investment securities include securities that management intends to use as part of its liquidity and asset/liability 
management strategy. These securities may be sold in response to changes in market interest rates, changes in the securities prepayment 
or credit risk, the need for liquidity, or growth in loan demand. At December 31, 2020, the fair value of investment debt securities 
available-for-sale was $435,646,000, or $7,151,000 above the amortized cost of $428,495,000. This compares to a fair value of 
$349,710,000, or $325,000 above the amortized cost of $349,385,000, at December 31, 2019. The available-for-sale portfolio, excluding 
the pooled trust preferred securities, had a weighted average maturity of approximately 5.2 years at December 31, 2020 and 4.6 years at 
December 31, 2019. The weighted average tax-equivalent yield, excluding the pooled trust preferred securities, was 1.57% and 2.36% 
at December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively. 
 
At December 31, 2020, approximately 78% of QNB’s investment securities available-for-sale were either U.S. Government agency debt 
securities, U.S. Government agency issued mortgage-backed securities or CMOs. As of December 31, 2020, QNB held no securities of 
any one issue or any one issuer (excluding the U.S. Government and its agencies) that were in excess of 10% of shareholders’ equity. 

The QNB investment portfolio represents a significant portion of earning assets and interest income. QNB actively manages the 
investment portfolio in an attempt to maximize earnings, while considering liquidity needs, interest rate risk and credit risk.  The increase 
of the investment portfolio as a percent of total assets in 2020 is due to deposit growth and the investment of excess funds.  Proceeds 
from the sale of investment securities available-for-sale were $6,930,000 during 2020 compared with $47,851,000 during 2019.  In 
addition to the proceeds from the sale of investment securities available-for-sale, proceeds from maturities, calls and prepayments were 
$207,245,000 in 2020 compared with $68,174,000 in 2019.  During 2020, $295,734,000 of investment securities available-for-sale were 
purchased compared with $113,688,000 during 2019. 

The balance of U.S. Government agency securities increased $478,000 to $69,776,000 at December 31, 2020 and represents 16.0% of 
the available-for-sale investment portfolio, compared with 19.8% at December 31, 2019.  U.S. Government agency issued CMO and 
MBS balances increased $49,356,000 to $270,795,000 and represents 62.2% of the available-for-sale portfolio compared with 63.4% at 
December 31, 2019. These bonds provide monthly cash flow to be reinvested in either loans or other securities, potentially at higher 
yields as rates increase.  
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The balance of municipal securities increased $37,031,000 to $87,812,000 at December 31, 2020, representing 20.2% of the available-
for-sale portfolio compared with 14.5% at December 31, 2019. QNB focuses on the financial performance of the underlying issuer for 
municipal bond purchases in addition to the bond rating of the issuer or the rating of bond insurer, if present. Ninety-four bonds were 
purchased with a book value of $51,787,000 and thirty-five bonds with a book value of $15,045,000 were called or matured in 2020.   

QNB owns one collateralized debt obligations (“CDO”) in the form of a pooled trust preferred security. The security is comprised of 
securities issued by banks or bank holding companies. QNB owns the mezzanine tranche of this security. The security is structured so 
that the senior and mezzanine tranches are protected from defaults by over-collateralization and cash flow default protection provided 
by subordinated tranches.  The trust preferred security the Bank continues to hold has a carrying balance of $70,000 at December 31, 
2020 and represents the senior-most obligation of the trust.  There was no credit-related other-than-temporary impairment charge during 
2020, 2019 or 2018.  Future estimates of fair value of the remaining security could require recording additional OTTI charges through 
earnings. For additional detail on these securities see Notes 4 and 17 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. 
 
The weighted average maturity is based on the stated contractual maturity or likely call date of all securities except for MBS and CMOs, 
which are based on estimated average life. The maturity of the portfolio could become shorter if interest rates declined and prepayments 
on MBS and CMOs increased or securities are called. However, the estimated average life could lengthen if interest rates were to 
increase and principal payments on MBS and CMOs slowed or securities anticipated to be called extend past their call date. 
 
Investment Portfolio Maturities and Weighted Average Yields 
 

December 31, 2020   
One year 

or less     

After one 
year 

through 
five years     

After five 
years 

through 
ten years     

After ten 
years     Total   

Investment Securities Available-for-Sale                                         
U.S. Government agency:                                         

Fair value   $ 1,008     $ 7,993     $ 60,775     $ —     $ 69,776   
Weighted average yield     1.40 %     0.59 %     1.06 %     —       1.01 % 

State and municipal:                                    
Fair value     810       3,754       17,686       65,562       87,812   
Weighted average yield     2.78 %     3.77 %     3.15 %     2.40 %     2.61 % 

Mortgage-backed:                                    
Fair value     27       175,820       —       —       175,847   
Weighted average yield     0.17 %     1.29 %     0.00 %     —       1.29 % 

Collateralized mortgage obligations (CMOs):                                    
Fair value     8,417       81,624       4,907       —       94,948   
Weighted average yield     1.20 %     1.56 %     1.16 %     —       1.51 % 

Pooled trust preferred:                                    
Fair value     —       —       —       70       70   
Weighted average yield     —       —       —       2.64 %     2.64 % 

Corporate debt:                                    
Fair value     2,007       2,215       2,971       —       7,193   
Weighted average yield     1.82 %     2.30 %     6.46 %     —       3.88 % 

Total fair value   $ 12,269     $ 271,406     $ 86,339     $ 65,632     $ 435,646   
Weighted average yield     1.42 %     1.39 %     1.68 %     2.40 %     1.60 % 
 
Securities are assigned to categories based on stated contractual maturity except for mortgage-backed securities and CMOs which are 
based on anticipated payment periods and state and municipal securities which are based on pre-refunded date, if applicable. Tax-exempt 
securities were adjusted to a tax-equivalent basis and are based on the marginal Federal corporate tax rate of 21% and a Tax Equity and 
Financial Responsibility Act (“TEFRA”) adjustment for the cost of funds. Weighted average yields on investment securities available-
for-sale are based on amortized cost. 
  

Investments in Equity Securities  

Equity securities increased $3,685,000 to $12,849,000 at December 31, 2020 from $9,164,000 at December 31, 2019.  QNB sold 
$4,767,000 in equity securities for a net gain of $585,000 and purchased $7,914,000 in equities during 2020. 
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QNB adopted ASU 2016-01, Financial Instruments – Overall (Subtopic 825-10): Recognition and Measurement of Financial Assets and 
Financial Liabilities, effective January 1, 2018. This ASU was issued by the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) on January 
5, 2016 to enhance the reporting model for financial instruments to address certain aspects of recognition, measurement, presentation, 
and disclosure of financial instruments. The FASB issued ASU 2018-03 in February 2018 which provides technical corrections and 
improvements to ASU 2016-01. QNB used the modified retrospective method for transition in which the cumulative effect will be 
recognized at the date of adoption with no restatement of comparative periods presented. QNB reclassified a loss, net of taxes, of 
$254,000 from accumulated other comprehensive loss to retained earnings on January 1, 2018.  Increases and decreases in the fair value 
were recognized in net income during 2020, 2019 and 2018.  At December 31, 2020, the fair value of the equity securities was 
$12,849,000, or $65,000 above the cost of $12,784,000 compared to $$9,164,000, or $111,000 above the cost of $9,053,000 at December 
31, 2019. 

The equities portfolio comprises blue-chip large-capitalized stocks, providing a taxable equivalent dividend yield of 3.54%.  The 
estimated cumulative contribution (realized and unrealized net gains (losses), plus dividends) of the equity portfolio to earnings per 
share from January 1, 2008 through December 31, 2020 is $1.79 per diluted share.  Details of the equity portfolio’s contribution to net 
income is detailed in the following table. 

 
Net Income (Expense) on Equity Securities   For the Year Ended December 31,   
    2015     2016     2017     2018     2019    2020   
Equity Securities:                                                

Tax-equivalent dividends*   $ 244   $ 233   $ 249   $ 300   $ 274   $ 392   
Net gain (loss) on sales     691     758     1,557     (79 )   1,781     585   
OTTI     (55 )   (192 )   (80 ) N/A   N/A   N/A   
Unrealized (loss) gain   N/A   N/A   N/A     (336 )   770     (47 ) 
Tax-equivalent income before tax     880     799     1,726     (115 )   2,825     930   
Tax expense (benefit)*     357     324     701     (33 )   816     269   

Net income   $ 523   $ 475   $ 1,025   $ (82 ) $ 2,009   $ 661   
                                        
Earnings per share - basic   $ 0.16   $ 0.14   $ 0.30   $ (0.02 ) $ 0.57   $ 0.19   
Earnings per share - diluted     0.16     0.14     0.30     (0.02 )   0.57     0.19   
Tax-equivalent yield     3.35 %   3.13 %   3.49 %   3.08 %   3.31 %   3.54 % 

                                  
*Based on Federal tax rates of 34% for the 2015 and 2016 periods and 21% for the 2017, 2018, 2019 and 2020 periods.   

Loans 
QNB’s primary business is to accept deposits and to make loans to meet the credit needs of the communities it serves. Loans are the 
most significant component of earning assets, and growth in loans to small businesses and residents of these communities has been a 
primary focus of QNB. Inherent within the lending function is the evaluation and acceptance of credit risk and interest rate risk. QNB 
manages credit risk associated with its lending activities through portfolio diversification, underwriting policies and procedures and loan 
monitoring practices. 

QNB has comprehensive policies and procedures that define and govern commercial and retail loan originations and the management 
of risk. All loans are underwritten in a manner that emphasizes the borrowers’ capacity to pay. The measurement of capacity to pay 
delineates the potential risk of non-payment or default. The higher potential for default determines the need for and amount of collateral 
required. QNB makes unsecured commercial loans when the capacity to pay is considered substantial. As capacity lessens, collateral is 
required to provide a secondary source of repayment and to mitigate the risk of loss. Various policies and procedures provide guidance 
to the lenders on such factors as amount, terms, price, maturity and appropriate collateral levels. Each risk factor is considered critical 
to ensuring that QNB receives an adequate return for the risk undertaken, and that the risk of loss is minimized. 

QNB manages the risk associated with commercial loans by having lenders work in tandem with credit analysts while maintaining 
independence between personnel. In addition, a Bank loan committee and a committee of the Board of Directors review and approve 
certain loan requests on a weekly basis. Other than disclosed in the forthcoming Loan Portfolio Table, at December 31, 2020, there was 
a concentration of loans to lessors of residential buildings and dwellings of 14.9% of total loans and to lessors of nonresidential buildings 
of 19.6% of total loans, compared with 16.6% and 18.3% of total loans, respectively, at December 31, 2019. These concentrations were 
primarily within the commercial real estate categories. 

QNB moved from an eight-grade risk rating system to a ten-grade system in 2018, further disaggregating the credit quality of the loan 
portfolio to enhance credit risk strategies. 



- 38 - 

QNB’s commercial lending activity is focused on small businesses within the local community. Commercial purpose loans are generally 
perceived as having more risk of default than residential real estate loans with a personal purpose and consumer loans. These types of 
loans involve larger loan balances to a single borrower or group of related borrowers and are more susceptible to a risk of loss during a 
downturn in the business cycle. These loans may involve greater risk because the availability of funds to repay these loans depends on 
the successful operation of the borrower’s business. The assets financed are used within the business for its ongoing operation. 
Repayment of these types of loans generally comes from the cash flow of the business or the ongoing conversions of assets, such as 
accounts receivable and inventory, to cash. Commercial and industrial loans represent commercial purpose loans that are either secured 
by collateral other than real estate or unsecured. 

Commercial loans secured by commercial real estate include commercial purpose loans collateralized at least in part by commercial real 
estate. Some of these loans may not be for the express purpose of conducting commercial real estate transactions. Commercial loans 
secured by residential real estate are commercial purpose loans generally secured by the business owner’s residence or residential 
investment properties owned by the borrower and rented to tenants. Commercial loans secured by either commercial real estate or 
residential real estate are originated primarily within the Eastern Pennsylvania market area, are within the Bank’s underwriting criteria, 
and generally include the guarantee of the borrowers. Repayment of this kind of loan is dependent upon either the ongoing cash flow of 
the borrowing entity or the resale of or lease of the subject property. Commercial real estate and commercial construction loans may be 
affected to a greater extent than residential loans by adverse conditions in real estate markets or the economy because commercial real 
estate borrowers’ ability to repay their loans depends on successful development of their properties. 

Loans to state and political subdivisions are tax-exempt or taxable loans to municipalities, school districts and housing and industrial 
development authorities. These loans can be general obligations of the municipality or school district repaid through their taxing 
authority, revenue obligations repaid through the income generated by the operations of the authority, such as a water or sewer authority, 
or loans issued to a housing and industrial development agency, for which a private corporation is responsible for payments on the loans. 

The Company originates fixed rate and adjustable-rate residential real estate loans that are secured by the underlying 1-4 family 
residential properties. Credit risk exposure in this area of lending is minimized by the evaluation of the credit worthiness of the borrower, 
including debt-to-income ratios, credit scores and adherence to underwriting policies that emphasize conservative loan-to-value ratios 
of generally no more than 80%. To reduce interest rate risk, qualifying originations of fixed-rate loans to individuals for 1-4 family 
residential mortgages with maturities of 15 years or greater are generally sold in the secondary market. Mortgage loan origination activity 
increased in 2020 with $39,474,000 in residential mortgages originated for sale during 2020, compared with $8,106,000 for 2019. There 
were $6,570,000 in residential mortgage loans held-for-sale at December 31, 2020 and $977,000 at December 31, 2019.  These loans 
are carried at the lower of aggregate cost or market. 

The home equity portfolio consists of fixed-rate home equity loans and variable rate home equity lines of credit. These loans are often 
in a junior lien position and therefore carry a higher risk than first lien 1-4 family residential loans. Risks associated with loans secured 
by residential properties, either first lien residential mortgages or home equity loans and lines, are generally lower than commercial 
loans and include general economic risks, such as the strength of the job market, employment stability and the strength of the housing 
market. Since most loans are secured by a primary or secondary residence, the borrower’s continued employment is the greatest risk to 
repayment. 

The Company offers a variety of loans to individuals for personal and household purposes. Consumer loans are generally considered to 
have greater risk than loans secured by residential real estate because they may be unsecured, or, if they are secured, the value of the 
collateral may be difficult to assess or more likely to decrease in value than real estate. Credit risk in this portfolio is controlled by 
conservative underwriting standards that consider debt-to-income levels and the creditworthiness of the borrower, and, if secured, the 
value of the collateral. 

Under the CARES Act, enacted on March 27, 2020, QNB continues to provide customers experiencing financial hardship caused by the 
COVID-19 Pandemic, solutions to help them through this difficult period. As of December 31, 2020, QNB had modifications to 
approximately 4.0% of the commercial portfolio, with an outstanding balance of $31,148,000, and modifications to approximately 1.8% 
of the retail portfolio, with an outstanding balance of $2,722,000, related to the COVID-19 Pandemic. During 2020, the Bank originated 
$82,475,000 in PPP loans, enabling 660 businesses to maintain their payrolls and stay in operation.  At December 31, 2020, QNB had 
556 PPP loans totaling $72,821,000 reported in commercial and industrial loans.  PPP loan origination fees net of costs amounted to 
$1,909,000 at December 31, 2020 and are recognized in interest income as a yield adjustment over the term of the loans.  The PPP loans 
are 100% guaranteed by the SBA.  Excluding PPP loans net of deferred fees at December 31, 2020, loans receivable would have 
increased $28,514,000, or 3.5% since year-end 2019. 
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Total loan receivables at December 31, 2020 were $920,042,000, an increase of $99,426,000, or 12.1%, from December 31, 2019. This 
follows a 4.5% increase in outstanding loans in 2019. A key financial ratio, loans to deposits was 74.9% at December 31, 2020, compared 
with 79.1% at December 31, 2019.  QNB continues to be committed to make loans available to credit worthy consumers and businesses. 
  
Loan Portfolio                                         
December 31,   2020     2019     2018     2017     2016   
Commercial:                                         

Commercial and industrial   $ 227,431     $ 168,031     $ 162,452     $ 147,190     $ 110,233   
Construction     57,594       56,209       50,135       51,157       39,268   
Secured by commercial real estate     377,586       336,050       308,590       286,867       255,188   
Secured by residential real estate     81,897       72,443       68,581       71,703       68,731   

State and political subdivisions     25,302       38,376       43,737       38,087       35,260   
Retail:                                    

1-4 family residential mortgages     82,739       69,469       67,453       55,818       47,124   
Home equity loans and lines     63,943       73,311       77,475       75,576       71,525   
Consumer     5,364       6,530       6,785       6,680       5,670   

Total loans     921,856       820,419       785,208       733,078       632,999   
Net unearned costs (fees)     (1,814 )     197       240       205       80   
Loans receivable   $ 920,042     $ 820,616     $ 785,448     $ 733,283     $ 633,079   
 

Loan Maturities and Interest Sensitivity                                 

December 31, 2020   
One year 

or less     

After one 
year through 

five years     
After 

five years     Total   
Commercial:                             

Commercial and industrial   $ 94,281     $ 120,125     $ 13,025     $ 227,431   
Construction     10,379       17,984       29,231       57,594   
Secured by commercial real estate     14,641       16,686       346,259       377,586   
Secured by residential real estate     4,393       2,993       74,511       81,897   

State and political subdivisions     33       913       24,356       25,302   
Retail:                             

1-4 family residential mortgages     3,024       585       79,130       82,739   
Home equity loans and lines     5,489       5,677       52,777       63,943   
Consumer     519       1,988       2,857       5,364   

Total   $ 132,759     $ 166,951     $ 622,146     $ 921,856   
 
Demand loans and loans with no stated maturity are included in one year or less. Table details final maturity. 

The following shows the amount of loans due after one year that have fixed interest rates and variable or adjustable interest rates at 
December 31, 2020: 

Loans with fixed predetermined interest rates: $195,877,000 
Loans with variable or adjustable interest rates: $593,220,000 

The Allowance for Loan Losses Allocation table on Page 43 shows the percentage composition of the loan portfolio over the past five 
years. There was very little change in the composition of the portfolio between the periods ended December 31, 2019 and 2020.  Loans 
secured by commercial real estate represent the largest sector of the portfolio, remaining 41.0% of the portfolio at both December 31, 
2020 and December 31, 2019, as the balances in this sector grew by $41,536000, or 12.4%, from $336,050,000 at December 31, 2019 
to $377,586,000 at December 31, 2020. While loans secured by commercial real estate represent a significant portion of the total 
portfolio, the collateral is diversified, including investment properties, manufacturing facilities, office buildings, hospitality properties, 
hospitals, retirement and nursing home facilities, warehouses and owner-occupied facilities. Commercial real estate loans have drawn 
the attention of the regulators in recent years as a potential source of risk. QNB monitors these types of loans closely, obtaining updated 
appraisals on loans classified substandard or worse. As detailed in the Allowance for Loan Losses table, QNB had no charge-offs in this 
category in 2020, 2019 or 2018.  
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Commercial loans secured by residential real estate increased by $9,454,000, or 13.1%, to $81,897,000 at December 31, 2020 and at 
8.9% represent a slightly higher share of the overall portfolio than the 8.8% at December 31, 2019. Some of the properties that serve as 
collateral for these loans are located outside the Bank’s market area and have experienced vacancies and significant declines in market 
value in prior years. Charge-offs in this category have significantly decreased over the past three years. Non-accrual commercial loans 
secured by residential real estate were $875,000, $851,000, and $1,102,000 at December 31, 2020, 2019, and 2018, respectively.  Net 
recoveries were $68,000 in 2020, compared with net recoveries of $72,000 in 2019 and net charge-offs of $50,000 in 2018.  In 2020, 
$64,000 of the net recoveries were out-of-market investment properties, compared with $73,000 of the net recoveries in 2019 and 
$56,000 of the net charge-offs in 2018. 

Commercial and industrial loans, the second largest sector of the portfolio, experienced growth in balances of $59,400,000, or 35.4%, 
to $227,431,000 at December 31, 2020. This followed a growth in this category of $5,579,000, or 3.4%, in 2019. Excluding PPP loans, 
commercial and industrial loans decreased $13,421,000, or 8.0% in 2020. Commercial and industrial loans represented 24.7% of the 
portfolio at year-end 2020 compared with 20.5% at December 31, 2019. Excluding PPP loans, commercial and industrial loans 
represented 18.2% of the portfolio at year-end 2020. This category of loans generally presents a greater risk than loans secured by real 
estate since these loans are either secured by accounts receivable, inventory or equipment, or are unsecured.  During 2020, nonaccrual 
commercial and industrial loan balances decreased $1,534,000 to $4,367,000, the majority of which is due to paydowns of $1,270,000 
and the partial charge-off of three credits totaling of $263,000. During 2019, nonaccrual commercial and industrial loan balances 
increased $2,722,000 to $5,901,000, the majority of which is due to six relationships being downgraded in 2019 of which one credit was 
partially charged-off by $207,000.  In 2020, 2019, and 2018, charge-offs were $268,000, $207,000, and $0, respectively. 

Construction loans increased 2.5% from $56,209,000, or 6.8% of the portfolio at December 31, 2019, to $57,594,000, or 6.2% of the 
portfolio at December 31, 2020. These loans are primarily to developers and builders for the construction of residential units or 
commercial buildings or to businesses for the construction of owner-occupied facilities. This portfolio is diversified among different 
types of collateral including: 1-4 family residential construction, medical and retirement home facilities, office buildings, hotels and 
land for development loans. Construction loans are generally made only on projects that have municipal approval. These loans are 
usually originated to include a short construction period followed by permanent financing provided through a commercial mortgage 
after construction is complete. Once construction is complete, the balance is moved to the secured by commercial real estate category if 
the permanent financing is provided by the Bank. There were no charge-offs in the construction loan portfolio since 2011, and no 
construction loans on non-accrual since 2014. 

Loans to state and political subdivisions decreased $13,074,000, or 34.1%, from $38,376,000 at December 31, 2019 to $25,302,000 at 
December 31, 2020. This sector decreased from 4.7% of the total loan portfolio at December 31, 2019 to 2.7% at December 31, 2020. 
Many municipalities, counties and school districts refinanced their existing bonds or bank debt due to decreased. The decrease in 2020 
was primarily due to one relationship lost during the end of 2020.  The 2017 Tax Reform Act made the tax effective yield on loans to 
state and political subdivisions less favorable than experienced historically.   

Residential mortgage loans secured by first lien balances increased by $13,270,000, or 19.1%, to $82,739,000 at December 31, 2020. 
This followed an increase of $2,016,000, or 3.0%, between December 31, 2018 and December 31, 2019.  In 2020 and 2019, QNB 
retained some adjustable and fixed rate mortgages to borrowers with high credit scores and low loan-to-value ratios. 

Balances in home equity loans and lines decreased $9,368,000, or 12.8%, to $63,943,000 at December 31, 2020. During 2020, QNB 
continued to offer very attractive rates on both variable and fixed rate home equity loans and lines. These attractive rates, along with 
excellent customer service, including quick turnaround time, resulted in new originations in home equity loans, however, paydowns and 
refinancing into mortgage loans contributed to the decline. QNB expects demand for home equity loans will increase as rates normalize 
and debt consolidation into mortgage loans decline. 

Consumer loan balances decreased $1,166,000 to $5,364,000 at December 31, 2020. In 2013, QNB reentered the private student loan 
market through a relationship with a third party. These student loans are either fixed or variable rate with the rate dependent on the credit 
scores of the student and/or the cosigner.  As of December 31, 2020 the balance of student loans was $2,724,000, a decrease of $672,000 
compared with December 31, 2019.  Student loan balances will decline, as their balances are no longer insured, and QNB ceased funding 
originations through the third party during 2019 and forward. 

Non-Performing Assets 
Non-performing assets include non-performing loans, OREO and repossessed assets and non-performing trust preferred securities. Non-
performing assets totaled $14,109,000, or 0.98% of total assets at December 31, 2020, a $2,355,000 decrease over the $16,464,000, or 
1.34% of total assets at December 31, 2019.  

Total non-performing loans, which represent loans on non-accrual status, loans past due 90 days or more and still accruing interest and 
troubled debt restructured loans were $14,109,000, or 1.53% of total loans receivable at December 31, 2020 compared with $16,464,000, 
or 2.01% of total loans receivable at December 31, 2019. Loans on non-accrual status were $9,640,000 at December 31, 2020 compared 
with $11,704,000 at December 31, 2019. The decrease was primarily due to paydowns of $2,590,000 and net charge-offs of $419,000, 
partially offset by $945,000 being placed on nonaccrual of which $391,000 were due to two commercial relationships; specific 
impairment reserves have been established based on updated collateral values even if the borrower continues to pay in accordance with 
the terms of the agreement. Of the total amount of non-accrual loans at December 31, 2020, $5,030,000, or approximately 52% of the 
loans classified as non-accrual, are current or past due less than 30 days.  
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QNB had no loans 90 days or more past due and still accruing at December 31, 2020 or at December 31, 2019. Total loans that are 30 
days or more past due decreased $1,260,000 to $5,700,000, representing 0.62% of total loans at December 31, 2020 compared with 
$6,960,000 and 0.85% of total loans at December 31, 2019. Restructured loans, as defined in accounting guidance for troubled debt 
restructuring in ASC 310-40, that have not already been included in loans past due 90 days or more and still accruing or in non-accrual 
loans, totaled $4,469,000 and $4,760,000 at December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively.   

QNB held no OREO at December 31, 2020 or 2019.  There were no repossessed assets as of December 31, 2020 or 2019. 

  
Non-Performing Assets                                         
December 31,   2020     2019     2018     2017     2016   
Loans past due 90 days or more and accruing                                    

Commercial:                                    
Commercial and industrial   $ —     $ —     $ —     $ —     $ —   
Construction     —       —       —       —       —   
Secured by commercial real estate     —       —       —       —       —   
Secured by residential real estate     —       —       —       —       —   

State and political subdivisions     —       —       —       —       —   
Indirect lease financing     —       —       —       —       11   
Retail:     —       —       —       —       —   

1-4 family residential mortgages     —       —       —       —       —   
Home equity loans and lines     —       —       —       —       —   
Consumer     —       —       —       —       —   

Total loans past due 90 days or more and accruing     —       —       —       —       11   
                                     
Non-accrual loans                                    

Commercial:                                    
Commercial and industrial     4,367       5,901       3,179       3,367       4,798   
Construction     —       —       —       —       —   
Secured by commercial real estate     2,905       3,640       1,965       1,987       3,007   
Secured by residential real estate     875       851       1,102       1,458       1,866   

State and political subdivisions     —       —       —       —       —   
Indirect lease financing     —       —       —       —       —   
Retail:                                    

1-4 family residential mortgages     636       636       940       882       266   
Home equity loans and lines     752       537       166       142       89   
Consumer     105       139       126       85       93   

Total non-accrual loans     9,640       11,704       7,478       7,921       10,119   
                                     
Troubled debt restructured loans, not included above     4,469       4,760       2,160       1,321       1,819   
Other real estate owned     —       —       —       —       —   
Non-accrual pooled trust preferred securities     —       —       —       —       2,281   
Total non-performing assets   $ 14,109     $ 16,464     $ 9,638     $ 9,242     $ 14,230   
Total as a percent of total assets     0.98 %     1.34 %     0.82 %     0.80 %     1.34 % 
 
Additional loan quality information can be found in Note 5 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements included in Item 8 of 
this Form 10-K. Management’s view is that loans classified as substandard or doubtful that are not included in the past due, non-accrual 
or restructured categories are potential problem loans. For some of these loans, management may have knowledge of possible credit 
problems that will cause management to question the ability of the borrowers to comply with the present loan repayment terms. 
Commercial loans classified as substandard or doubtful, which includes non-performing loans, continue to show improvement. At 
December 31, 2020, substandard or doubtful loans totaled $22,193,000, an increase of $6,271,000, or 39.4%, from the $15,922,000, 
reported as of December 31, 2019. 
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Allowance for Loan Losses 

The allowance for loan losses represents management’s best estimate of the known and inherent losses in the existing loan portfolio. 
Management believes that it uses the best information available to make determinations about the adequacy of the allowance and that it 
has established its existing allowance for loan losses in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”). The 
determination of an appropriate level of the allowance for loan losses is based upon an analysis of the risks inherent in QNB’s loan 
portfolio. Management, in determining the allowance for loan losses, makes significant estimates and assumptions. Since the allowance 
for loan losses is dependent on conditions that may be beyond QNB’s control, it is at least reasonably possible that management’s 
estimates of the allowance for loan losses and actual results could differ. In addition, various regulatory agencies, as an integral part of 
their examination process, periodically review QNB’s allowance for losses on loans. Such agencies may require QNB to recognize 
changes to the allowance based on their judgments about information available to them at the time of their examination. Actual loan 
losses, net of recoveries, serve to reduce the allowance. 

Management closely monitors the quality of its loan portfolio and performs a quarterly analysis of the appropriateness of the allowance 
for loan losses and the level of unallocated reserves. This analysis considers a number of relevant factors including: specific impairment 
reserves, historical loan loss experience, general economic conditions, levels of and trends in delinquent and non-performing loans, 
levels of classified loans, trends in the growth rate of loans, and concentrations of credit. 

Economic conditions, nationally and in QNB’s market, declined in 2020, however, asset quality remained strong. The allowance level 
stated as a percent of loans receivable decreased from 1.20% at December 31, 2019 to 1.18% at December 31, 2020.  Excluding PPP 
loans, the allowance level stated as a percent of loans receivable was 1.27% at December 31, 2020.  PPP loans are 100% guaranteed by 
the SBA.   The allowance for loan losses increased to $10,826,000 at year-end 2020 from $9,887,000 at year-end 2019, due to the 
increase in loans receivable over the same period and the decline economic conditions. 
 
Allowance for Loan Losses Allocation                                                                  
December 31,  2020    2019    2018    2017    2016   

   Amount   

Percent 
gross 
loans    Amount   

Percent 
gross 
loans    Amount   

Percent 
gross 
loans    Amount   

Percent 
gross 
loans    Amount   

Percent 
gross 
loans   

Balance at end of period applicable to:                                                        
Commercial:                                                        

Commercial and industrial  $ 4,050     24.7 %  $ 4,689     20.5 %  $ 3,092     20.7 %  $ 2,711     20.1 %  $ 1,459     17.4 % 
Construction    346     6.2      590     6.8      551     6.4      563     7.0      449     6.2   
Secured by commercial real estate    3,736     41.0      2,519     41.0      2,824     39.3      2,410     39.1      2,646     40.3   
Secured by residential real estate    871     8.9      629     8.8      754     8.7      816     9.8      1,760     10.9   

State and political subdivisions    89     2.7      115     4.7      153     5.6      114     5.2      123     5.6   
Indirect lease financing    —     —      —     —      —     —      —     —      —     —   
Retail:                                                        

1-4 family residential mortgages    533     9.0      549     8.5      497     8.6      444     7.6      366     7.4   
Home equity loans and lines    386     6.9      310     8.9      338     9.9      357     10.3      353     11.3   
Consumer    265     0.6      230     0.8      164     0.8      57     0.9      76     0.9   

Unallocated    550           256           461           369           162        
Total  $ 10,826     100.0 %  $ 9,887     100.0 %  $ 8,834     100.0 %  $ 7,841     100.0 %  $ 7,394     100.0 % 

 
Gross loans represent loans before unamortized net loan fees and costs. Percent gross loans lists the percentage of each loan type to total 
loans. 
 
A loan is considered impaired, based on current information and events, if it is probable that QNB will be unable to collect the scheduled 
payments of principal or interest when due according to the contractual terms of the loan agreement. Factors considered by management 
in determining impairment include payment status, collateral value and the probability of collecting scheduled principal and interest 
payments when due. Loans that experience insignificant payment delays and payment shortfalls may not be classified as impaired. 
Management determines the significance of payment delays and shortfalls on a case-by-case basis, taking into consideration all the 
circumstances surrounding the loan and the borrower, including length of the delay, the reasons for the delay, the borrower’s prior 
payment record and the amount of the shortfall in relation to the principal and interest owed. Impairment is measured on a loan by loan 
basis for commercial loans by either the present value of expected future cash flows discounted at the loan’s effective interest rate or 
the fair value of the collateral, if the loan is collateral dependent. At December 31, 2020 and 2019, the recorded investment in loans for 
which impairment has been identified totaled $14,516,000 and $16,860,000, respectively, of which $6,432,000 and $8,082,000, 
respectively, required no specific allowance for loan loss. The recorded investment in impaired loans requiring an allowance for loan 
losses was $8,084,000 and $8,778,000 at December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively. At December 31, 2020 and 2019, the related 
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allowance for loan losses associated with these loans was $3,050,000 and $3,566,000, respectively. See Note 5 to the Notes to 
Consolidated Financial Statements included in Item 8 of this Form 10-K for additional detail of impaired loans. 
 
Allowance for Loan Losses                                         
    2020     2019     2018     2017     2016   
Allowance for loan losses:                                
Balance, January 1   $ 9,887    $ 8,834    $ 7,841    $ 7,394    $ 7,554   
                                 
Charge-offs                                

Commercial:                                
Commercial and industrial     268      207      —      960      140   
Construction     —      —      —      —      —   
Secured by commercial real estate     —      —      —      —      -   
Secured by residential real estate     —      51      77      23      120   

State and political subdivisions     —      —      —      —      —   
Indirect lease financing     —      —      —      —      52   
Retail:                                

1-4 family residential mortgages     —      —      1      —      —   
Home equity loans and lines     —      17      84      —      —   
Consumer     282      197      112      92      92   

Total charge-offs     550      472      274      1,075      404   
Recoveries                                

Commercial:                                
Commercial and industrial     40      33      40      34      37   
Construction     —      —      —      —      —   
Secured by commercial real estate     12      10      23      8      8   
Secured by residential real estate     68      123      27      38      112   

State and political subdivisions     —      —      —      —      —   
Indirect lease financing     —      —      —      —      9   
Retail:                                

1-4 family residential mortgages     —      —      —      —      —   
Home equity loans and lines     41      15      13      10      16   
Consumer     78      44      34      32      32   

Total recoveries     239      225      137      122      214   
Net charge-offs     (311 )    (247 )    (137 )    (953 )    (190 ) 
Provision for loan losses     1,250      1,300      1,130      1,400      30   
Balance, December 31   $ 10,826    $ 9,887    $ 8,834    $ 7,841    $ 7,394   
                                 
Total loans (excluding loans held-for-sale)                                

Average   $ 868,461    $ 811,413    $ 766,692    $ 682,292    $ 604,757   
Year-end     920,042      820,616      785,448      733,283      633,079   

                                 
Ratios:                                
Net charge-offs to:                                

Average loans     0.04 %    0.03 %    0.02 %    0.03 %    0.11 % 
Loans at year-end     0.03      0.03      0.02      0.03      0.11   
Allowance for loan losses     2.87      2.50      1.55      2.57      8.56   
Provision for loan losses     24.88      19.00      12.12      633.33      323.50   

                                 
Allowance for loan losses to:                                

Average loans     1.25 %    1.22 %    1.15 %    1.22 %    1.32 % 
Loans at year-end     1.18      1.20      1.12      1.17      1.23   

 
QNB had net loan charge-offs of $311,000, or 0.04% of average loans for 2020 compared with $247,000, or 0.03% of average loans for 
2019 and $137,000, or 0.02% of average loans for 2018. The majority of charge-offs recorded during these periods had specific reserves 
established during the allowance for loan loss calculation process prior to the decision to charge-off the loan.  The increase in commercial 
and industrial charge-offs in 2020 and 2019 was primarily related to a single relationship as well as in 2017.  
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Management believes the allowance for loan losses of $10,826,000 is adequate as of December 31, 2020, in relation to the estimate of 
known and inherent losses in the portfolio. 

Premises and equipment 

Premises and equipment includes a right-of-use asset of $4,258,000 and $3,821,000 at December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019 
respectively. The discount rates used in determining the initial value of the right of use assets are based on the FHLB Amortizing Fixed 
Loan Rate for the term of each lease.  QNB typically enters into lease agreements with an initial term of  5 to 10 years and subsequent 
additional optional terms in increments of 5 years.  The lease agreements also contain termination options. None of the leases contain 
purchase options and none transfer the ownership of the leased asset. QNB has renewed one operating lease during 2020. QNB has 
renewed one operating lease and entered into two new operating leases during 2019.   Operating lease liabilities are included with “Other 
liabilities” on the Consolidated Balance Sheets.  All operating lease costs are included in non-interest expense within “Net occupancy” 
on the Consolidated Statements of Income.  Other premises and equipment, net of depreciation decreased $641,000 to $11,146,000 at 
December 31, 2020.  QNB built a new building for a relocated branch and made improvements to a new leased space in the creation of 
its twelfth branch during 2019.  

Other assets 

Other assets, as presented in the table on Page 35, decreased $2,280,000 from $5,836,000 at December 31, 2019 to $3,556,000 at 
December 31, 2020. Most of the decrease in other assets relates to a $1,375,000 decrease to the deferred tax asset resulting from the fair 
value adjustment on investment securities available-for-sale of $1,434,000.  The detail of the net deferred tax asset can be found in Note 
11 in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. 

LIABILITIES 

The following table presents total liabilities at the dates indicated: 
 

                    Change from prior year   
Year ended December 31,   2020     2019     Amount     Percent   
Deposits   $ 1,228,067     $ 1,037,860     $ 190,207       18.3 % 
Short-term borrowings     58,838       55,931       2,907       5.2   
Long-term debt     10,000       —       10,000     N/M   
Accrued interest payable     350       909       (559 )     -61.5   
Other liabilities     8,529       9,606       (1,077 )     -11.2   
Total liabilities   $ 1,305,784     $ 1,104,306     $ 201,478       18.2 % 

 

Deposits 

QNB primarily attracts deposits from within its market area by offering various deposit products. These deposits are in the form of time 
deposits, which include certificates of deposit and individual retirement accounts (“IRAs”) which have a stated maturity, and non-
maturity deposit accounts, which include: non-interest-bearing demand accounts, interest-bearing demand accounts, money market 
accounts and savings accounts. 

Total deposits increased $190,207,000, or 18.3%, to $1,228,067,000 at December 31, 2020. This follows an increase of $22,262,000, or 
2.2%, to $1,037,860,000 at December 31, 2019. QNB has experienced growth in part due to market disruption created by bank mergers 
in its footprint throughout 2018, 2019 and 2020.  The growth in deposits as well as the mix of deposits continues to be impacted by 
customers’ reactions to the competition, regulations and the interest rate environment. Many customers are looking for transaction 
accounts that provide liquidity and pay a reasonable amount of interest, while others look for high rate. Time deposit balances decreased 
$38,491,000, or 16.3% between 2019 and 2020.  Customers appear to be looking for the safety of FDIC insured deposits and the stability 
of a strong local community bank. 

Non-interest-bearing demand accounts increased $58,314,000 to $204,584,000 at December 31, 2020. This followed growth of 
$17,655,000 between December 31, 2018 and December 31, 2019.  These deposits are both retail and commercial checking accounts 
and are volatile depending on the timing of deposits and withdrawals. QNB has been successful in attracting new customers and 
expanding relationships with existing customers, which provides an opportunity for fee income. 
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Interest-bearing demand accounts, retail and business interest checking and municipal accounts increased $62,446,000, or 18.8%, to 
$395,364,000 at December 31, 2020. All three segments experienced growth in 2020.  QNB has been successful in developing 
relationships with several school districts and municipalities as well as expanding existing relationships, the balances in these accounts 
are seasonal in nature and can be volatile on a daily basis. Most of the school district taxes are collected during the third quarter of the 
year and are disbursed over a nine-month period.  Business checking increased from $47,577,000 at December 31, 2019 to $55,051,000 
at December 31, 2020.   Retail checking accounts increased $50,688,000, or 29.2%, to $224,112,000 at December 31, 2020.  QNB 
continues to open a significant number of new checking accounts; additionally, customers may choose to switch products. Rewards 
checking balances increased $21,172,000 from $64,327,000 at December 31, 2019 to $85,499,000 at December 31, 2020, and personal 
interest-bearing balances increased $4,959,000.  The balances in the Select 50 product increased $24,403,000 from $91,249,000 at 
December 31, 2019 to $115,652,000 at December 31, 2020.  

Money Market accounts increased from $75,634,000 at December 31, 2019 to $96,811,000 at December 31, 2020 due to increases in 
both personal and business accounts. 

Total savings account balances increased $86,761,000, or 35.1%, to $334,223,000 at December 31, 2020. This increase is due primarily 
to an increase in the online eSavings account of $67,877,000, or 38.5%, to $244,243,000 at December 31, 2020.  The rate on eSavings 
accounts was changed from 0.80% at the end of 2019 to 0.40% in 2020.   

Total time deposit account balances were $197,085,000 at December 31, 2020, a decrease of $38,491,000, or 16.3%, from the amount 
reported at December 31, 2019. QNB was able to retain many maturing deposits during 2020 by offering competitive rates and many 
current customers move balances from more liquid accounts to take advantage of these rates.   
 

Maturity of Time Deposits of $100,000 or More                         
Year ended December 31,   2020     2019     2018   
Three months or less   $ 30,698     $ 41,618     $ 11,916   
Over three months through six months     10,201       10,828       7,447   
Over six months through twelve months     23,333       23,165       17,575   
Over twelve months     25,271       39,048       69,281   
Total   $ 89,503     $ 114,659     $ 106,219   

 
To continue to attract and retain deposits, QNB plans to remain competitive with respect to rates and to continue to deliver products 
with terms and features that appeal to customers. The QNB Rewards checking accounts and time deposits are examples of such products. 
 
The following table presents trends in balances and yield on the major deposit groups. 
 
Average Deposits by Major Classification                                                 

    2020     2019     2018   
    Balance     Rate     Balance     Rate     Balance     Rate   

Demand, non-interest bearing   $ 186,897             $ 142,072             $ 130,633           
Interest-bearing demand     252,050       0.26 %     212,415       0.47 %     194,372       0.35 % 
Municipals interest-bearing demand     119,673       0.57       112,539       1.80       106,411       1.44   
Money market     90,989       0.45       90,150       0.90       77,713       0.42   
Savings     288,285       0.40       242,859       0.66       266,946       0.62   
Time < $100,000     113,647       1.41       120,980       1.58       121,021       1.30   
Time of $100,000 or more     98,870       1.57       109,358       1.90       106,058       1.62   
Total   $ 1,150,411       0.53 %   $ 1,030,373       0.91 %   $ 1,003,154       0.75 % 
 

Short-term borrowings 
Short-term borrowings comprising commercial sweep accounts and overnight FHLB borrowings increased $2,907,000, or 5.2%, to 
$58,838,000 at December 31, 2020.  Overnight FHLB borrowings decreased $11,817,000, to $0 at December 31, 2020.  Commercial 
sweeps increased $14,724,000, or 33.4%, to $58,838,000 at December 31, 2020.  

Long-term debt 

Long-term debt comprises of $10,000,0000 in FHLB borrowings.  During 2020, QNB borrowed long-term debt of $10,000,000 at fixed 
rates to lock in at a low yield.  The average yield of 1.57% was 33 basis points lower than the yield on short-term FHLB borrowings.  
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Other liabilities 

Other liabilities comprise accrued expenses including salaries, post-retirement life insurance benefits and income taxes, operating lease 
liability, deferred revenue, and ATM/debit card processing clearing.  These balances decreased $1,077,000, to $8,529,000 at December 
31, 2020.    

Liquidity 
Liquidity represents an institution’s ability to generate cash or otherwise obtain funds at reasonable rates to satisfy demand for loans 
and deposit withdrawals. QNB attempts to manage its mix of cash and interest-bearing balances, Federal funds sold and investment 
securities to match the volatility, seasonality, interest sensitivity and growth trends of its loans and deposits. The Company manages its 
liquidity risk by measuring and monitoring its liquidity sources and estimated funding needs. Liquidity is provided from asset sources 
through repayments and maturities of loans and investment securities. The portfolio of investment securities classified as available for 
sale and QNB's policy of selling certain residential mortgage originations in the secondary market also provide sources of liquidity. 
Core deposits and cash management repurchase agreements have historically been the most significant funding source for QNB. These 
deposits and repurchase agreements are generated from a base of consumers, businesses and public funds primarily located in the 
Company’s market area. 

An additional source of liquidity is provided by the Bank’s membership in the FHLB. At December 31, 2020, the Bank had a maximum 
borrowing capacity with the FHLB of approximately $342,915,000, net of the $10,000,000 in long-term debt outstanding at year-end 
2020 and the $350,000 in FHLB-issued letters of credit. The maximum borrowing capacity changes depending upon the Bank’s level 
of qualifying collateral assets. QNB had $10,000,000 and $11,817,000 in FHLB borrowings at December 31, 2020 and 2019, 
respectively.  In addition, the Bank maintains five unsecured Federal funds lines with five correspondent banks totaling $101,000,000.  
At December 31, 2020 and 2019, there were no outstanding borrowings under these lines. Future availability under these lines is subject 
to the policies of the granting banks and may be withdrawn. As part of its contingency funding plan, QNB successfully tested its ability 
to borrow from these sources during the fourth quarter of 2020. 

Total cash and cash equivalents, equity and available-for-sale securities and loans held-for-sale totaled $494,396,000 at December 31, 
2020 and $377,459,000 at December 31, 2019, of which $220,934,000 and $205,016,000, respectively, were pledged as collateral for 
repurchase agreements and public deposits.  This increase in liquid sources is primarily the result of a $85,936,000 increase in available-
for-sale securities and a $21,723,000 increase in cash. Management anticipates that these liquid sources are adequate to meet normal 
fluctuations in loan demand or deposit withdrawals. It is anticipated that the investment portfolio will continue to provide sufficient 
liquidity as municipal bonds are called and as principal and interest payments on mortgage-backed and CMO securities provide steady 
cash flow. Increases in interest rates, however, result in decreased cash flow available from the investment portfolio. 

QNB is a member of the Certificate of Deposit Account Registry Services (“CDARS”) program offered by the Promontory Interfinancial 
Network, LLC.  CDARS is a funding and liquidity management tool used by banks to access funds and manage their balance sheet. It 
enables financial institutions to provide customers with full FDIC insurance on time deposits over $250,000 that are placed in the 
program. QNB also has available Insured Cash Sweep (“ICS”), another program through Promontory Interfinancial Network, LLC, 
which is a product similar to CDARS, but one that provides liquidity like a money market or savings account.  QNB had $2,440,000 in 
CDARS time deposits at December 31, 2020. 

SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY 

The following table presents total shareholders’ equity at the dates indicated: 
 

                    Change from prior year   
Year ended December 31,   2020     2019     Amount     Percent   
Common stock   $ 2,328     $ 2,303     $ 25       1.1 % 
Surplus     22,430       21,261       1,169       5.5   
Retained earnings     106,644       99,372       7,272       7.3   
Accumulated other comprehensive gain, net of tax     5,649       257       5,392     N/M   
Treasury stock     (2,606 )     (2,476 )     (130 )     5.3   
Total shareholders' equity   $ 134,445     $ 120,717     $ 13,728       11.4 % 

 
Total shareholders’ equity increased $13,728,000, or 11.4%, to $134,445,000 at December 31, 2020 with retained earnings (net income 
less dividends paid) contributing $7,272,000 and the dividend reinvestment and stock purchase plan, employee stock purchase plan and 
stock option plan contributing $1,082,000.   During 2020, QNB purchased $130,000 in treasury stock. 
 
Accumulated other comprehensive gain increased $5,392,000 to a $5,649,000 gain, resulting from the increase in fair value of the 
available-for-sale investment portfolio due to maturities of securities and calls on securities being replaced during 2020. 
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QNB remains “well capitalized” based on FDIC requirements. 
 

Capital Adequacy 
A strong capital position is fundamental to support continued growth and profitability and to serve the needs of depositors. QNB’s 
shareholders’ equity at December 31, 2020 was $134,445,000, or 9.33% of total assets, compared with shareholders’ equity of 
$120,717,000, or 9.85% of total assets, at December 31, 2019. Shareholders’ equity at December 31, 2020 included a positive adjustment 
of $5,649,000 related to unrealized holding losses, net of taxes, on investment securities available for sale. At December 31, 2019, 
shareholders’ equity included a positive adjustment of $257,000 related to unrealized holding losses, net of taxes, on investment 
securities available for sale. Excluding these adjustments, shareholders’ equity to total assets would have been 8.98% and 9.84% at 
December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively. 

Average shareholders’ equity and average total assets were $123,790,000 and $1,343,984,000 for 2020, an increase of 6.0% and 10.9%, 
respectively, from 2019 average equity and average total assets of $116,771,000 and $1,212,040,000, respectively. The ratio of average 
total equity to total average assets was 9.21% for 2020, compared with 9.63% for 2019. 

QNB is subject to restrictions on the payment of dividends to its shareholders pursuant to the Pennsylvania Business Corporation Law 
of 1988 as amended (the BCL). The BCL operates generally to preclude dividend payments, if the effect thereof would render QNB 
insolvent, as defined. As a practical matter, QNB’s payment of dividends is contingent upon its ability to obtain funding in the form of 
dividends from the Bank. Under Pennsylvania banking law, the Bank is subject to certain restrictions on the amount of dividends that it 
may declare without prior regulatory approval. At December 31, 2020, the retained earnings of the Bank totaling $113,178,000 was 
available for dividends without prior Pennsylvania Department of Banking approval, subject to the regulatory capital requirements 
discussed below. The approval of the Federal Reserve is required for a state bank member in the Federal Reserve system to pay dividends 
if the total of all dividends declared in any calendar year exceeds the Bank’s net profits (as defined) for that year combined with its 
retained net profits for the preceding two calendar years. Under this formula, the Bank can declare dividends in 2021 without approval 
of the Federal Reserve of approximately $21,883,000 plus an additional amount equal to the Bank’s net profits for 2021 up to the date 
of any such dividend declaration.  QNB paid dividends to its shareholders of $1.36 per share, $1.32 per share, and $1.28 per share, in 
2020, 2019, and 2018, respectively. 

QNB is subject to various regulatory capital requirements as issued by Federal regulatory authorities. Regulatory capital is defined in 
terms of Tier 1 capital and Tier 2. Risk-based capital ratios are expressed as a percentage of risk-weighted assets. Risk-weighted assets 
are determined by assigning various weights to all assets and off-balance sheet arrangements, such as letters of credit and loan 
commitments, based on associated risk. QNB is subject to various regulatory capital requirements as issued by Federal regulatory 
authorities. The final rules implementing the Basel Committee on Banking Supervision’s capital guidelines for U.S. banks (“Basel III”) 
became effective for QNB on January 1, 2015 and was fully phased-in by January 1, 2019. 

Under the final rules, minimum requirements increased for both the quantity and quality of capital held by banks. The rules included a 
new common equity Tier 1 capital to risk-weighted assets minimum ratio of 4.5%, raised the minimum ratio of Tier 1 capital to risk-
weighted assets from 4.0% to 6.0%, required a minimum ratio of Total Capital to risk-weighted assets of 8.0%, and required a minimum 
Tier 1 leverage ratio of 4.0%. A new capital conservation buffer, comprised of common equity Tier 1 capital, was also established above 
the regulatory minimum capital requirements. This capital conservation buffer was phased in beginning January 1, 2016, at 0.625% of 
risk-weighted assets and increase each subsequent year by an additional 0.625% until reaching its final level of 2.5% on January 1, 2019. 
Strict eligibility criteria for regulatory capital instruments were also implemented. The final rules also revised the definition and 
calculation of Tier 1 capital, Total Capital, and risk-weighted assets. QNB and the Bank had enough capital to meet the fully phased in 
buffer on January 1, 2019.   

QNB offers a Dividend Reinvestment and Stock Purchase Plan (the “Plan”) to provide participants a convenient and economical method 
for investing cash dividends paid on the Company’s common stock in additional shares at a discount. The Plan also allows participants 
to make additional cash purchases of stock at a discount. Stock purchases under the Plan contributed $898,000 and $863,000 to capital 
during 2020 and 2019, respectively. 

The Board of Directors has authorized the repurchase of up to 100,000 shares of QNB’s common stock in open market or privately 
negotiated transactions. The repurchase authorization does not bear a termination date. As of December 31, 2019, 57,883 shares were 
repurchased under this authorization at an average price of $16.97 and a total cost of $982,000. During 2020, 4,100 shares were 
repurchased at an average price of $31.75.  As of December 31, 2020, a total of 61,983 shares were repurchased under this authorization 
at an average price of $17.95 and a total cost of $1,112,000. 
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The Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation Improvement Act of 1991 established five capital level designations for insured institutions 
ranging from “well capitalized” to “critically undercapitalized.” At December 31, 2020 and 2019, management believes that the 
Company and the Bank met all capital adequacy requirements to which they are subject and have met the “well capitalized” criteria. 
 

Capital Analysis   
December 31,   2020     2019   
Regulatory Capital                 
Shareholders' equity   $ 134,445     $ 120,717   
Net unrealized securities losses, net of tax     (5,649 )     (257 ) 
Deferred tax assets on net operating loss     —       —   
Disallowed goodwill and other disallowed intangible assets     (8 )     (8 ) 
Common equity tier I capital     128,788       120,452   
                
Tier 1 capital     128,788       120,452   
Allowable portion: Allowance for loan losses and reserve for 
   unfunded commitments     10,917       9,960   
Total regulatory capital   $ 139,705     $ 130,412   
Risk-weighted assets   $ 1,001,561     $ 943,725   
Quarterly average assets for leverage capital purposes   $ 1,419,404     $ 1,232,064   

 
Capital Ratios   

December 31,   2020     2019   
Common equity tier I capital / risk-weighted assets    12.86 %    12.76 % 
Tier 1 capital / risk-weighted assets    12.86 %    12.76 % 
Total regulatory capital / risk-weighted assets    13.95 %    13.82 % 
Tier 1 capital / average assets (leverage ratio)    9.07 %    9.78 % 

 

Contractual Obligations, Commitments, and Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements 

QNB has various financial obligations, including contractual obligations and commitments, which may require future cash payments. 

The following table presents, as of December 31, 2020, significant contractual obligations to third parties by payment date and the 
amounts and expected maturities of significant commitments. Further discussion of the nature of each obligation can be found in the 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. The Company’s reserve for unfunded commitments totaled $91,000 and $73,000 at  
December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019, respectively. 
 

December 31, 2020   
One year 

or less     

After one 
year 

through 
three years     

After three 
years 

through 
five years     

After 
five years     Total   

Time deposits   $ 131,190     $ 40,446     $ 25,449     $ —     $ 197,085   
Short-term borrowings     58,838       —       —       —       58,838   
Long-term debt     —       10,000       —       —       10,000   
Operating leases     587       1,113       831       3,488       6,019   
Commitments to extend credit (a)     206,166       25,518       14,602       50,251       296,537   
Standby letters of credit     20,352       2,215       —       —       22,567   
Total   $ 417,133     $ 79,292     $ 40,882     $ 53,739     $ 591,046   
 
(a) Includes available amounts for overdraft protection program in one year or less 
 
Commitments to extend credit, including loan commitments, standby letters of credit, and commercial letters of credit do not necessarily 
represent future cash requirements, as these commitments often expire without being drawn upon. The Company does not currently 
have any commitments for significant capital expenditures or other purchase obligations. 
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Market Risk Management 

Market risk reflects the risk of economic loss resulting from changes in interest rates and market prices. QNB’s primary market risk 
exposure is interest rate risk and liquidity risk. QNB’s liquidity position was discussed in a prior section. 

QNB’s largest source of revenue is net interest income, which is subject to changes in market interest rates. Interest rate risk management 
seeks to minimize the effect of interest rate changes on net interest margins and interest rate spreads and to provide growth in net interest 
income through periods of changing interest rates. QNB’s Asset/Liability and Investment Management Committee (“ALCO”) is 
responsible for managing interest rate risk and for evaluating the impact of changing interest rate conditions on net interest income. 

QNB uses computer simulation analysis to measure the sensitivity of projected earnings to changes in interest rates.  Simulation 
considers current balance sheet volumes and the scheduled repricing dates, instrument level optionality, and maturities of assets and 
liabilities.  It incorporates assumptions for growth, changes in the mix of assets and liabilities, prepayments, and average rates earned 
and paid.  Based on this information, management uses the model to project net interest income under multiple interest rate scenarios. 

A balance sheet is considered liability sensitive when its liabilities (deposits and borrowings) reprice faster or to a greater extent than its 
earning assets (loans and securities). A liability sensitive balance sheet will produce relatively less net interest income when interest 
rates rise and more net interest income when they decline.  Based on our simulation analysis, management believes QNB’s interest 
sensitivity position at December 31, 2020 is liability sensitive.  Management expects that market interest rates may gradually increase 
in the next 12 months, based on the economic environment and policy of the Federal Reserve. 

The following table shows the estimated impact of changes in interest rates on net interest income as of December 31, 2020 and 2019 
assuming instantaneous rate shocks, and consistent levels of assets and liabilities.  Net interest income for the subsequent twelve months 
is projected to decrease when interest rates are higher than current rates. 
 

Estimated change in net interest income   
Change in interest rates   December 31,   

(basis points)   2020     2019   
+300    -4.2 %    -7.7 % 
+200    -1.4 %    -4.8 % 
+100    -0.1 %    -2.1 % 
-100    -3.9 %    -2.0 % 

 
Computations of future effects of hypothetical interest rate changes are based on numerous assumptions and should not be relied upon 
as indicative of actual results.   Assets and liabilities may react differently than projected to changes in market interest rates.  The interest 
rates on certain types of assets and liabilities may fluctuate in advance of changes in market interest rates, while rates on other types of 
assets and liabilities may lag changes in market interest rates.  Interest rate shifts may not be parallel. 

Changes in interest rates can cause substantial changes in the amount of prepayments of loans and mortgage-backed securities, which 
may in turn affect QNB’s interest rate sensitivity position.  Additionally, credit risk may rise if an interest rate increase adversely affects 
the ability of borrowers to service their debt. 

QNB is not subject to foreign currency exchange or commodity price risk. At December 31, 2020, QNB did not have any hedging 
transactions in place such as interest rate swaps, caps or floors.  
 

RECENTLY ISSUED ACCOUNTING STANDARDS 
Refer to Note 1 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for discussion of recently issued accounting standards. 
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ESTIMATES 
Disclosure of the Company’s significant accounting policies is included in Note 1 to Consolidated Financial Statements. Additional 
information is contained in Management’s Discussion and Analysis and the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for the most 
sensitive of these issues. The discussion and analysis of the financial condition and results of operations are based on the consolidated 
financial statements of QNB, which are prepared in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”) and 
predominant practices within the banking industry. The preparation of these consolidated financial statements requires QNB to make 
estimates and judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses, and related disclosure of contingent 
assets and liabilities. QNB evaluates estimates on an on-going basis, including those related to the determination of the allowance for 
loan losses, the determination of the valuation of other real estate owned, other-than-temporary impairments on investment securities, 
the determination of impairment of restricted bank stock, the valuation of deferred tax assets, stock-based compensation and income 
taxes. QNB bases its estimates on historical experience and various other factors and assumptions that are believed to be reasonable 
under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making judgments about the carrying values of assets and liabilities that 
are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates under different assumptions or conditions. 

Other-than-Temporary Investment Security Impairment 
Securities are evaluated periodically to determine whether a decline in their value is other-than-temporary. Management utilizes criteria 
such as the magnitude and duration of the decline, in addition to the reasons underlying the decline, to determine whether the loss in 
value is other-than-temporary. The term “other-than-temporary” is not intended to indicate that the decline is permanent, but indicates 
that the prospect for a near-term recovery of value is not necessarily favorable, or that there is a lack of evidence to support a realizable 
value equal to or greater than the carrying value of the investment.  

The Company follows the accounting guidance in Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) Accounting Standards Codification 
(“ASC”) 320-10 as it relates to the recognition and presentation of other-than-temporary impairment (“OTTI”). This accounting 
guidance specifies that (a) if a company does not have the intent to sell a debt security prior to recovery and (b) it is more likely than 
not that it will not have to sell the debt security prior to recovery, the security would not be considered other-than-temporarily impaired 
unless there is a credit loss. When an entity does not intend to sell the security, and it is more likely than not, the entity will not have to 
sell the security before recovery of its cost basis, it will recognize the credit component of an other-than-temporary impairment of a debt 
security in earnings and the remaining portion in other comprehensive income. For held to maturity debt securities, the amount of an 
other-than-temporary impairment recorded in other comprehensive income for the non-credit portion of a previous other-than-temporary 
impairment should be amortized prospectively over the remaining life of the security on the basis of the timing of future estimated cash 
flows of the security.  For equity securities without a readily determinable market value, once a decline in value is determined to be 
other-than-temporary, the value of the equity security is reduced to fair value and a corresponding charge to earnings is recognized. 

Allowance for Loan Losses 
QNB considers that the determination of the allowance for loan losses involves a higher degree of judgment and complexity than its 
other significant accounting policies. The allowance for loan losses is calculated with the objective of maintaining a level believed by 
management to be sufficient to absorb probable known and inherent losses in the outstanding loan portfolio. The allowance is reduced 
by actual credit losses and is increased by the provision for loan losses and recoveries of previous losses. The provisions for loan losses 
are charged to earnings to bring the total allowance for loan losses to a level considered necessary by management. 

The allowance for loan losses is based on management’s continual review and evaluation of the loan portfolio. The level of the allowance 
is determined by assigning specific reserves to individually identified problem credits and general reserves to all other loans. The portion 
of the allowance that is allocated to impaired loans is determined by estimating the inherent loss on each credit after giving consideration 
to the value of underlying collateral. The general reserves are based on the composition and risk characteristics of the loan portfolio, 
including the nature of the loan portfolio, credit concentration trends, delinquency and loss experience, as well as other qualitative 
factors such as current economic trends. 

Management emphasizes loan quality and close monitoring of potential problem credits. Credit risk identification and review processes 
are utilized in order to assess and monitor the degree of risk in the loan portfolio. QNB’s lending and credit administration staff are 
charged with reviewing the loan portfolio and identifying changes in the economy or in a borrower’s circumstances which may affect 
the ability to repay debt or the value of pledged collateral. A loan classification and review system exists that identifies those loans with 
a higher than normal risk of collection. Each commercial loan is assigned a grade based upon an assessment of the borrower’s financial 
capacity to service the debt and the presence and value of collateral for the loan. An independent loan review group tests risk assessments 
and evaluates the adequacy of the allowance for loan losses. Management meets monthly to review the credit quality of the loan portfolio 
and quarterly to review the allowance for loan losses. 
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In addition, various regulatory agencies, as an integral part of their examination process, periodically review QNB’s allowance for loan 
losses. Such agencies may require QNB to recognize additions to the allowance based on their judgments about information available 
to them at the time of their examination. Management believes that it uses the best information available to make determinations about 
the adequacy of the allowance and that it has established its existing allowance for loan losses in accordance with GAAP. If 
circumstances differ substantially from the assumptions used in making determinations, future adjustments to the allowance for loan 
losses may be necessary and results of operations could be affected. Because future events affecting borrowers and collateral cannot be 
predicted with certainty, increases to the allowance may be necessary should the quality of any loans deteriorate as a result of the factors 
discussed above. 

Foreclosed Assets 
Assets acquired through, or in lieu of, loan foreclosure are held for sale and are initially recorded at fair value less cost to sell at the date 
of foreclosure, establishing a new cost basis. Subsequent to foreclosure, valuations are periodically performed by management and the 
assets are carried at the lower of carrying amount or fair value less cost to sell. Revenue and expenses and changes in the valuation 
allowance are included in net expenses from foreclosed assets. 

Stock-Based Compensation 
QNB sponsored stock-based compensation plans, administered by a Board committee, under which both qualified and nonqualified 
stock options may be granted periodically to certain employees. QNB accounts for all awards granted under stock-based compensation 
plans in accordance with ASC 718, Compensation – Stock Compensation. Compensation cost has been measured using the fair value of 
an award on the grant date and is recognized over the service period, which is usually the vesting period. The fair value of each option 
is amortized into compensation expense on a straight-line basis between the grant date for the option and each vesting date. QNB 
estimates the fair value of stock options on the date of the grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing model. The model requires the 
use of numerous assumptions, many of which are highly subjective in nature. 

Income Taxes 
QNB accounts for income taxes under the asset/liability method in accordance with income tax accounting guidance, ASC 740 – Income 
Taxes. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future tax consequences attributable to differences between the financial 
statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases, as well as operating loss and tax credit 
carryforwards. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years 
in which those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled. The effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change 
in tax rates is recognized in income in the period that includes the enactment date. A valuation allowance is established against deferred 
tax assets when, in the judgment of management, it is more likely than not that such deferred tax assets will not become available. 
Because the judgment about the level of future taxable income is dependent to a great extent on matters that may, at least in part, be 
beyond QNB’s control, it is at least reasonably possible that management’s judgment about the need for a valuation allowance for 
deferred taxes could change in the near term. 
 
 
ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK 

The information required in response to this item is set forth in Item 7, above. 
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ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA 

The following audited financial statements are set forth in this Annual Report on Form 10-K on the following pages: 
 
  

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm Page 54 
Consolidated Balance Sheets Page 56 
Consolidated Statements of Income Page 57 
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income Page 58 
Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equity Page 59 
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows Page 60 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements Page 61 
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Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting 

March 12, 2021 

Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting, as such term is defined 
in Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(f). Management assessed the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as 
of December 31, 2020, in relation to criteria for effective internal control over financial reporting as described in “Internal Control 
Integrated Framework (2013),” issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (“COSO”). Based 
on this assessment, management concludes that, as of December 31, 2020, the Company’s system of internal control over financial 
reporting is effective and meets the criteria of the “Internal Control Integrated Framework (2013).” 

 
 
/s/ David W. Freeman  /s/ Janice McCracken Erkes 
David W. Freeman  Janice McCracken Erkes 
Chief Executive Officer  Chief Financial Officer 
 



- 54 - 

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm 
 
To the shareholders and the Board of Directors of QNB Corp.: 

Opinion on the Financial Statements 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of QNB Corp. and subsidiary (the "Company") as of December 31, 
2020 and 2019, the related consolidated statements of income, comprehensive income, shareholders' equity, and cash flows, for each of 
the three years in the period ended December 31, 2020, and the related notes (collectively referred to as the "consolidated financial 
statements"). In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the 
Company as of December 31, 2020 and 2019, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period 
ended December 31, 2020, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 

Basis for Opinions 

These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion 
on the Company's consolidated financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public 
Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB) and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in 
accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission 
and the PCAOB. 

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit 
to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to 
error or fraud. The Company is not required to have, nor were we engaged to perform, an audit of its internal control over financial 
reporting. As part of our audits we are required to obtain an understanding of internal control over financial reporting but not for the 
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company's internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we 
express no such opinion. 

Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether 
due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, 
evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the 
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the 
consolidated financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion. 

Critical Audit Matter 

The critical audit matter communicated below is a matter arising from the current period audit of the financial statements that was 
communicated or required to be communicated to the audit committee and that: (1) relates to accounts or disclosures that are material 
to the financial statements and (2) involved our especially challenging, subjective, or complex judgments. The communication of critical 
audit matters does not alter in any way our opinion on the financial statements, taken as a whole, and we are not, by communicating the 
critical audit matter below, providing a separate opinion on the critical audit matter or on the accounts or disclosures to which it relates. 

Allowance for Loan Losses – Qualitative Factor Adjustments 

Critical Audit Matter Description 

As disclosed in Note 1 to the Company's consolidated financial statements, the Company maintains an allowance for loan losses that is 
intended to absorb probable known and inherent losses in the outstanding loan portfolio based on management's continuing review and 
evaluation of the loan portfolio. The Company's allowance for loan losses was $10,826,000 as of December 31, 2020. As described in 
the note, the allowance for loan losses consists of specific and general reserve components in order to estimate losses that have been 
incurred as of the consolidated balance sheet date. The general component is determined through historical loss rates based on loan type 
and qualitative factor adjustments for changes not reflected in historical losses. 

The determination of qualitative factor adjustments involves a high degree of management judgment including consideration of the 
following internal and external factors: changes in lending policies and procedures, including underwriting standards and collection, 
charge-off, and recovery practices, changes in legal and regulatory requirements, changes in economic and business conditions, changes 
in the nature and volume of the loan portfolio, changes in the experience or ability of lending management, changes in the volume of 
past due, classified and nonaccrual loans, changes in the quality of the Company's loan review system, changes in oversight by the 
Company's board of directors, the effects of the COVID-19 Pandemic and the existence and effect of any concentrations of credit. 
Changes to these factors could have a material impact on the Company's financial results. 
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The allowance for loan losses is an accounting estimate with significant measurement uncertainty and involves the application of 
significant judgement by management. Therefore, a high degree of auditor judgement and significant auditor effort was required in 
evaluating the audit evidence obtained related to the qualitative factor adjustments used by management in the calculation. 
 
How the Critical Audit Matter was Addressed in the Audit 

The primary procedures we performed to address this critical audit matter included: 

Testing the design and operating effectiveness of internal controls related to the evaluation of the assumptions and inputs used to evaluate 
the qualitative factors, including controls addressing: 
 

• Management's review of the completeness and accuracy of underlying data inputs used as the basis for determination of 
qualitative factor adjustments; 

• Management's determination of impaired loans excluded from the general reserve component of the allowance for loan 
losses; 

• Management's judgements related to the qualitative and quantitative assessment of underlying data used in the determination 
of qualitative loss factors; and, 

• Management's review of the qualitative factors for mathematical accuracy. 
 

Substantively testing the appropriateness of the judgements and assumptions used in management's estimation process for developing 
the qualitative factor adjustments, including: 
 

• Assessing whether all relevant factors have been considered that affect the collectability of the loan portfolio; 
• Evaluation of the relevance and reliability of underlying internal and external data inputs used as a basis for the qualitative loss 

factor adjustments and corroboration of these inputs by comparison to the Company's lending practices, historical loan portfolio 
performance, and third-party macroeconomic data; 

• Evaluation of the propriety of impaired loans excluded from the general reserve component of the allowance for loan losses; 
• Evaluation of the accuracy of risk ratings, including loan modifications; 
• Recalculation of the allowance for loan loss and allocation of qualitative loss factors to the appropriate loan segments 
 

 
/s/ Baker Tilly US, LLP  
 
We have served as the Company's auditor since 2007. 
 
Baker Tilly US, LLP (formerly known as Baker Tilly Virchow Krause, LLP) 
Iselin, New Jersey 
 
March 12, 2021  
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS   
 
    (in thousands, except share data)   
December 31,   2020     2019   
Assets               
Cash and due from banks   $ 13,422     $ 12,398   
Interest-bearing deposits in banks     25,909       5,210   

Total cash and cash equivalents     39,331       17,608   
Investment securities:               

Available-for-sale (amortized cost $428,495 and  $349,385)     435,646       349,710   
Equity securities (cost of $12,784 and $9,053)     12,849       9,164   

Restricted investment in bank stocks     1,041       1,073   
Loans held-for-sale     6,570       977   
Loans receivable     920,042       820,616   

Allowance for loan losses     (10,826 )     (9,887 ) 
Net loans     909,216       810,729   

Bank-owned life insurance     11,791       11,490   
Premises and equipment, net     15,404       15,608   
Accrued interest receivable     4,825       2,828   
Net deferred tax assets     66       1,441   
Other assets     3,490       4,395   
Total assets   $ 1,440,229     $ 1,225,023   
                
Liabilities               
Deposits               

Demand, non-interest bearing   $ 204,584     $ 146,270   
Interest-bearing demand     395,364       332,918   
Money market     96,811       75,634   
Savings     334,223       247,462   
Time     107,582       120,917   
Time of $100 or more     89,503       114,659   

Total deposits     1,228,067       1,037,860   
Short-term borrowings     58,838       55,931   
Long-term debt     10,000       —   
Accrued interest payable     350       909   
Other liabilities     8,529       9,606   
Total liabilities     1,305,784       1,104,306   
                
Shareholders' Equity               
Common stock, par value $0.625 per share; authorized 10,000,000 shares; 3,725,202 
   shares and 3,684,336 shares issued; 3,556,533 and 3,519,767 shares outstanding     2,328       2,303   
Surplus     22,430       21,261   
Retained earnings     106,644       99,372   
Accumulated other comprehensive gain, net of tax     5,649       257   
Treasury stock, at cost; 168,669 and 164,569 shares     (2,606 )     (2,476 ) 
Total shareholders' equity     134,445       120,717   
Total liabilities and shareholders' equity   $ 1,440,229     $ 1,225,023   
 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements. 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME   
  

   (in thousands, except per share data)   
Year ended December 31,   2020     2019     2018   
Interest income                         
Interest and fees on loans   $ 36,504     $ 38,187     $ 34,939   
Interest and dividends on investment securities (AFS & Equity):                      

Taxable     5,668       6,568       6,280   
Tax-exempt     1,405       1,529       1,845   

Interest on interest-bearing balances and other interest income     116       134       136   
Total interest income     43,693       46,418       43,200   

                       
Interest expense                      
Interest on deposits                      

Interest-bearing demand     1,347       3,013       2,226   
Money market     405       815       329   
Savings     1,155       1,605       1,657   
Time     1,599       1,908       1,578   
Time of $100 or more     1,556       2,083       1,723   

Interest on short-term borrowings     247       700       672   
Interest on long-term debt     136       —       —   

Total interest expense     6,445       10,124       8,185   
Net interest income     37,248       36,294       35,015   

Provision for loan losses     1,250       1,300       1,130   
Net interest income after provision for loan losses     35,998       34,994       33,885   

                          
Non-interest income                      
Net unrealized (loss) gain on investment equity securities     (47 )     770       (336 ) 
Net gain (loss) on sale of investment securities     609       1,755       (76 ) 
Net gain (loss)  on investment securities     562       2,525       (412 ) 
Fees for services to customers     1,315       1,691       1,699   
ATM and debit card     2,195       2,070       1,895   
Retail brokerage and advisory     581       560       370   
Bank-owned life insurance     294       292       291   
Merchant     417       348       326   
Net gain on sale of loans     1,724       195       105   
Other     514       636       618   

Total non-interest income     7,602       8,317       4,892   
                       

Non-interest expense                      
Salaries and employee benefits     16,541       16,086       14,411   
Net occupancy     2,164       2,040       1,872   
Furniture and equipment     2,750       2,496       2,165   
Marketing     876       1,042       927   
Third party services     1,923       1,853       1,889   
Telephone, postage and supplies     736       720       685   
State taxes     887       760       727   
FDIC insurance premiums     569       269       624   
Other     2,509       2,838       2,585   

Total non-interest expense     28,955       28,104       25,885   
Income before income taxes     14,645       15,207       12,892   

Provision for income taxes     2,562       2,850       1,557   
Net income   $ 12,083     $ 12,357     $ 11,335   
Earnings per share - basic   $ 3.42     $ 3.53     $ 3.27   
Earnings per share - diluted   $ 3.42     $ 3.53     $ 3.25   
Cash dividends per share   $ 1.36     $ 1.32     $ 1.28   

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements. 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
 

   (in thousands)   
Year ended December 31,   2020     2019     2018   

    

Before 
tax 

amount     

Tax 
expense 
(benefit)     

Net of 
tax 

amount     

Before 
tax 

amount     

Tax 
expense 
(benefit)     

Net of 
tax 

amount     

Before 
tax 

amount     

Tax 
expense 
(benefit)     

Net of 
tax 

amount   
Net income   $ 14,645     $ 2,562     $ 12,083    $ 15,207     $ 2,850     $ 12,357    $ 12,892     $ 1,557     $ 11,335   
Other comprehensive income 
gain:                                                              

Net unrealized holding 
gains on securities:                                                              

Unrealized holding 
gains arising during 
the period     6,850       1,439       5,411      9,327       1,959       7,368      (3,156 )     (663 )     (2,493 ) 

Reclassification 
adjustment for 
gains included in 
net income     (24 )     (5 )     (19 )    26       5       21      (3 )     (1 )     (2 ) 

      6,826       1,434       5,392      9,353       1,964       7,389      (3,159 )     (664 )     (2,495 ) 
Total comprehensive income   $ 21,471     $ 3,996     $ 17,475    $ 24,560     $ 4,814     $ 19,746    $ 9,733     $ 893     $ 8,840   
 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY 
 
                                    Accumulated                  
    Number of                             Other                  
    Shares     Common             Retained     Comprehensive     Treasury          
    Outstanding     Stock     Surplus     Earnings     Income (Loss)     Stock     Total   
Balance, December 31, 2017     3,448,108     $ 2,258    $ 18,691    $ 84,183    $ (4,086 )  $ (2,476 )  $ 98,570   
Net income             —      —      11,335      —      —      11,335   
Other comprehensive loss, net of tax             —      —      —      (2,495 )    —      (2,495 ) 
Cash dividends declared ($1.28 per share)             —      —      (4,434 )    —      —      (4,434 ) 
Equity securities fair value reclassification (1)            -      -      (254 )    254      —      -   
ASU 2018-02 stranded tax reclassification  (2)            -      -      805      (805 )    —      -   
Stock issued in connection with dividend 
   reinvestment and stock purchase plan     23,302       14      965      —      —      —      979   
Stock issued for employee stock purchase 
   plan     2,963     2    115      —      —      —      117   
Stock issued for options exercised     9,707     6    153      —      —      —      159   
Stock-based compensation expense            —    117      —      —      —      117   
Balance, December 31, 2018     3,484,080     $ 2,280     $ 20,041     $ 91,635     $ (7,132 )   $ (2,476 )   $ 104,348   
Net income             —       —       12,357       —       —       12,357   
Other comprehensive loss, net of tax           —       —       —       7,389       —       7,389   
Cash dividends declared ($1.32 per share)           —       —       (4,620 )     —       —       (4,620 ) 
Stock issued in connection with dividend 
   reinvestment and stock purchase plan     24,264      16       847       —       —       —       863   
Stock issued for employee stock purchase 
   plan     3,310      2       109       —       —       —       111   
Stock issued for options exercised     8,113      5       146       —       —       —       151   
Stock-based compensation expense           -       118       —       —       —       118   
Balance, December 31, 2019     3,519,767    $ 2,303     $ 21,261     $ 99,372     $ 257     $ (2,476 )   $ 120,717   
Net income           —       —       12,083       —       —       12,083   
Other comprehensive loss, net of tax           —       —       —       5,392       —       5,392   
Cash dividends declared ($1.36 per share)           —       —       (4,811 )     —       —       (4,811 ) 
Treasury stock purchase     (4,100 )    —       —       —       —       (130 )     (130 ) 
Stock issued in connection with dividend 
   reinvestment and stock purchase plan     32,022      19       879       —       —       —       898   
Stock issued for employee stock purchase 
   plan     5,723      4       143       —       —       —       147   
Stock issued for options exercised     3,121      2       35       —       —       —       37   
Stock-based compensation expense           —       112       —       —       —       112   
Balance, December 31, 2020     3,556,533    $ 2,328     $ 22,430     $ 106,644     $ 5,649     $ (2,606 )   $ 134,445   
                                                         
(1) Refer to Note 1, ASU 2016-01                                                        
(2) Refer to Note 1, ASU 2018-02                                                        
                                                         
 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements. 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 
 

   (in thousands)   
Year ended December 31,   2020     2019     2018   
Operating Activities                      

Net income   $ 12,083     $ 12,357     $ 11,335   
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:                      

Depreciation and amortization     2,035       1,832       990   
Provision for loan losses     1,250       1,300       1,130   
Net (gain) loss on investment debt and equity securities     (609 )     (1,755 )     76   
Net unrealized loss (gain) on equity securities     47       (770 )     336   
Net gain on sale of other real estate owned, repossessed assets and 
   premises and equipment     —       (51 )     (1 ) 
Net gain on sale of loans     (1,724 )     (195 )     (105 ) 
Proceeds from sales of residential mortgages held-for-sale     35,605       7,324       4,478   
Origination of residential mortgages held-for-sale     (39,474 )     (8,106 )     (4,373 ) 
Income on bank-owned life insurance     (294 )     (292 )     (291 ) 
Stock-based compensation expense     112       118       117   
Deferred income tax (benefit) provision     (59 )     319       258   
Net increase (decrease) in income taxes payable     215       (29 )     (230 ) 
Net decrease (increase) in accrued interest receivable     (1,997 )     24       693   
Amortization of mortgage servicing rights and change in valuation 
   allowance     157       65       65   
Net amortization of premiums and discounts on investment securities     2,473       1,501       1,434   
Net (decrease) increase in accrued interest payable     (559 )     460       65   
Operating lease payments     (654 )     (583 )     —   
Decrease in other assets     525       423       73   
(Decrease) increase in other liabilities     (1,531 )     (44 )     601   

Net cash provided by operating activities     7,601       13,898       16,651   
Investing Activities                      

Proceeds from payments, maturities and calls of investment debt securities 
   available-for-sale     207,245       68,174       48,074   
Proceeds from the sale of investment securities available-for-sale     6,930       47,851       4,159   
Purchases of investment securities available-for-sale     (295,734 )     (113,688 )     (26,473 ) 
Proceeds from the sale of equity securities     4,767       11,838       4,902   
Purchases of equity securities     (7,914 )     (9,030 )     (9,763 ) 
Proceeds from redemption of investment in restricted bank stock     1,495       9,675       10,320   
Purchase of restricted bank stock     (1,463 )     (9,951 )     (9,616 ) 
Net increase in loans     (99,737 )     (35,415 )     (52,302 ) 
Net purchases of premises and equipment     (722 )     (3,086 )     (2,413 ) 
Proceeds from sales of other real estate owned and repossessed assets     —       58       1   

Net cash used in investing activities     (185,133 )     (33,574 )     (33,111 ) 
Financing Activities                      

Net increase (decrease) in non-interest bearing deposits     58,314       17,655       (597 ) 
Net increase in interest-bearing deposits     131,893       4,607       22,247   
Net increase (decrease) in short-term borrowings     2,907       5,059       (4,884 ) 
Issuance of long-term debt     10,000       —       —   
Treasury stock purchase     (130 )     —       —   
Cash dividends paid, net of reinvestment     (4,226 )     (4,086 )     (3,863 ) 
Proceeds from issuance of common stock     497       591       684   

Net cash provided by financing activities     199,255       23,826       13,587   
Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents     21,723       4,150       (2,873 ) 
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year     17,608       13,458       16,331   
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period   $ 39,331     $ 17,608     $ 13,458   

Supplemental Cash Flow Disclosures                      
Interest paid   $ 7,004     $ 9,664     $ 8,120   
Income taxes paid, net of refunds received     2,406       2,560       1,529   
Non-cash transactions:                      

Right-of-use assets obtained in exchange for new operating lease liabilities     1,086       2,407       —   
 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statement. 
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QNB CORP. AND SUBSIDIARY 

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
 

Note 1 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

Business 
QNB Corp. (the “Company”), through its wholly-owned subsidiary, QNB Bank (the “Bank”), has been serving the residents and 
businesses of Bucks, Lehigh, and Montgomery counties in Pennsylvania since 1877. The Bank is a locally managed community bank 
that provides a full range of commercial, retail banking and retail brokerage services. The Bank encounters vigorous competition for 
market share in the communities it serves from bank holding companies, other community banks, thrift institutions, credit unions and 
other non-bank financial organizations such as mutual fund companies, insurance companies and brokerage companies. The Company 
manages its business as a single operating segment. 

The Bank is a Pennsylvania chartered commercial bank. The Company and the Bank are subject to regulations of certain state and 
Federal agencies. These regulatory agencies periodically examine the Company and the Bank for adherence to laws and regulations. 

Basis of Presentation 
The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its wholly-owned subsidiary, the Bank. The consolidated 
entity is referred to herein as “QNB”. All significant inter-company accounts and transactions have been eliminated in the consolidated 
financial statements. 

Tabular information, other than share and per share data, is presented in thousands of dollars.  Certain prior period amounts have been 
reclassified to conform with the current year’s presentation. 

Use of Estimates 
These statements are prepared in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”) and predominant practices 
within the banking industry. The preparation of these consolidated financial statements requires QNB to make estimates and judgments 
that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses, and related disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities. 
QNB evaluates estimates on an on-going basis. Material estimates that are particularly susceptible to significant change in the near term 
relate to the determination of the allowance for loan losses, the determination of the valuation of other real estate owned, the fair value 
of financial instruments, other-than-temporary impairment of investment securities, the determination of impairment of restricted bank 
stock and the valuation of deferred tax assets and income taxes. QNB bases its estimates on historical experience and various other 
factors and assumptions that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making 
judgments about the carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ 
from these estimates under different assumptions or conditions. 

Significant Group Concentrations of Credit Risk 
Most of the QNB’s activities are with customers located within Bucks, Montgomery and Lehigh Counties in southeastern Pennsylvania. 
Note 4 discusses the types of investment securities in which the Company invests. Note 5 discusses the types of lending in which the 
Company engages. The Company does not have any significant concentrations to any one industry or customer. Although the Company 
has a diversified loan portfolio, its debtors’ ability to honor their contracts is influenced by the region’s economy. 

Cash and Cash Equivalents 
For purposes of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash on hand, cash items in process of collection, 
amounts due from banks, interest-bearing deposits in the Federal Reserve Bank and other banks and Federal funds sold. QNB maintains 
a portion of its interest-bearing deposits at various commercial financial institutions. At times, the balances exceed the FDIC insured 
limits. 

Trading Securities 
The Company may engage in trading activities for its own account. Interest and dividends are included in interest income. Debt securities 
that are bought and held principally for the purpose of selling in the near term are classified as trading securities and reported at fair 
value, with unrealized gains and losses included in earnings.  
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Investment Securities 

Investment debt securities that QNB has the positive intent and ability to hold to maturity are classified as held-to-maturity securities 
and reported at amortized cost. Interest is included in interest income. Debt securities not classified as either held-to-maturity securities 
or trading securities are classified as available-for-sale debt securities and reported at fair value, with unrealized gains and losses, net of 
tax, excluded from earnings and reported in other comprehensive income or loss, a separate component of shareholders’ equity. 
Management determines the appropriate classification of securities at the time of purchase. 

Available-for-sale debt securities include securities that management intends to use as part of its asset/liability management strategy and 
that may be sold in response to changes in credit ratings, changes in market interest rates and related changes in the securities’ 
prepayment risk or to meet liquidity needs. 

Premiums and discounts on debt securities are recognized in interest income using a constant yield method. Gains and losses on sales 
of available-for-sale securities are recorded on the trade date and are computed on the specific identification method and included in 
non-interest income. 

Equity investments with readily determinable fair values are measured at fair value.  Beginning January 1, 2018, the changes in fair 
value are recognized in net income.  Dividends are included in interest income. 

Other-than-Temporary Impairment of Investment Securities 

Securities are evaluated periodically to determine whether a decline in their value is other-than-temporary. Management utilizes criteria 
such as the magnitude and duration of the decline, in addition to the reasons underlying the decline, to determine whether the loss in 
value is other-than-temporary. The term “other-than-temporary” is not intended to indicate that the decline is permanent, but indicates 
that the prospects for a near-term recovery of value is not necessarily favorable, or that there is a lack of evidence to support realizable 
value equal to or greater than carrying value of the investment. For equity securities without a readily determinable market value, once 
a decline in value is determined to be other-than-temporary, the value of the equity security is reduced to fair value and a corresponding 
charge to earnings is recognized.  Temporary improvements in the fair value on equity securities with an OTTI change would not be 
recognized.  

The Company follows the accounting guidance in Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) Accounting Standards Codification 
(“ASC”) 320-10 as it relates to the recognition and presentation of other-than-temporary impairment (“OTTI”). This accounting 
guidance specifies that (a) if a company does not have the intent to sell a debt security prior to recovery and (b) it is more likely than 
not that it will not have to sell the debt security prior to recovery, the security would not be considered other-than-temporarily impaired 
unless there is a credit loss. When an entity does not intend to sell the security, and it is more likely than not the entity will not have to 
sell the security before recovery of its cost basis, it will recognize the credit component of an other-than-temporary impairment of a debt 
security in earnings and the remaining portion in other comprehensive income. For held to maturity debt securities, the amount of an 
other-than-temporary impairment recorded in other comprehensive income for the non-credit portion of a previous other-than-temporary 
impairment would be amortized prospectively over the remaining life of the security based on the timing of future estimated cash flows 
of the security. 

Restricted Investment in Stock 

Restricted bank stock is comprised of restricted stock of the Federal Home Loan Bank of Pittsburgh (“FHLB”) in the amount of 
$1,029,000, the Atlantic Community Bankers Bank in the amount of $12,000 and VISA Class B stock with a carrying cost of $0 at 
December 31, 2020. Federal law requires a member institution of the FHLB to hold stock of its district bank according to a predetermined 
formula. These restricted securities are carried at cost.  The Bank owns 6,502 shares of Visa Class B stock, which was necessary to 
participate in Visa services in support of the Bank’s credit card, debit card, and related payment programs (permissible activities under 
banking regulations) as a member institution. Following the resolution of Visa’s covered litigation, shares of Visa’s Class B stock will 
be converted to Visa Class A shares using a conversion factor (1.6228 as of September 27, 2019), which is periodically adjusted to 
reflect VISA’s ongoing litigation costs. There is a very limited market for this stock, as only current owners of Class B shares are 
permitted to transact in Class B. Due to the lack of orderly trades and public information of such trades, Visa Class B does not have a 
readily determinable fair value.  These restricted investments are carried at cost and evaluated for OTTI periodically. As of December 
31, 2020, there was no OTTI associated with these shares. 
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Loans 

Loans that management has the intent and ability to hold for the foreseeable future or until maturity or pay-off are stated at the principal 
amount outstanding, net of deferred loan fees and costs. Interest income is accrued on the principal amount outstanding. Loan origination 
and commitment fees and related direct costs are deferred and amortized to income over the term of the respective loan and loan 
commitment period as a yield adjustment. 

Loans held-for-sale consist of residential mortgage loans and are carried at the lower of aggregate cost or fair value. Net unrealized 
losses, if any, are recognized through a valuation allowance charged to income. Gains and losses on residential mortgages held-for-sale 
are included in non-interest income. 

Non-Performing Assets 

Non-performing assets are comprised of accruing loans past due 90 days or more, non-accrual loans and investment securities, 
restructured loans, other real estate owned and repossessed assets. Non-accrual loans and investment securities are those on which the 
accrual of interest has ceased. Loans are placed on non-accrual status immediately if, in the opinion of management, collection is 
doubtful, or when principal or interest is past due 90 days or more and collateral is insufficient to cover principal and interest. Interest 
accrued, but not collected at the date a loan is placed on non-accrual status, is reversed and charged against interest income. Subsequent 
cash receipts are applied either to the outstanding principal or recorded as interest income, depending on management’s assessment of 
the ultimate collectability of principal and interest. Loans are returned to an accrual status when the borrower’s ability to make periodic 
principal and interest payments has returned to normal (i.e. brought current with respect to principal or interest or restructured) and the 
paying capacity of the borrower and/or the underlying collateral is deemed sufficient to cover principal and interest. 

From time to time, QNB may extend, restructure, or otherwise modify the terms of existing loans, on a case-by-case basis, to remain 
competitive and retain certain customers, as well as assist other customers that may be experiencing financial difficulties. A loan is 
considered to be a troubled debt restructuring (“TDR”) loan when the Company grants a concession to the borrower because of the 
borrower’s financial condition that it would not otherwise consider. Such concessions may include the reduction of interest rates, 
forgiveness of principal or interest, or other modifications of interest rates to less than the current market rate for new obligations with 
similar risk. Loans classified as TDRs are considered non-performing and are also designated as impaired.   

Accounting for impairment in the performance of a loan is required when it is probable that all amounts, including both principal and 
interest, will not be collected in accordance with the loan agreement. Impaired loans are measured based on the present value of expected 
future cash flows discounted at the loan’s effective interest rate or, at the loan’s observable market price or the fair value of the collateral 
if the loans are collateral dependent. Impairment criteria are applied to the loan portfolio exclusive of smaller homogeneous loans such 
as residential mortgage and consumer loans which are evaluated collectively for impairment. 

Loans are fully charged-off or charged down to net realizable value (fair value of collateral less estimated costs to sell) when deemed 
uncollectible due to bankruptcy or other factors, or when they reach a defined number of days past due based on loan product, industry 
practice, terms and other factors. 

Loans are considered past due when contractually required principal or interest payments have not been made on the due dates. 

Allowance for Loan Losses 

QNB maintains an allowance for loan losses, which is intended to absorb probable known and inherent losses in the outstanding loan 
portfolio. The allowance is reduced by actual credit losses and is increased by the provision for loan losses and recoveries of previous 
losses. The provisions for loan losses are charged to earnings to bring the total allowance for loan losses to a level considered necessary 
by management. 

The allowance for loan losses is based on management’s continuing review and evaluation of the loan portfolio. The level of the 
allowance is determined by assigning specific reserves to individually identified problem credits and general reserves to all other loans. 
For such loans that are also classified as impaired, an allowance is established when the discounted cash flows (or collateral value) of 
the impaired loan is lower than the carrying value of that loan. The portion of the allowance that is allocated to internally criticized and 
non-accrual loans is determined by estimating the inherent loss on each credit after giving consideration to the value of underlying 
collateral. The general component covers pools of loans by loan class including commercial loans not considered impaired, as well as 
smaller balance homogeneous loans, such as residential real estate, home equity and other consumer loans. These pools of loans are 
evaluated for loss exposure based upon historical loss rates. These loss rates are based on a three-year history of charge-offs and are 
more heavily weighted for recent experience for each of these categories of loans, adjusted for qualitative factors. These qualitative risk 
factors include: 

� Lending policies and procedures, including underwriting standards and collection, charge-off and recovery practices. 
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� External factor effects, such as legal and regulatory requirements. 
� National, regional, and local economic and business conditions as well as the condition of various market segments, 

including the value of underlying collateral for collateral dependent loans. 
� Nature and volume of the portfolio including growth. 
� Experience, ability, and depth of lending management and staff. 
� Volume and severity of past due, classified and nonaccrual loans. 
� Quality of the Company’s loan review system, and the degree of oversight by the Company’s Board of Directors. 
� Existence and effect of any concentrations of credit and changes in the level of such concentrations. 
� The duration of the COVID-19 Pandemic, modifications and stimulus packages masking underlying credit issues.  

Each factor is assigned a value to reflect improving, stable or declining conditions based on management’s best judgment using relevant 
information available at the time of the evaluation. 

An unallocated component is maintained to cover uncertainties that could affect management’s estimate of probable losses. The 
unallocated component of the allowance reflects the margin of imprecision inherent in the underlying assumptions used in the 
methodologies for estimating specific and general losses in the portfolio. 

Management emphasizes loan quality and close monitoring of potential problem credits. Credit risk identification and review processes 
are utilized in order to assess and monitor the degree of risk in the loan portfolio. QNB’s lending and credit administration staff are 
charged with reviewing the loan portfolio and identifying changes in the economy or in a borrower’s circumstances which may affect 
the ability to repay debt or the value of pledged collateral. A loan classification and review system exists that identifies those loans with 
a higher than normal risk of collection. Each commercial loan is assigned a grade based upon an assessment of the borrower’s financial 
capacity to service the debt and the presence and value of collateral for the loan. An independent loan review group tests risk assessments 
and evaluates the adequacy of the allowance for loan losses. Management meets monthly to review the credit quality of the loan portfolio 
and quarterly to review the allowance for loan losses. 

In addition, various regulatory agencies, as an integral part of their examination process, periodically review QNB’s allowance for loan 
losses. Such agencies may require QNB to recognize additions to the allowance based on their judgments using information available 
to them at the time of their examination. 

Management believes that it uses the best information available to make determinations about the adequacy of the allowance and that it 
has established its existing allowance for loan losses in accordance with GAAP.  If circumstances differ substantially from the 
assumptions used in making determinations, future adjustments to the allowance for loan losses may be necessary and results of 
operations could be affected. Because future events affecting borrowers and collateral cannot be predicted with certainty, there can be 
no assurance that increases to the allowance will not be necessary should the quality of any loans deteriorate as a result of the factors 
discussed above. 

Transfers of Financial Assets 

Transfers of financial assets are accounted for as sales when control over the assets has been surrendered. Control over transferred assets 
is deemed to be surrendered when (1) the assets have been isolated from the Company, (2) the transferee obtains the right (free of 
conditions that constrain it from taking advantage of that right) to pledge or exchange the transferred assets, and (3) the Company does 
not maintain effective control over the transferred assets through an agreement to repurchase them before their maturity. 



- 65 - 

Servicing Assets 
Servicing assets are recognized as separate assets when rights are acquired through the sale of financial assets. When mortgage loans 
are sold, a portion of the cost of originating the loan is allocated to the servicing rights based on relative fair value. Fair value is based 
on market prices for comparable mortgage servicing contracts, when available, or alternatively, is based on a valuation model that 
calculates the present value of estimated future net servicing income. The Company subsequently measures servicing rights using the 
amortization method where servicing rights are amortized in proportion to and over the period of estimated net servicing income. On a 
quarterly basis, an independent third party determines the fair value of QNB’s servicing assets. These assets are evaluated for impairment 
based upon the fair value of the rights as compared to amortized cost. Impairment is determined by stratifying rights into tranches based 
on predominant characteristics, such as interest rate, loan type and investor type. Impairment is recognized through a valuation allowance 
for an individual tranche, to the extent that fair value is less than the capitalized amount for the tranches. If the Company later determines 
that all or a portion of the impairment no longer exists for a particular tranche, a reduction of the valuation allowance may be recorded 
as an increase to income. Capitalized servicing rights are reported in other assets and are amortized into other non-interest income in 
proportion to, and over the period of, the estimated future net servicing income of the underlying financial assets. 

Servicing fee income is recorded for fees earned for servicing loans. The fees are based on a contractual percentage of the outstanding 
principal, or a fixed amount per loan and are recorded as other non-interest income when earned and netted against the amortization of 
mortgage servicing rights. 

Foreclosed Assets 
Assets acquired through, or in lieu of, loan foreclosure are held for sale and are initially recorded at fair value less cost to sell at the date 
of foreclosure, establishing a new cost basis. Subsequent to foreclosure, valuations are periodically performed by management and the 
assets are carried at the lower of carrying amount or fair value less cost to sell. Revenue and expenses from operations and changes in 
the valuation allowance of foreclosed assets are included in other non-interest expense. At both December 31, 2020 and 2019, the 
Company had  no foreclosed assets. 

Premises and Equipment 

Premises and equipment are stated at cost, less accumulated depreciation and amortization. Depreciation and amortization are calculated 
principally on an accelerated or straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of the assets, or the shorter of the estimated useful life 
or lease term for leasehold improvements, as follows: 
 

Buildings   10 to 39 years 
Furniture and equipment   3 to 15 years 
Leasehold improvements   5 to 30 years 

 
Expenditures for maintenance and repairs are charged to operations as incurred. Gains or losses upon disposition are reflected in earnings 
as realized. 
 
The “Premises and equipment, net” category Consolidated Balance Sheets also includes the right-of-use assets associated with operating 
leases.  The discount rates used in determining the initial value of the right of use assets are based on the FHLB Amortizing Fixed Loan 
Rate for the term of each lease.  QNB typically enters into lease agreements with an initial term of  5 to 10 years and subsequent 
additional optional terms in increments of 5 years.  The lease agreements also contain termination options. None of the leases contain 
purchase options and none transfer the ownership of the leased asset.  QNB has renewed one operating lease  during 2020.   Operating 
lease liabilities are included with “Other liabilities” on the Consolidated Balance Sheets.  All operating lease costs are included in non-
interest expense within  “Net occupancy” on the Consolidated Statements of Income. 

Bank-Owned Life Insurance 

The Bank invests in bank-owned life insurance (“BOLI”) as a source of funding for employee benefit expenses. BOLI involves the 
purchasing of life insurance by the Bank on a select group of employees. The Bank is the owner and beneficiary of the policies. Income 
from the increase in cash surrender value of the policies as well as the receipt of death benefits is included in non-interest income on the 
consolidated statement of income. The BOLI policies are an asset that can be liquidated, if necessary, with associated tax costs. However, 
the Bank intends to hold these policies and, accordingly, has not provided for deferred income taxes on the earnings from the increase 
in cash surrender value. 
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The Bank follows the accounting guidance for postretirement benefit aspects of endorsement split-dollar life insurance arrangements 
which applies to life insurance arrangements that provide an employee with a specified benefit that is not limited to the employee’s 
active service period, including certain bank-owned life insurance policies. It requires an employer to recognize a liability and related 
compensation costs for future benefits that extend to postretirement periods. The expense recorded during 2020, 2019 and 2018 was 
approximately $0, $59,000 and $53,000, respectively, and is included in non-interest expense under salaries and benefits expense. No 
expense was needed during 2020 as the December 31, 2019 post-retirement liability was in line with the December 31, 2020 projected 
post-retirement liability based on updated insurance costs and mortality tables.     

Stock-Based Compensation 

At December 31, 2020, QNB sponsored stock-based compensation plans, administered by a Board committee, under which both 
qualified and non-qualified stock options may be granted periodically to certain employees. QNB accounts for all awards granted under 
stock-based compensation plans in accordance with FASB ASC 718, Compensation - Stock Compensation. Compensation cost has been 
measured using the fair value of an award on the grant date and is recognized over the service period, which is usually the vesting period. 

Stock-based compensation expense was approximately $112,000, $118,000 and $117,000 for the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 
and 2018, respectively. There were $5,000, $7,000 and $10,000 in tax benefits recognized related to the nonqualified compensation and 
disqualifying dispositions for the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018, respectively. 

The fair value of each option is amortized into compensation expense on a straight-line basis between the grant date for the option and 
each vesting date. QNB estimated the fair value of stock options on the date of the grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing model. 
The model requires the use of numerous assumptions, many of which are highly subjective in nature. The following assumptions were 
used in the option pricing model in determining the fair value of options granted during the periods presented. 
 

Year ended December 31,   2020     2019     2018   
Risk free interest rate     1.52 %     2.52 %     2.15 % 
Dividend yield     3.60 %     3.36 %     1.24 % 
Volatility     13.46 %     16.44 %     18.12 % 
Expected life (years)     4.0       4.2       4.2   

 
The weighted average fair value per share of options granted during 2020, 2019 and 2018 was $2.42, $3.96 and $5.29, respectively. The 
risk-free interest rate was selected based upon yields of U.S. Treasury issues with a term equal to the expected life of the option being 
valued. Historical information was the primary basis for the selection of the expected dividend yield, expected volatility and expected 
lives of the options. 

Income Taxes  
QNB accounts for income taxes under the asset/liability method in accordance with income tax accounting guidance, ASC 740 - Income 
Taxes. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future tax consequences attributable to differences between the financial 
statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases, as well as operating loss and tax credit 
carryforwards. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years 
in which those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled. The effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change 
in tax rates is recognized in income in the period that includes the enactment date. A valuation allowance is established against deferred 
tax assets when, in the judgment of management, it is more likely than not that such deferred tax assets will not become available. 
Because the judgment about the level of future taxable income is dependent to a great extent on matters that may, at least in part, be 
beyond QNB’s control, it is at least reasonably possible that management’s judgment about the need for a valuation allowance for 
deferred taxes could change in the near term. 

In connection with the accounting guidance related to accounting for uncertainty in income taxes, which sets out a consistent framework 
to determine the appropriate level of tax reserves to maintain for uncertain tax positions, QNB has evaluated its tax positions as of 
December 31, 2020. A tax position is recognized as a benefit only if it is “more likely than not” that the tax position would be sustained 
in a tax examination, with a tax examination being presumed to occur. The amount recognized is the largest amount of tax benefit that 
has more than a 50 percent likelihood of being realized on examination. For tax positions not meeting the “more likely than not” test, 
no tax benefit is recorded. Under the “more-likely-than-not” threshold guidelines, QNB believes no significant uncertain tax positions 
exist, either individually or in the aggregate, that would give rise to the non-recognition of an existing tax benefit. As of December 31, 
2020, QNB had no material unrecognized tax benefits or accrued interest and no tax penalties. QNB’s policy is to account for interest 
as a component of interest expense and penalties as a component of other expense. The Company and its subsidiary are subject to U.S. 
Federal income tax as well as income tax of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania and the State of New Jersey.  Tax years from 2017 to 
date remain subject to examination by the tax authorities. 



- 67 - 

Treasury Stock 
Common stock shares repurchased are recorded as treasury stock at cost.   

Earnings Per Share 
Basic earnings per share excludes any dilutive effects of options and is computed by dividing net income by the weighted average 
number of common shares outstanding during the period. Diluted earnings per share gives effect to all dilutive potential common shares 
that were outstanding during the period. Potential common shares that may be issued by the Company relate solely to outstanding stock 
options and are determined using the treasury stock method. 

Treasury shares are not deemed outstanding for earnings per share calculations. 

Comprehensive Income (Loss) 
Comprehensive income (loss) is defined as the change in equity of a business entity during a period due to transactions and other events 
and circumstances, excluding those resulting from investments by and distributions to owners. Comprehensive income (loss) consists 
of net income and other comprehensive income (loss). For QNB, the primary component of other comprehensive income (loss) is the 
unrealized holding gains or losses on available-for-sale investment securities and unrealized losses on available-for-sale investment 
securities related to factors other than credit on debt securities. 
  

Advertising Costs 

Advertising costs are recorded in the period they are incurred within operating expenses in non-interest expense in the consolidated 
statements of income. 

Financial Instruments with Off-Balance-Sheet Risk 

The Company’s exposure to credit loss in the event of non-performance by the other party to the financial instrument for commitments 
to extend credit and standby letters of credit is represented by the contractual notional amount of these instruments. The Company uses 
the same credit policies in making commitments and contractual obligations as it does for on-balance-sheet instruments. The Company 
reflects its estimate of credit risk for these instruments in “Other liabilities” on the Consolidated Balance Sheet with the corresponding 
expense recorded in “Other” non-interest  expense in the Consolidated Statements of Income. 

Subsequent Events 

QNB has evaluated events and transactions occurring subsequent to the balance sheet date of December 31, 2020 through the date the 
consolidated financial statements are being issued for items that should potentially be recognized or disclosed in these consolidated 
financial statements. QNB identified the following events: 

� QNB entered into an agreement, contingent upon subdivision approval, to purchase its currently leased Country Square Branch.  
QNB anticipates settlement prior to the end of the first quarter of 2021. 

� QNB granted additional COVID-19 loan modifications and renewals.  Ten loan modifications have been renewed totaling 
$18,372,000 and three new modifications were granted totaling $1,293,000 during January and February of 2021. 

� Under the Economic Aid Act, the SBA and Department of the Treasury reopened the PPP to certain borrowers on January 11, 
2021 and released the applications for first- and second-draw loans.  QNB originated 158 new PPP loans for a total of 
$21,184,000 during January and February of  2021. Second-draw customers made up 138 of these loans, or $19,758,000 and 
first-draw customers made of the remaining 20 loans, or $1,436,000.  Additionally, 276 PPP loans, or $25,789,000, were 
forgiven during January and February of 2021.  

Recent Accounting Pronouncements 

On June 16, 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-13, Financial Instruments—Credit Losses (Topic 326) (CECL). The new guidance 
requires organizations to measure all expected credit losses for financial instruments held at the reporting date based on historical 
experience, current conditions and reasonable and supportable forecasts.  

To that end, the new guidance: 

� Eliminates the probable initial recognition threshold in current U.S. GAAP and, instead, reflects an organization’s current 
estimate of all expected credit losses over the contractual term of its financial assets 
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� Broadens the information an entity can consider when measuring credit losses to include forward-looking information 

� Increases usefulness of the financial statements by requiring timely inclusion of forecasted information in forming 
expectations of credit losses 

� Increases comparability of purchased financial assets with credit deterioration (PCD assets) with other purchased assets that 
do not have credit deterioration as well as originated assets because credit losses that are expected will be recorded through 
an allowance for credit losses for all assets 

� Increases users’ understanding of underwriting standards and credit quality trends by requiring additional information about 
credit quality indicators by year of origination (vintage) 

� For available-for-sale debt securities, aligns the income statement recognition of credit losses with the reporting period in 
which changes occur by recording credit losses (and subsequent changes in credit losses) through an allowance rather than 
a write down 

The new guidance affects organizations that hold financial assets and net investments in leases that are not accounted for at fair value 
with changes in fair value reported in net income.  The new guidance affects loans, debt securities, trade receivables, net investments in 
leases, off-balance-sheet credit exposures, reinsurance receivables, and any other financial assets not excluded from the scope that have 
the contractual right to receive cash. 

On October 16, 2019, FASB adopted its August 15, 2019 proposal to delay the effective dates for certain smaller reporting companies 
for the implementation CECL.  For public business entities that are U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) filers, the new 
guidance is effective for fiscal years, and interim periods within those fiscal years, beginning after December 15, 2019, except for smaller 
reporting companies, whose effective date is effective for fiscal years , and interim periods with those fiscal years, beginning after 
December 15, 2022. Early application will be permitted for all organizations for fiscal years, and interim periods within those fiscal 
years, beginning after December 15, 2018.  QNB continues to evaluate the impact of this new standard on its consolidated financial 
statements and currently anticipates a material change to its allowance for loan losses.  

On August 28, 2018, the FASB issued ASU 2018-13, Fair Value Measurement (Topic 820): Disclosure Framework — Changes to the 
Disclosure Requirements for Fair Value Measurement. This ASU changes the fair value measurement disclosure requirements of ASC 
820. The amendments in this ASU are the result of a broader disclosure project called FASB Concepts Statement, Conceptual Framework 
for Financial Reporting — Chapter 8: Notes to Financial Statements, which the FASB finalized on August 28, 2018. The FASB used 
the guidance in the Concepts Statement to improve the effectiveness of ASC 820’s disclosure requirements. New disclosure requirements 
include: 1) Changes in unrealized gains or losses included in other comprehensive income (OCI) for recurring Level 3 fair value 
measurements held at the end of the reporting period; and 2) Explicit requirement to disclose the range and weighted average used to 
develop significant unobservable inputs for Level 3 fair value measurements. Disclosures eliminated include: 1) Amount of and reasons 
for transfers between Level 1 and Level 2; 2) Valuation processes for Level 3 fair value measurements; and 3) Policy for timing of 
transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy. The ASU was effective for all entities for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 
2019, including interim periods therein. The adoption of this ASU had no material impact on QNB.   
 

Note 2 – Earnings Per Share and Share Repurchase Plan 

The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted earnings per share: 
 

Year ended December 31,   2020     2019     2018   
Numerator for basic and diluted earnings per share - net income   $ 12,083    $ 12,357    $ 11,335   
Denominator for basic earnings per share - weighted average shares 
   outstanding     3,537,323      3,498,326      3,463,450   
Effect of dilutive securities - employee stock options     37      5,824      19,059   
Denominator for diluted earnings per share - adjusted weighted average 
   shares outstanding     3,537,360      3,504,150      3,482,509   
Earnings per share - basic   $ 3.42    $ 3.53    $ 3.27   
Earnings per share - diluted   $ 3.42    $ 3.53    $ 3.25   

 
There were 96,000, 73,000, and 25,000 stock options that were anti-dilutive as of December 31, 2020, 2019, and 2018 respectively. 
These stock options were not included in the above calculation. 
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On January 24, 2008, QNB announced that the Board of Directors authorized the repurchase of up to 50,000 shares of its common stock 
in open market or privately negotiated transactions. On February 9, 2009, the Board of Directors approved increasing the authorization 
to 100,000 shares. The repurchase authorization does not bear a termination date. There were  4,100 shares repurchased during the year 
ended December 31, 2020, and no shares purchased during the year ended December 31, 2019.  As of December 31, 2020, 61,983 shares 
were repurchased under this authorization at an average price of $17.95 and a total cost of $1,112,000 and were recorded to Treasury 
stock. 
 
 
Note 3 – Cash and Cash Equivalents 

Included in cash and cash equivalents are reserves in the form of deposits with the Federal Reserve Bank of Philadelphia. As of December 
31, 2020 and 2019, QNB was not required to maintain reserves with the Federal Reserve Bank of Philadelphia. 
 
 
Note 4 - Investment Securities 

  
Available-For-Sale Debt Securities 

The amortized cost and fair values of investment debt securities available-for-sale at December 31, 2020 and 2019 were as follows: 
 

            Gross     Gross           
            unrealized     unrealized           
    Fair     holding     holding     Amortized   
December 31, 2020   value     gains     losses     cost   
U.S. Government agency   $ 69,776     $ 26     $ (246 )   $ 69,996   
State and municipal     87,812       2,350       (45 )     85,507   
U.S. Government agencies and sponsored 
   enterprises (GSEs):                             

Mortgage-backed     175,847       3,328       (24 )     172,543   
Collateralized mortgage obligations (CMOs)     94,948       1,751       (5 )     93,202   

Pooled trust preferred     70       —       (14 )     84   
Corporate debt     7,193       59       (29 )     7,163   
Total investment securities available-for-sale   $ 435,646     $ 7,514     $ (363 )   $ 428,495   

 
            Gross     Gross           
            unrealized     unrealized           
    Fair     holding     holding     Amortized   
December 31, 2019   value     gains     losses     cost   
U.S. Government agency   $ 69,298     $ 8     $ (213 )   $ 69,503   
State and municipal     50,781       860       (19 )     49,940   
U.S. Government agencies and sponsored 
   enterprises (GSEs):                             

Mortgage-backed     134,829       371       (504 )     134,962   
Collateralized mortgage obligations (CMOs)     86,610       260       (535 )     86,885   

Pooled trust preferred     79       —       (6 )     85   
Corporate debt     8,113       103       —       8,010   
Total investment securities available-for-sale   $ 349,710     $ 1,602     $ (1,277 )   $ 349,385   
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The amortized cost and fair value of debt securities available-for-sale by contractual maturity at December 31, 2020 are shown in the 
following table. Expected maturities will differ from contractual maturities because borrowers may have the right to call or prepay 
obligations with or without call or prepayment penalties. Securities are assigned to categories based on contractual maturity except for 
mortgage-backed securities and CMOs which are based on the estimated average life of these securities and state and municipal securities 
which are based on pre-refunded date, if applicable. 
 

            Amortized   
December 31, 2020   Fair value     cost   
Due in one year or less   $ 12,270     $ 12,190   
Due after one year through five years     274,376       269,342   
Due after five years through ten years     83,368       82,887   
Due after ten years     65,632       64,076   
Total investment securities available-for-sale   $ 435,646     $ 428,495   

 
Proceeds from sales of investment debt securities available-for-sale were $6,930,000, $47,851,000 and $4,159,000 for the years ended 
December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018, respectively. 

The following table presents information related to the Company’s gains and losses on the sales of debt securities, and losses recognized 
for OTTI of these investments. 
 

December 31,   2020     2019     2018   
Gross realized gains   $ 28    $ 169    $ 25   
Gross realized losses     (4 )    (195 )    (22 ) 
Other-than-temporary impairment     —      —      —   
Total net (losses) gains on AFS debt securities   $ 24    $ (26 )  $ 3   

 
 

The tax expense applicable to the net realized gains on debt securities was $5,000 for the year ended December 31, 2020. The tax benefit 
applicable to the net realized losses on debt securities was $5,000 for the year ended December 31, 2019.  The tax expense applicable 
to the net realized gains on debt securities was $1,000 for the year ended December 31, 2018.  

There were no OTTI impairment charges recognized for debt securities still held by QNB for the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 
or 2018. 

QNB recognizes OTTI for debt securities classified as available-for-sale in accordance with FASB ASC 320, Investments – Debt and 
Equity Securities, which requires that we assess whether we intend to sell or it is more likely than not that the Company will be required 
to sell a security before recovery of its amortized cost basis less any current-period credit losses. For debt securities that are considered 
other-than-temporarily impaired and that we do not intend to sell and will not be required to sell prior to recovery of our amortized cost 
basis, the amount of the impairment is separated into the amount that is credit related (credit loss component) and the amount due to all 
other factors. The credit loss component is recognized in earnings and is the difference between the security’s amortized cost basis and 
the present value of its expected future cash flows discounted at the security’s effective yield. The remaining difference between the 
security’s fair value and the present value of future expected cash flows is due to factors that are not credit related and, therefore, is not 
required to be recognized as a loss in the consolidated statement of income, but is recognized in other comprehensive income (loss). 
QNB believes that we will fully collect the carrying value of securities on which we have recorded a non-credit related impairment in 
other comprehensive income (loss). 

The following table presents a rollforward of the credit loss component recognized in earnings. The credit loss component of the 
amortized cost represents the difference between the present value of expected future cash flows and the amortized cost basis of the 
security prior to considering credit losses. The beginning balance represents the credit loss component for debt securities for which 
OTTI occurred prior to the beginning of the year. Credit-impaired debt securities must be presented in two components based upon 
whether the current period is the first time the debt security was credit-impaired (initial credit impairment) or is not the first time the 
debt security was credit-impaired (subsequent credit impairments). No credit impairments were recognized in 2020, 2019 or 2018. The 
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following table presents a summary of the cumulative credit-related other-than-temporary impairment charges recognized as components 
of earnings for debt securities still held by QNB: 
 
 

Year ended December 31,   2020     2019     2018   
Balance, beginning of year   $ 1    $ 1    $ 1   
Reductions:  sale, collateralized debt obligation     —      —      —   
Additions:                    

Initial credit impairments     —      —      —   
Subsequent credit impairments     —      —      —   

Balance, end of year   $ 1    $ 1    $ 1   
 
 

At December 31, 2020 and 2019, investments in debt securities available-for-sale totaling $220,934,000 and $205,016,000, respectively, 
were pledged as collateral for repurchase agreements and deposits of public funds. 
 
 
  

Debt securities that have been in a continuous unrealized loss position are as follows: 
 
December 31, 2020                                                         
            Less than 12 months     12 months or longer     Total   
    No. of     Fair     Unrealized     Fair     Unrealized     Fair     Unrealized   
    securities     value     losses     value     losses     value     losses   
U.S. Government agency     19     $ 37,754     $ (246 )   $ —     $ —     $ 37,754     $ (246 ) 
State and municipal     11       6,821       (45 )     —       —       6,821       (45 ) 
U.S. Government agencies 
   and sponsored enterprises 
   (GSEs):                                                  

Mortgage-backed     4       8,626       (24 )     —       —       8,626       (24 ) 
Collateralized mortgage 
   obligations (CMOs)     3       3,262       (5 )     —       —       3,262       (5 ) 

Pooled trust preferred     1       —       —       70       (14 )     70       (14 ) 
Corporate debt     1       2,971       (29 )     —       —       2,971       (29 ) 
Total     39     $ 59,434     $ (349 )   $ 70     $ (14 )   $ 59,504     $ (363 ) 
 
December 31, 2019                                                         
            Less than 12 months     12 months or longer     Total   
    No. of     Fair     Unrealized     Fair     Unrealized     Fair     Unrealized   
    securities     value     losses     value     losses     value     losses   
U.S. Government agency     36     $ 28,857     $ (141 )   $ 20,427     $ (72 )   $ 49,284     $ (213 ) 
State and municipal     7       2,431       (14 )     515       (5 )     2,946       (19 ) 
U.S. Government agencies 
   and sponsored enterprises 
   (GSEs):                                                  

Mortgage-backed     66       28,482       (50 )     52,398       (454 )     80,880       (504 ) 
Collateralized mortgage 
   obligations (CMOs)     64       24,412       (82 )     27,625       (453 )     52,037       (535 ) 

Pooled trust preferred     1       —       —       79       (6 )     79       (6 ) 
Corporate debt     —       —       —       —       —       —       —   
Total     174     $ 84,182     $ (287 )   $ 101,044     $ (990 )   $ 185,226     $ (1,277 ) 
 
Management evaluates debt securities, which are comprised of U.S. Government Agencies, state and municipalities, mortgage-backed 
securities, CMOs and other issuers, for OTTI and considers the current economic conditions, the length of time and the extent to which 
the fair value has been less than cost, interest rates and the bond rating of each security. The unrealized losses at December 31, 2020 in 
U.S. Government securities, state and municipal securities, mortgage-backed securities, CMOs and corporate debt securities are 
primarily the result of interest rate fluctuations. If held to maturity, these bonds will mature at par, and QNB will not realize a loss. QNB 
has the intent to hold the securities and does not believe it will be required to sell the securities before recovery occurs. 



- 72 - 

QNB holds one trust preferred security, PreTSL IV which is classified as available-for-sale and carried at fair value.  This  security has 
been in an unrealized loss position for more than twelve months.  

The following table provides additional information related to PreTSL IV as of December 31, 2020: 
 

Deal  Class    
Book 
value   

Fair 
value   

Unrealized 
gains (losses)    

Realized 
OTTI 
credit 
loss 

(YTD 2020)   

Total 
recognized 

OTTI 
credit 
loss    

Moody's 
ratings  

Current 
number of 
performing 

banks   

Current 
number of 
performing 
insurance 
companies   

Actual 
deferrals 

and defaults 
as a % of 

total 
collateral    

Total 
performing 
collateral 
as a % of 

outstanding 
bonds   

PreTSL IV  Mezzanine *  $ 84   $ 70   $ (14 )  $ —   $ (1 )  Ba1    3     —     0.0 %    233.4 % 
 
Mezzanine* - class of bonds still outstanding, represents the senior-most obligation of the trust) 

 

Marketable Equity Securities 

The Company’s equity securities consist of investments with readily determinable fair values in large cap stock companies. Changes in 
the fair value of these equity securities are recorded to earnings in non-interest income, in accordance with ASU 2016-01 Financial 
Instruments – Overall (Subtopic 825-10) Recognition and Measurement of Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities, which the 
Company adopted January 1, 2018.  Prior to the adoption of ASU 2016-01,  the Company evaluated the near-term prospects of the 
issuers and was required to record a decline in fair value to earnings if the security was determined to be other-than-temporarily 
impaired.   

At December 31, 2020 and 2019, the Company had $12,849,000 and $9,164,000, respectively, in equity securities recorded at fair value. 
Prior to January 1, 2018, equity securities were stated at fair value with unrealized gains and losses reported as a separate component of 
Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (“AOCI”), net of tax. At December 31, 2017, net unrealized losses, net of tax, of $254,000 
had been recognized in AOCI. On January 1, 2018, these unrealized gains and losses were reclassified out of AOCI and into retained 
earnings with subsequent changes in fair value being recognized in net income. The following is a summary of unrealized and realized 
gains and losses recognized in net income on equity securities during 2020, 2019 and 2018:   
 
December 31,   2020     2019     2018   
Net gains (losses) recognized during the period on equity securities   $ 538    $ 2,551    $ (415 ) 
Less:  Net gains (losses) recognized during the period on equity securities sold during the 
period     585      1,781      (79 ) 
Net unrealized gains (losses) recognized during the reporting period on equity securities 
still held at the reporting date   $ (47 )  $ 770    $ (336 ) 
 
Tax expense applicable to the net realized gains for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 were $155,000 and $737,000, 
respectively. Tax benefit applicable to the net realized losses for the year ended December 31, 2018 was $120,000.  Proceeds from sales 
of investment equity securities were $4,767,000, $11,838,000 and $4,902,000 for the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018, 
respectively. 
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Note 5 - Loans Receivable and the Allowance for Loan Losses 

Major classes of loans are as follows: 
 

December 31,   2020     2019   
Commercial:                 

Commercial and industrial   $ 227,431     $ 168,031   
Construction     57,594       56,209   
Secured by commercial real estate     377,586       336,050   
Secured by residential real estate     81,897       72,443   

State and political subdivisions     25,302       38,376   
Retail:               

1-4 family residential mortgages     82,739       69,469   
Home equity loans and lines     63,943       73,311   
Consumer     5,364       6,530   

Total loans     921,856       820,419   
Net unearned (fees) costs     (1,814 )     197   

Loans receivable   $ 920,042     $ 820,616   
 
Loans secured by commercial real estate include all loans collateralized at least in part by commercial real estate. These loans may not 
be for the express purpose of conducting commercial real estate transactions. 

Overdrafts are reclassified as loans and are included in consumer loans above and total loans on the balance sheet. At December 31, 
2020 and 2019, overdrafts were $258,000 and $224,000, respectively. 

QNB generally lends in Bucks, Lehigh, and Montgomery counties in southeastern Pennsylvania.  . To a large extent, QNB makes loans 
collateralized at least in part by real estate. Its lending activities could be affected by changes in the general economy, the regional 
economy, or real estate values. Other than disclosed in the table above, at December 31, 2020, there was a concentration of loans to 
lessors of residential buildings and dwellings of 14.9% of total loans and to lessors of nonresidential buildings of 19.6% of total loans, 
compared with 16.6% and 18.3% of total loans, respectively, at December 31, 2019. These concentrations were primarily within the 
commercial real estate categories. 

Under the CARES Act, QNB continues to provide customers experiencing financial hardship caused by the COVID-19 Pandemic, 
solutions to help them through this difficult period. As of December 31, 2020, QNB had modifications to approximately 4.0% of the 
December 31, 2020 commercial portfolio and had modifications to approximately 1.8% of the December 31, 2020 retail portfolio,  
related to the COVID-19 Pandemic.  Loans modified one time included five credits and totaled $829,000 with deferred interest and or 
principal payments between two and six months.  Loans modified two times included six credits and totaled $211,000 with deferred 
interest and or principal payments between six and eight months.  Loans modified three times included seven credits and totaled 
$15,248,000 with deferred interest and or principal payments between eight and nine months.  Loans modified four times included 
eleven credits and totaled $17,582,000 with deferred interest and or principal payments between nine and twelve months.  The following 
table illustrates the modified loans by major loan class and total deferral by number of months.     
 
    At December 31, 2020   
    Total Number of Months Deferred   
    0-3 Months     4-6 Months     7-9 Months     10+ Months     Total   
Commercial:                                      

Commercial and industrial   $ 535    $ 33    $ 1,190    $ —     $ 1,758   
Construction     —      —      —      —       —   
Secured by commercial real estate     —      —      17,485      11,329       28,814   
Secured by residential real estate     —      —      423      —       423   
State and political subdivisions     —      152      —      —       152   

Retail:                                 
1-4 family residential mortgages     —      255      116      1,524       1,895   
Home equity loans and lines     39      —      38      747       824   
Consumer     —      4      —      —       4   

Total COVID-19 Modified Loans   $ 574    $ 444    $ 19,252    $ 13,600     $ 33,870   
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At December 31, 2020, QNB had 556 PPP loans totaling $72,821,000 reported in gross commercial and industrial loans.  The PPP loans 
are 100% guaranteed by the SBA.  QNB received origination fees from the SBA ranging from one to five basis points which are 
recognized in interest income as a yield adjustment over the term of the loan.   Net unearned (fees) costs include $1,909,000 in PPP net 
loan origination fees. 

The Company engages in a variety of lending activities, including commercial, residential real estate and consumer transactions. The 
Company focuses its lending activities on individuals, professionals and small to medium sized businesses. Risks associated with lending 
activities include economic conditions and changes in interest rates, which can adversely impact both the ability of borrowers to repay 
their loans and the value of the associated collateral. 

Commercial and industrial loans, commercial real estate loans, construction loans and residential real estate loans with a business purpose 
are generally perceived as having more risk of default than residential real estate loans with a personal purpose and consumer loans. These 
types of loans involve larger loan balances to a single borrower or groups of related borrowers and are more susceptible to a risk of loss 
during a downturn in the business cycle. These loans may involve greater risk because the availability of funds to repay these loans depends 
on the successful operation of the borrower’s business. The assets financed are used within the business for its ongoing operation. Repayment 
of these types of loans generally comes from the cash flow of the business or the ongoing conversions of assets, such as accounts receivable 
and inventory, to cash. Typical collateral for commercial and industrial loans includes the borrower’s accounts receivable, inventory and 
machinery and equipment. Commercial real estate and residential real estate loans secured for a business purpose are originated primarily 
within southeastern Pennsylvania market area at conservative loan-to-value ratios and often backed by the individual guarantees of the 
borrowers or owners. Repayment of this kind of loan is dependent upon either the ongoing cash flow of the borrowing entity or the resale of 
or lease of the subject property. Commercial real estate loans may be affected to a greater extent than residential loans by adverse conditions 
in real estate markets or the economy because commercial real estate borrowers’ ability to repay their loans depends on successful 
development of their properties, as well as the factors affecting residential real estate borrowers. 

Loans to state and political subdivisions are tax-exempt or taxable loans to municipalities, school districts and housing and industrial 
development authorities. These loans can be general obligations of the municipality or school district repaid through their taxing authority, 
revenue obligations repaid through the income generated by the operations of the authority, such as a water or sewer authority, or loans 
issued to a housing and industrial development agency, for which a private corporation is responsible for payments on the loans. 

The Company originates fixed-rate and adjustable-rate real estate-residential mortgage loans for personal purposes that are secured by 
first liens on the underlying 1-4 family residential properties. Credit risk exposure in this area of lending is minimized by the evaluation 
of the credit worthiness of the borrower, including debt-to-income ratios, credit scores and adherence to underwriting policies that 
emphasize conservative loan-to-value ratios of generally no more than 80%. Residential mortgage loans granted in excess of the 80% 
loan-to-value ratio criterion are generally insured by private mortgage insurance. 

The real estate-home equity portfolio consists of fixed-rate home equity loans and variable-rate home equity lines of credit. Risks 
associated with loans secured by residential properties are generally lower than commercial loans and include general economic risks, 
such as the strength of the job market, employment stability and the strength of the housing market. Since most loans are secured by a 
primary or secondary residence, the borrower’s continued employment is the greatest risk to repayment. 

The Company offers a variety of loans to individuals for personal and household purposes. Consumer loans are generally considered to 
have greater risk than first or second mortgages on real estate because they may be unsecured, or, if they are secured, the value of the 
collateral may be difficult to assess and is more likely to decrease in value than real estate. Credit risk in this portfolio is controlled by 
conservative underwriting standards that consider debt-to-income levels and the creditworthiness of the borrower and, if secured, 
collateral values. 

The Company employs a ten-grade risk rating system related to the credit quality of commercial loans and loans to state and political 
subdivisions of which the first six categories are pass categories (credits not adversely rated). The following is a description of the 
internal risk ratings and the likelihood of loss related to each risk rating. 

1 - Excellent - no apparent risk 

2 - Good - minimal risk 

3 - Acceptable - lower risk 

4 - Acceptable - average risk 

5 - Acceptable – higher risk 

6 - Pass watch 

7 - Special Mention - potential weaknesses 
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8 - Substandard - well defined weaknesses 

9 - Doubtful - full collection unlikely 

10 - Loss - considered uncollectible 

The Company maintains a loan review system, which allows for a periodic review of our loan portfolio and the early identification of 
potential problem loans. Each loan officer assigns a rating to commercial loans and loans to state and political subdivisions at the time 
the loan is originated. Loans with risk ratings of one through five are reviewed annually based on the borrower’s fiscal year. Loans with 
risk ratings of six are reviewed every six to twelve months based on the dollar amount of the relationship with the borrower. Loans with 
risk ratings of seven through ten are reviewed at least quarterly, and as often as monthly, at management’s discretion. The Company 
also utilizes an outside loan review firm to review the portfolio on a semi-annual basis to provide the Board of Directors and senior 
management an independent review of the Bank’s loan portfolio on an ongoing basis. These reviews are designed to recognize 
deteriorating credits in their earliest stages in an effort to reduce and control risk in the lending function as well as identifying potential 
shifts in the quality of the loan portfolio. The examinations by the outside loan review firm include the review of lending activities with 
respect to underwriting and processing new loans, monitoring the risk of existing loans and to provide timely follow-up and corrective 
action for loans showing signs of deterioration in quality. In addition, the outside firm reviews the methodology for the allowance for 
loan losses to determine compliance to policy and regulatory guidance. 

The following tables present the classes of the loan portfolio summarized by the aggregate pass rating and the classified ratings of special 
mention, substandard and doubtful within the Company’s internal risk rating system as of December 31, 2020 and 2019: 
 

December 31, 2020   Pass     
Special 
mention     Substandard     Doubtful     Total   

Commercial:                                    
Commercial and industrial   $ 219,104     $ 77     $ 8,250     $ —     $ 227,431   
Construction     57,594       —       —       —       57,594   
Secured by commercial real estate     361,393       3,914       12,279       —       377,586   
Secured by residential real estate     80,233       —       1,664       —       81,897   

State and political subdivisions     25,302       —       —       —       25,302   
Total   $ 743,626     $ 3,991     $ 22,193     $ —     $ 769,810   
 

December 31, 2019   Pass     
Special 
mention     Substandard     Doubtful     Total   

Commercial:                                    
Commercial and industrial   $ 158,247     $ 3,665     $ 6,119     $ —     $ 168,031   
Construction     56,209       —       —       —       56,209   
Secured by commercial real estate     324,936       2,995       8,119       —       336,050   
Secured by residential real estate     70,759       —       1,684       —       72,443   

State and political subdivisions     38,376       —       —       —       38,376   
Total   $ 648,527     $ 6,660     $ 15,922     $ —     $ 671,109   
 
For retail loans, the Company evaluates credit quality based on the performance of the individual credits. The following tables present 
the recorded investment in the retail classes of the loan portfolio based on payment activity as of December 31, 2020 and 2019: 
 

December 31, 2020   Performing     Non-performing     Total   
Retail:                         

1-4 family residential mortgages   $ 82,103     $ 636     $ 82,739   
Home equity loans and lines     63,191       752       63,943   
Consumer     5,259       105       5,364   

Total   $ 150,553     $ 1,493     $ 152,046   
 

December 31, 2019   Performing     Non-performing     Total   
Retail:                         

1-4 family residential mortgages   $ 68,833     $ 636     $ 69,469   
Home equity loans and lines     72,774       537       73,311   
Consumer     6,391       139       6,530   

Total   $ 147,998     $ 1,312     $ 149,310   
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The performance and credit quality of the loan portfolio is also monitored by analyzing the age of the loans receivable as determined by 
the length of time a recorded payment is past due. The following table presents the classes of the loan portfolio (excluding deferred fees 
and costs) summarized by the past due status, regardless of whether the loan is on non-accrual status, as of December 31, 2020 and 
2019: 
 

December 31, 2020   
30-59 days 
past due     

60-89 days 
past due     

90 days or 
more past 

due     
Total past 
due loans     Current     

Total loans 
receivable   

Commercial:                                                 
Commercial and industrial   $ 2,392    $ 31    $ 1,157    $ 3,580    $ 223,851    $ 227,431   
Construction     —      —      —      —      57,594      57,594   
Secured by commercial real 
estate     318      —      40      358      377,228      377,586   
Secured by residential  real 
estate     189      —      340      529      81,368      81,897   

State and political subdivisions     —      —      —      —      25,302      25,302   
Retail:                                      

1-4 family residential 
mortgages     396      303      282      981      81,758      82,739   
Home equity loans and lines     16      2      51      69      63,874      63,943   
Consumer     178      5      —      183      5,181      5,364   

Total   $ 3,489    $ 341    $ 1,870    $ 5,700    $ 916,156    $ 921,856   
 

December 31, 2019   
30-59 days 
past due     

60-89 days 
past due     

90 days or 
more past 

due     
Total past 
due loans     Current     

Total loans 
receivable   

Commercial:                                                 
Commercial and industrial   $ —    $ 58    $ 2,006    $ 2,064    $ 165,967    $ 168,031   
Construction     —      —      —      —      56,209      56,209   
Secured by commercial real 
estate     —      —      1,527      1,527      334,523      336,050   
Secured by residential  real 
estate     208      79      142      429      72,014      72,443   

State and political subdivisions     —      —      —      —      38,376      38,376   
Retail:                                      

1-4 family residential 
mortgages     1,486      573      432      2,491      66,978      69,469   
Home equity loans and lines     271      23      55      349      72,962      73,311   
Consumer     29      71      —      100      6,430      6,530   

Total   $ 1,994    $ 804    $ 4,162    $ 6,960    $ 813,459    $ 820,419   
 
The following tables disclose the recorded investment in loans receivable that are either on non-accrual status or past due 90 days or 
more and still accruing interest as of December 31, 2020 and 2019: 
 

December 31, 2020   
90 days or more past 
due (still accruing)     Non-accrual   

Commercial:                 
Commercial and industrial   $ —     $ 4,367   
Construction     —       —   
Secured by commercial real estate     —       2,905   
Secured by residential real estate     —       875   

State and political subdivisions     —       —   
Retail:               

1-4 family residential mortgages     —       636   
Home equity loans and lines     —       752   
Consumer     —       105   

Total   $ —     $ 9,640   
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December 31, 2019   
90 days or more past 
due (still accruing)     Non-accrual   

Commercial:                 
Commercial and industrial   $ —     $ 5,901   
Construction     —       —   
Secured by commercial real estate     —       3,640   
Secured by residential real estate     —       851   

State and political subdivisions     —       —   
Retail:               

1-4 family residential mortgages     —       636   
Home equity loans and lines     —       537   
Consumer     —       139   

Total   $ —     $ 11,704   
 
Activity in the allowance for loan losses for the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018 are as follows: 
 

Year ended December 31, 2020   

Balance, 
beginning of 

period     

Provision for 
(credit to) 
loan losses     Charge-offs     Recoveries     

Balance, end 
of period   

Commercial:                                    
Commercial and industrial   $ 4,689     $ (411 )   $ (268 )   $ 40     $ 4,050   
Construction     590       (244 )     —       —       346   
Secured by commercial real 
estate     2,519       1,205       —       12       3,736   
Secured by residential real 
estate     629       174       —       68       871   

State and political subdivisions     115       (26 )     —       —       89   
Retail:                                    

1-4 family residential 
mortgages     549       (16 )     —       —       533   
Home equity loans and lines     310       35       —       41       386   
Consumer     230       239       (282 )     78       265   

Unallocated     256       294     N/A     N/A       550   
Total   $ 9,887     $ 1,250     $ (550 )   $ 239     $ 10,826   
 

Year ended December 31, 2019   

Balance, 
beginning of 

period     

Provision for 
(credit to) 
loan losses     Charge-offs     Recoveries     

Balance, end 
of period   

Commercial:                                    
Commercial and industrial   $ 3,092     $ 1,771     $ (207 )   $ 33     $ 4,689   
Construction     551       39       —       —       590   
Secured by commercial real 
estate     2,824       (315 )     —       10       2,519   
Secured by residential real 
estate     754       (197 )     (51 )     123       629   

State and political subdivisions     153       (38 )     —       —       115   
Retail:                                    

1-4 family residential 
mortgages     497       52       —       —       549   
Home equity loans and lines     338       (26 )     (17 )     15       310   
Consumer     164       219       (197 )     44       230   

Unallocated     461       (205 )   N/A     N/A       256   
Total   $ 8,834     $ 1,300     $ (472 )   $ 225     $ 9,887   
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Year ended December 31, 2018   

Balance, 
beginning of 

period     

Provision for 
(credit to) 
loan losses     Charge-offs     Recoveries     

Balance, end 
of period   

Commercial:                                    
Commercial and industrial   $ 2,711     $ 341     $ —     $ 40     $ 3,092   
Construction     563       (12 )     —       —       551   
Secured by commercial real 
estate     2,410       391       —       23       2,824   
Secured by residential real 
estate     816       (12 )     (77 )     27       754   

State and political subdivisions     114       39       —       —       153   
Retail:                                    

1-4 family residential 
mortgages     444       54       (1 )     —       497   
Home equity loans and lines     357       52       (84 )     13       338   
Consumer     57       185       (112 )     34       164   

Unallocated     369       92     N/A     N/A       461   
Total   $ 7,841     $ 1,130     $ (274 )   $ 137     $ 8,834   
 
As previously discussed, the Company maintains a loan review system, which includes a continuous review of the loan portfolio by 
internal and external parties to aid in the early identification of potential impaired loans. A loan is considered impaired when, based on 
current information and events, it is probable that the Company will be unable to collect the scheduled payments of principal or interest 
when due according to the contractual terms of the loan agreement. Factors considered by management in determining impairment 
include payment status, collateral value and the probability of collecting scheduled principal and interest payments when due. Loans 
that experience insignificant payment delays and payment shortfalls generally are not classified as impaired. Management determines 
the significance of payment delays and payment shortfalls on a case-by-case basis, taking into consideration all of the circumstances 
surrounding the loan and the borrower, including the length of the delay, the reasons for the delay, the borrower’s prior payment record 
and the amount of the shortfall in relation to the principal and interest owed. Impairment is measured on a loan by loan basis for 
commercial loans and loans to state and political subdivisions by using either the present value of expected future cash flows discounted 
at the loan’s effective interest rate or the fair value of the collateral if the loan is collateral dependent. 

Large groups of smaller balance homogeneous loans are collectively evaluated for impairment. Accordingly, the Company does not 
separately identify individual consumer and residential mortgage loans for impairment disclosures, unless such loans are part of a larger 
relationship that is impaired or are classified as a troubled debt restructuring. 

An allowance for loan losses is established for an impaired loan if its carrying value exceeds its estimated fair value. The estimated fair 
values of the majority of the Company’s impaired loans are measured based on the estimated fair value of the loan’s collateral. 

For commercial loans secured by real estate, estimated fair values are determined primarily through third-party appraisals. When a real 
estate secured loan becomes impaired, a decision is made regarding whether an updated certified appraisal of the real estate is necessary. 
This decision is based on various considerations, including the age of the most recent appraisal, the loan-to-value ratio based on the 
original appraisal and the condition of the property. Appraised values are discounted to arrive at the estimated selling price of the 
collateral, which is considered to be the estimated fair value. The discounts also include estimated costs to sell the property. 

For commercial loans secured by non-real estate collateral, such as accounts receivable, inventory and equipment, estimated fair values 
are determined based on the borrower’s financial statements, inventory reports, accounts receivable agings or equipment appraisals or 
invoices. Indications of value from these sources are generally discounted based on the age of the financial information or the quality of 
the assets. 

From time to time, QNB may extend, restructure, or otherwise modify the terms of existing loans, on a case-by-case basis, to remain 
competitive and retain certain customers, as well as assist other customers that may be experiencing financial difficulties. A loan is 
considered to be a troubled debt restructuring (“TDR”) loan when the Company grants a concession to the borrower because of the 
borrower’s financial condition that it would not otherwise consider. Such concessions include the reduction of interest rates, extension 
of terms, forgiveness of principal or interest, or other modifications of interest rates to less than the current market rate for new 
obligations with similar risk. Loans classified as TDRs are considered non-performing and are also designated as impaired. 
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The concessions made for TDRs involve lowering the monthly payments on loans through periods of interest only payments, a reduction 
in interest rate below a market rate or an extension of the term of the loan without a corresponding adjustment to the risk premium 
reflected in the interest rate, or a combination of these three methods. The restructurings rarely result in the forgiveness of principal or 
accrued interest. If the borrower has demonstrated performance under the previous terms and our underwriting process shows the 
borrower has the capacity to continue to perform under the restructured terms, the loan will continue to accrue interest. Non-accruing 
restructured loans may be returned to accrual status when there has been a sustained period of repayment performance (generally six 
consecutive months of payments) and both principal and interest are deemed collectible. 

Performing TDRs (not reported as non-accrual or past due 90 days or more and still accruing) totaled $4,469,000 and $4,760,000 as of 
December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively. Non-performing TDRs totaled $843,000 and $1,131,000 as of December 31, 2020 and 2019, 
respectively. All TDRs are included in impaired loans. 

The following table illustrates the specific reserve for loan losses allocated to loans modified as TDRs. These specific reserves are 
included in the allowance for loan losses for loans individually evaluated for impairment. There were charge-offs resulting from loans 
modified as TDRs of $0, $5,000 and $51,000 during the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018, respectively. 
 

December 31,   2020     2019   

    

Unpaid 
principal 
balance     

Related 
allowance     

Unpaid 
principal 
balance     

Related 
allowance   

TDRs with no specific allowance recorded   $ 2,008     $ —     $ 2,957     $ —   
TDRs with an allowance recorded     3,304       503       2,934       450   
Total   $ 5,312     $ 503     $ 5,891     $ 450   

 
There were no newly identified TDRs during the year ended December 31, 2020.  There were six newly identified TDRs during the year 
ended December 31, 2019 including a commercial and industrial loan restructured into three loans secured by commercial real estate 
and a reduced the line of credit available under the existing commercial and industrial loan; and one existing TDR included in the table 
below whose terms were modified a second time.  As of December 31, 2020 and 2019, QNB had commitments of $14,000 and $24,000, 
respectively, to lend additional funds to customers with loans whose terms have been modified in troubled debt restructurings. 

The following table presents loans, by loan class, modified as TDRs during the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019. The pre-
modification outstanding recorded investment disclosed represents the carrying amounts immediately prior to the modification of the 
loan. The post-modification outstanding recorded investment is net of loan repayments. 
 
Year ended December 31,   2020     2019   

    
Number of 
contracts     

Pre- 
modification 
outstanding 

recorded 
investment     

Post- 
modification 
outstanding 

recorded 
investment     

Number of 
contracts     

Pre- 
modification 
outstanding 

recorded 
investment     

Post- 
modification 
outstanding 

recorded 
investment   

Commercial:                                           
Commercial and industrial     —     $ —     $ —       1     $ 641     $ 126   
Secured by commercial real 
estate     —       —       —       3       2,540       2,528   
Secured by residential real 
estate     —       —       —       3       —       534   

Retail:                                           
Home equity loans and lines     —       —       —       —       —       —   

Total     —     $ —     $ —       7     $ 3,181     $ 3,188   
 
There were no loans modified as TDRs, included above, within the previous 12 months from December 31, 2020 and 2019, for which 
there was a payment default, past due 60 days or more, during the respective year end. 

The company had three loans secured by residential real estate with a recorded investment of $395,000 for which foreclosure proceedings 
were in process as of December 31, 2020. There were four mortgage loans secured by residential real estate with a recorded investment 
of $467,000 for which foreclosure proceedings were in process at December 31, 2019.   
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The following tables present the balance in the allowance of loan losses disaggregated on the basis of the Company’s impairment method 
by class of loans receivable along with the balance of loans receivable by class, excluding unearned fees and costs, disaggregated on the 
basis of the Company’s impairment methodology: 
 
    Allowance for Loan Losses     Loans Receivable   

December 31, 2020   Balance     

Balance related 
to loans 

individually 
evaluated for 
impairment     

Balance related 
to loans 

collectively 
evaluated for 
impairment     Balance     

Balance 
individually 

evaluated for 
impairment     

Balance 
collectively 

evaluated for 
impairment   

Commercial:                                                 
Commercial and industrial   $ 4,050     $ 2,421    $ 1,629    $ 227,431    $ 4,503    $ 222,928   
Construction     346       —       346       57,594       —       57,594   
Secured by commercial real estate     3,736       432       3,304       377,586       6,323       371,263   
Secured by residential real estate     871       73       798       81,897       2,051       79,846   

State and political subdivisions     89       —       89       25,302       —       25,302   
Retail:                                           

1-4 family residential mortgages     533       —       533       82,739       813       81,926   
Home equity loans and lines     386       117       269       63,943       765       63,178   
Consumer     265       7       258       5,364       61       5,303   

Unallocated     550     N/A     N/A     N/A     N/A     N/A   
Total   $ 10,826     $ 3,050     $ 7,226    $ 921,856    $ 14,516    $ 907,340   
 
    Allowance for Loan Losses     Loans Receivable   

December 31, 2019   Balance     

Balance related 
to loans 

individually 
evaluated for 
impairment     

Balance related 
to loans 

collectively 
evaluated for 
impairment     Balance     

Balance 
individually 

evaluated for 
impairment     

Balance 
collectively 

evaluated for 
impairment   

Commercial:                                                 
Commercial and industrial   $ 4,689     $ 3,307     $ 1,382     $ 168,031     $ 6,027     $ 162,004   
Construction     590       —       590       56,209       -       56,209   
Secured by commercial real 
estate     2,519       217       2,302       336,050       7,172       328,878   
Secured by residential real estate     629       31       598       72,443       2,082       70,361   

State and political subdivisions     115       —       115       38,376       —       38,376   
Retail:                                           

1-4 family residential mortgages     549       —       549       69,469       955       68,514   
Home equity loans and lines     310       —       310       73,311       555       72,756   
Consumer     230       11       219       6,530       69       6,461   

Unallocated     256     N/A     N/A     N/A     N/A     N/A   
Total   $ 9,887     $ 3,566     $ 6,065     $ 820,419     $ 16,860     $ 803,559   
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The following table summarizes additional information regarding impaired loans by loan portfolio class as of December 31, 2020 and 
2019: 
 
    December 31, 2020     December 31, 2019   

    

Recorded 
investment 

(after 
charge-offs)     

Unpaid 
principal 
balance     

Related 
allowance     

Recorded 
investment 

(after 
charge-offs)     

Unpaid 
principal 
balance     

Related 
allowance   

With no specific allowance recorded:                                                 
Commercial:                                                 

Commercial and industrial   $ 647     $ 722     $ —     $ 901     $ 1,258     $ —   
Construction     —       —       —       —       —       —   
Secured by commercial real 
estate     3,018       3,671       —       3,735       4,362       —   
Secured by residential real 
estate     1,417       1,608       —       1,936       2,110       —   

Retail:                                                 
1-4 family residential 
mortgages     813       894       —       —       —       —   
Home equity loans and lines     537       577       —       955       1,010       —   
Consumer     —       —       —       555       612       —   

Total   $ 6,432     $ 7,472     $ —     $ 8,082     $ 9,352     $ —   
                                                  
With an allowance recorded:                                                 
Commercial:                                                 

Commercial and industrial   $ 3,856     $ 5,462     $ 2,421     $ 5,126     $ 6,577     $ 3,307   
Construction     —       —       —       —       —       —   
Secured by commercial real 
estate     3,305       3,418       432       3,437       3,495       217   
Secured by residential real 
estate     634       642       73       146       193       31   

Retail:                                                 
1-4 family residential 
mortgages     —       —       —       —       —       —   
Home equity loans and lines     228       239       117       —       —       —   
Consumer     61       73       7       69       79       11   

Total   $ 8,084     $ 9,834     $ 3,050     $ 8,778     $ 10,344     $ 3,566   
                                                  
Total:                                                 
Commercial:                                                 

Commercial and industrial   $ 4,503     $ 6,184     $ 2,421     $ 6,027     $ 7,835     $ 3,307   
Construction     —       —       —       —       —       —   
Secured by commercial real 
estate     6,323       7,089       432       7,172       7,857       217   
Secured by residential real 
estate     2,051       2,250       73       2,082       2,303       31   

Retail:                                                 
1-4 family residential 
mortgages     813       894       —       —       —       —   
Home equity loans and lines     765       816       117       955       1,010       —   
Consumer     61       73       7       624       691       11   

Total   $ 14,516     $ 17,306     $ 3,050     $ 16,860     $ 19,696     $ 3,566   
 



- 82 - 

The following table presents additional information regarding the average recorded investment and interest income recognized on 
impaired loans for the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018: 
 
Year Ended December 31,   2020     2019     2018   

    

Average 
recorded 

investment     
Interest income 

recognized     

Average 
recorded 

investment     
Interest income 

recognized     

Average 
recorded 

investment     
Interest income 

recognized   
Commercial:                                                 

Commercial and industrial   $ 5,204     $ 5     $ 4,603     $ 1     $ 6,064     $ 227   
Construction     —       —       —       —       —       —   
Secured by commercial real 
estate     6,696       171       4,682       94       4,908       189   
Secured by residential real 
estate     2,002       69       1,713       40       1,800       23   

State and political subdivisions     —       —       —       —       —       —   
Retail:                                           

1-4 family residential 
mortgages     819       10       1,037       12       1,251       12   
Home equity loans and lines     680       1       281       1       186       1   
Consumer     66       —       73       —       81       —   

Total   $ 15,467     $ 256     $ 12,389     $ 148     $ 14,290     $ 452   
 
 
Note 6 - Premises and Equipment 

Premises and equipment, stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and amortization, are summarized below: 
 

December 31,   2020     2019   
Land and buildings   $ 12,407    $ 12,260   
Furniture and equipment     16,052      15,699   
Leasehold improvements     4,277      4,252   
Right-of-use asset     4,258      3,821   
Book value     36,994      36,032   
Accumulated depreciation and amortization     (21,590 )    (20,424 ) 
Net book value   $ 15,404    $ 15,608   

 
Depreciation and amortization expense on premises and equipment, which excludes operating lease costs in the table below, amounted 
to $1,363,000, $1,211,000, and $990,000 for the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018, respectively. 
 
The following table summarized the quantitative attributes of QNB’s operating leases: 
 
Year ended December 31,   2020     2019   
                  
Lease cost                 
Operating lease cost   $ 672    $ 617   
Total lease cost     672      617   
               
Other information                 
Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of lease liabilities:              
Operating cashflows from operating leases   $ 654    $ 583   
               
Right-of-use assets obtained in exchange for new operating lease liabilities   $ 1,086    $ 2,407   
               
Weighted average remaining lease terms:                 
Operating leases   14.1 years    15.6 years   
Weighted average discount rates:              
Operating leases     2.96 %    3.11 %
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Note 7 - Intangible Assets and Loan Servicing 

Loans serviced for others are not included in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. The unpaid principal balances of mortgage 
loans serviced for others were $87,518,000 and $73,108,000 at December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively. 

The following table reflects the activity of mortgage servicing rights for the periods indicated: 
 

Year ended December 31,   2020     2019     2018   
Balance at beginning of year   $ 441    $ 451    $ 483   
Mortgage servicing rights capitalized     249      61      33   
Mortgage servicing rights amortized     (136 )    (72 )    (66 ) 
Fair market value adjustments     (21 )    1      1   
Balance at end of year   $ 533    $ 441    $ 451   

 
The balance of these mortgage servicing rights is included in other assets at December 31, 2020 and 2019 and the fair value of these 
rights was $568,000 and $551,000, respectively. The fair value of servicing rights was determined using discount rates ranging from 
12.0% to 12.5% for both 2020 and 2019. 

The annual estimated amortization expense of intangible assets for each of the five succeeding fiscal years is as follows: 
 

2021   $ 112  
2022     90  
2023     72  
2024     58  
2025     46   

 
 
Note 8 - Time Deposits 

The aggregate amount of time deposits, including deposits in denominations of $100,000 or more, was $197,085,000 and $235,576,000 
at December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively. Time deposits that meet or exceed the FDIC insurance limit of $250,000 at December 31, 
2020 and 2019 were $29,518,000 and $45,064,000, respectively. 

At December 31, 2020, the scheduled maturities of time deposits were as follows: 
 

2021  $ 131,190  
2022    28,483  
2023    11,963  
2024    9,745  
2025    15,704  
Thereafter    —  
Total time deposits  $ 197,085   
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Note 9 - Short-Term Borrowings 
 

December 31,   

Securities sold 
under agreements 
to repurchase (a)     

Other short - term 
borrowings (b)   

2020                 
Balance   $ 58,838    $ —   
Maximum indebtedness at any month end     60,377      10,845   
Daily average indebtedness outstanding     50,007      1,738   
Average rate paid for the year     0.43 %    1.90 % 
Average rate on period-end borrowings     0.38      0.00   
               
2019              
Balance   $ 44,114    $ 11,817   
Maximum indebtedness at any month end     44,114      33,260   
Daily average indebtedness outstanding     40,220      16,761   
Average rate paid for the year     0.70 %    2.49 % 
Average rate on period-end borrowings     0.62      1.81   

 
(a) Securities sold under agreements to repurchase mature overnight. The repurchase agreements were collateralized by U.S. 

Government mortgage-backed securities and CMOs with an amortized cost of $69,793,000 and $55,928,000 and a fair value of 
$71,295,000 and $55,795,000 and at December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively. These securities are held in safekeeping at the 
Federal Reserve Bank of Boston. 

(b) Other short-term borrowings include Federal funds purchased and overnight borrowings from the FHLB. 

The Bank has five unsecured Federal funds lines granted by correspondent banks totaling $101,000,000. Federal funds purchased under 
these lines were $0 at both December 31, 2020 and 2019. 
 
 
Note 10 - Long-Term Debt 
FHLB advances are collateralized by certain mortgage loans and also require the purchase of FHLB capital stock, which is included 
within restricted investment in bank stock on the consolidated balance sheets. QNB’s FHLB stock is $1,029,000 and $1,061,000 at 
December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively. 

QNB has a maximum borrowing capacity with the FHLB of approximately $353,265,000. At December 31, 2020 QNB had $10,000,000 
in long-term advances outstanding with the FHLB at fixed rates, no short-term borrowings reported in Note 9 and a letter of credit issued 
of $350,000. At December 31, 2019 QNB had $11,817,000 in short-term borrowings outstanding with the FHLB reported in Note 9 as 
other short-term borrowings and a letter of credit of $350,000. 

Long-term advances at the FHLB mature as follows: 

As of December 31, 2020   
Balance 

Maturing     
Weighted-

Average Rate   
2021   $ —    —%   
2022     —      —   
2023     10,000      1.57   
2024     —      —   
2025     —      —   

Thereafter     —      —   
Total long-term debt   $ 10,000      1.57 % 

 
 
Note 11 - Income Taxes 
The Tax Cuts and Jobs Act (the “2017 Tax Reform Act”) was enacted on December 22, 2017.  The 2017 Tax Reform Act reduced the 
U.S. Federal corporate tax rate for QNB from 34% to 21% effective January 1, 2018.  U.S. GAAP required that the tax impact of the 
rate change on existing tax account balances be recognized in the 2017 provision.   A portion of the DTA/DTL tax rate change effect 
related to QNB’s unrealized gains(losses) on available for sale securities, net of their expected deferred tax benefit, included in AOCI 
and created a “stranded tax effect” of $805,000.   In February 2018, FASB issued ASU 2018-02, as discussed in Note 1, allowing a one-
time reclassification of such “stranded tax effect” from AOCI to retained earnings.  In the first quarter of 2018, QNB reclassified 
$805,000 of deferred tax benefits from AOCI to retained earnings as reflected in the Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equity.  
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In 2018, QNB’s 2017 Federal tax return was filed and included an election to change tax methods for bad debt conformity and for loan 
originations costs.  This resulted in a tax benefit of $415,000 related to the change in the tax rate from 34% to 21%.  These discrete tax 
items were recorded in 2018. 

The components of the provision for income taxes are as follows: 
 

Year ended December 31,   2020     2019     2018   
Current Federal income taxes   $ 2,569     $ 2,375     $ 1,742   
Current state income taxes     52       156       57   
Deferred Federal income taxes (benefits)     (53 )     207       363   
Deferred state income taxes (benefits)     (6 )     112       (105 ) 
Other     —       —       (85 ) 
Net provision prior to discrete tax adjustments     2,562       2,850       1,972   
DTL writeoff due to change in tax methods     —       —       (415 ) 
Net provision   $ 2,562     $ 2,850     $ 1,557   

 
At December 31, 2020 and 2019, the tax effects of temporary differences that represent the significant portion of deferred tax assets and 
liabilities are as follows: 
 

December 31,   2020     2019   
Deferred tax assets               

Allowance for loan losses   $ 2,273    $ 2,076   
Non-accrual interest income     39      54   
Deferred rent     71      —   
Deferred revenue     46      71   
Incurred but not reported medical expense     34      31   
Bonus     154      218   
Other     90      33   

Total deferred tax assets     2,707      2,483   
Deferred tax liabilities              

Deferred loan costs     419      369   
Depreciation     406      289   
Mortgage servicing rights     112      92   
Net unrealized holding gains on investment 
   securities available-for-sale     1,502      68   
Fair value adjustment on equity securities     19      32   
Prepaid expenses     166      151   
Deferred rent     —      23   
Other     17      18   

Total deferred tax liabilities     2,641      1,042   
Net deferred tax asset   $ 66    $ 1,441   

 
The ability to realize deferred tax assets is dependent upon a variety of factors, including the generation of future taxable income, the 
existence of taxes paid and recoverable, the reversal of deferred tax liabilities and tax planning strategies. Based upon these and other 
factors, management believes it is more likely than not that QNB will realize the benefits of the above deferred tax assets. 
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A reconciliation of the tax provision on income before taxes computed at the statutory rates of 21% for 2020, 2019 and 2018 and the 
actual tax provision was as follows:   
 
Year ended December 31,   2020     2019     2018   

    Dollar     %     Dollar     %     Dollar     %   
Provision at statutory rate   $ 3,075       21.0 %   $ 3,193       21.0 %   $ 2,707       21.0 % 
Tax-exempt interest and dividend income     (518 )    (3.5 )     (538 )    (3.5 )     (577 )    (4.5 ) 
Bank-owned life insurance     (62 )     (0.4 )     (61 )     (0.4 )     (61 )     (0.4 ) 
Stock-based compensation expense     20       0.1       20       0.1       17       0.1   
State income tax     35      0.2       205      1.3       (19 )    (0.1 ) 
Other     12       0.1       31       0.2       (95 )     (0.8 ) 
Net provision prior to discrete 
   tax adjustments     2,562       17.5       2,850       18.7       1,972       15.3   
DTL writeoff for change in tax methods     —       —       —       —       (415 )     (3.2 ) 
Net provision   $ 2,562       17.5 %   $ 2,850       18.7 %   $ 1,557       12.1 % 
 
 
Note 12 - Employee Benefit Plans 

The QNB Bank Retirement Savings Plan provides for elective employee contributions up to the maximum allowed by the IRS and a 
matching company contribution limited to 3%. In addition, the plan provides for safe harbor non-elective contributions of 5% of total 
compensation by QNB. QNB contributed a matching contribution of $340,000, $309,000 and $271,000 for the years ended December 
31, 2020, 2019, and 2018, respectively, and a safe harbor contribution of $608,000 for 2020, $553,000 for 2019, and $494,000 for 2018. 

QNB’s Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the Plan) offers eligible employees an opportunity to purchase shares of QNB Corp. common 
stock at a 10% discount from the lesser of fair market value on the first or last day of each offering period (as defined by the Plan). At 
the 2016 Annual Meeting, shareholders approved the 2016 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the 2016 Plan), which authorizes the issuance 
of 30,000 shares. As of December 31, 2020, 16,048 shares were issued under the 2016 Plan. The 2016 Plan expires May 31, 2021.  

Shares issued pursuant to the Plan were as follows: 
 

Year ended December 31,   2020     2019     2018   
Shares     5,723      3,310      2,963   
Price per share   $25.52 and $25.56    $33.53    $39.60 and $39.47   

 
 
Note 13 - Stock Option Plan 

QNB has stock option plans (the Plans) administered by a committee which consists of three or more members of QNB’s Board of 
Directors. The Plans provide for the granting of either (i) Non-Qualified Stock Options (NQSOs) or (ii) Incentive Stock Options (ISOs). 
The exercise price of an option, as defined by the Plans, is the fair market value of QNB’s common stock at the date of grant. The Plans 
provide for the exercise either in cash or in securities of the Company or in any combination thereof. 

The 2005 Plan authorized the issuance of 200,000 shares. The time period by which any option is exercisable under this Plan is 
determined by the Committee but shall not commence before the expiration of six months after the date of grant or continue beyond the 
expiration of five years after the date grant date. The granted options vest after a three-year period.  As of December 31, 2020, there 
were 184,200 options granted, 65,850 options forfeited, 118,350 options exercised and no options outstanding under this Plan. The 2005 
Plan expired March 15, 2015. 

The 2015 Plan authorizes the issuance of 300,000 shares. The terms of the 2015 Plan are identical to the 2005 Plan. There were 123,200 
options granted, 4,850 options forfeited, 1,800 options exercised and 116,550 options outstanding under the 2015 Plan as of December 
31, 2020. 

As of December 31, 2020, there was approximately $79,000 of unrecognized compensation cost related to unvested stock option awards 
granted. That cost is expected to be recognized over the next 26 months. 
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Stock option activity during 2020, 2019, and 2018 was as follows: 
 

    
Number 

of options     

Weighted 
average 

exercise price     

Weighted average 
remaining 

contractual term 
(in years)     

Aggregate 
intrinsic value   

Outstanding at December 31, 2017     85,525     $ 30.94                   
Exercised     (13,850 )     24.96                   
Forfeited     (1,600 )     32.52                   
Granted     25,000       43.60                   

Outstanding at December 31, 2018     95,075       35.11                   
Exercised     (14,925 )     27.16                   
Forfeited     (1,500 )     37.20                   
Granted     24,700       38.15                   

Outstanding at December 31, 2019     103,350       36.96                   
Exercised     (9,550 )     29.39                   
Forfeited     (2,250 )     39.86                   
Granted     25,000       36.50                   

Outstanding at December 31, 2020     116,550     $ 37.42       2.21     $ 34   
Exercisable at December 31, 2020     43,900     $ 34.21       0.66     $ 34   

 
As of December 31, 2020, outstanding stock options consist of the following: 
 

    
Options 

outstanding     
Exercise 

price     
Remaining life 

(in years)     
Options 

exercisable     
Exercise 

price   
      20,650     $ 30.40       0.13       20,650     $ 30.40   
      25,000       36.50       4.13       —       —   
      23,250       37.60       1.13       23,250       37.60   
      23,925       38.15       3.13       —       —   
      23,725       43.60       2.14       —       —   
Outstanding at December 31, 2020     116,550     $ 37.42       2.21       43,900     $ 34.21   
 
The intrinsic value related to total stock options exercised during 2020, 2019, and 2018 are as follows: 
 

    2020     2019     2018   
Intrinsic value of stock options exercised   $ 81    $ 153    $ 274   

 
 
Note 14 - Related Party Transactions 

QNB has had, and may be expected to have in the future, banking transactions in the ordinary course of business with its executive 
officers, directors, principal shareholders, their immediate families and affiliated companies. The following table presents activity and 
amounts due from directors, principal officers, and their related interests. All of these transactions were made in the ordinary course of 
business on substantially the same terms, including interest rates and collateral, as those prevailing at the time for comparable 
transactions with other persons. These transactions did not involve more than normal risk of collectability or present any other 
unfavorable features. 
 

Balance, December 31, 2019   $ 13,839   
New loans     25,296   
Repayments     (26,478 ) 
Balance, December 31, 2020   $ 12,657   

 
The following table provides additional information regarding transactions with related parties. 
 

December 31,   2020     2019   
Commitments to extend credit   $ 7,624   $ 6,338   
Letters of credit     1,696     1,696   
Deposits received     10,880     8,779   
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Note 15 - Commitments and Contingencies 

Financial instruments with off-balance sheet risk: 

In the normal course of business there are various legal proceedings, commitments, and contingent liabilities which are not reflected in 
the consolidated financial statements. Management does not anticipate any material losses as a result of these transactions and activities. 
They include, among other things, commitments to extend credit and standby letters of credit. The maximum exposure to credit loss, 
which represents the possibility of sustaining a loss due to the failure of the other parties to a financial instrument to perform according 
to the terms of the contract, is represented by the contractual amount of these instruments. QNB uses the same lending standards and 
policies in making credit commitments as it does for on-balance sheet instruments. The activity is controlled through credit approvals, 
control limits, and monitoring procedures. 

A summary of the Bank's financial instrument commitments is as follows: 
 

December 31,   2020     2019   
Commitments to extend credit and unused lines of credit   $ 296,537     $ 273,088   
Standby letters of credit     22,567       11,704   
Total financial instrument commitments   $ 319,104     $ 284,792   

 
Commitments to extend credit are agreements to lend to a customer as long as there is no violation of any condition established in the 
contract. Commitments generally have fixed expiration dates or other termination clauses and may require the payment of a fee. Since 
many of the commitments are expected to expire without being drawn upon, the total commitment amounts do not necessarily represent 
future cash requirements. QNB evaluates each customer’s creditworthiness on a case-by-case basis. 

Standby letters of credit are conditional commitments issued by the Bank to guarantee the financial or performance obligation of a 
customer to a third party. QNB’s exposure to credit loss in the event of nonperformance by the other party to the financial instrument 
for standby letters of credit is represented by the contractual amount of those instruments. The Bank uses the same credit policies in 
making conditional obligations as it does for on-balance sheet instruments. Standby letters of credit totaling $20,352,000 expire within 
one year. The credit risk involved in issuing letters of credit is essentially the same as that involved in extending other loan commitments. 
The Bank requires collateral and personal guarantees supporting these letters of credit as deemed necessary. The amount of collateral 
obtained for letters of credit and commitments to extend credit is based on management’s credit evaluation of the customer. Collateral 
varies, but may include real estate, accounts receivable, marketable securities, pledged deposits, inventory or equipment. Management 
believes that the proceeds obtained through a liquidation of such collateral and the enforcement of personal guarantees would be 
sufficient to cover the maximum potential amount of future payments required under the corresponding guarantees. The amount of the 
liability as of December 31, 2020 and 2019 for guarantees under standby letters of credit issued is not material. 

Other commitments: 

QNB has committed to various operating leases for several of their branch and office facilities. Some of these leases include specific 
provisions relating to rent increases. A maturity analysis of the operating lease liabilities and reconciliation of the undiscounted cash 
flows to the total operating lease liability is as follows: 
 

    Operating Leases   
2021   $ 587   
2022     582   
2023     531   
2024     405   
2025     426   
Thereafter     3,488   
Total undiscounted cashflows     6,019   
Total discount on cashflows     (1,422 ) 
Total lease liabilities   $ 4,597   

 
Some of the leases contain renewal options to extend the initial terms of the lease for periods ranging from five to ten years and certain 
leases allow for multiple extensions, the commitment for such renewals is not included above if they have not been exercised as of 
December 31, 2020.  Operating lease costs, which include common area maintenance costs not included in the minimum lease payments 
above, for the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018, was $808,000, $778,000 and $681,000, respectively.   
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Note 16 - Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss) 

The following shows the components of accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) during the periods ended December 31, 2020, 
2019 and 2018: 
 

December 31,   2020     2019     2018   
Unrealized net holding gains (losses)  on 
   available-for-sale securities   $ 7,151    $ 325    $ (9,028 ) 
Unrealized losses on available-for-sale securities 
   for which a portion of an other-than-temporary 
   impairment loss has been recognized in earnings     —      —      —   
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)     7,151      325      (9,028 ) 
Tax effect*     (1,502 )    (68 )    1,896   
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss), 
   net of tax   $ 5,649    $ 257    $ (7,132 ) 
                          
* At tax rates of 21%                         

 
The following table presents amounts reclassified out of accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) for the years ended December 
31, 2020, 2019 and 2018: 
 

    

Amount reclassified from 
accumulated other 

comprehensive income (loss)       
Details about accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)   2020     2019     2018     Affected line item in statement of income 
Realized net holding gains (losses) on available-for-sale 

securities   $ 24     $ (26 )   $ 3     
Net gain on sale of investment 

securities 
Other-than-temporary impairment losses on 
   investment securities     —       —       —     

Net other-than-temporary impairment 
losses on investment securities 

Net gain (loss) on sale of investment securities     24       (26 )     3       
Tax effect*     (5 )     5       —     Provision for income taxes 
Total reclassification out of accumulated other 
   comprehensive income (loss), net of tax   $ 19     $ (21 )   $ 3     Net of tax 
                              
*At rate of 21%                             
 
 
Note 17 - Fair Value Measurements and Fair Values of Financial Instruments 

FASB ASC 820, Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures, defines fair value as an exit price, representing the amount that would be 
received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants (fair values are not adjusted 
for transaction costs). ASC 820 also establishes a framework (fair value hierarchy) for measuring fair value under GAAP and expands 
disclosures about fair value measurements. 

ASC 820 establishes a fair value hierarchy that prioritizes the inputs to valuation methods used to measure fair value. The hierarchy 
gives the highest priority to unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (Level 1 measurements) and the 
lowest priority to unobservable inputs (Level 3 measurements). The three levels of the fair value hierarchy are as follows: 

Level 1: Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets that are accessible at the measurement date for identical, unrestricted assets 
or liabilities. 

Level 2: Quoted prices in markets that are not active, or inputs that are observable either directly or indirectly, for substantially 
the full term of the asset or liability. 

Level 3: Prices or valuation techniques that require inputs that are both significant to the fair value measurement and 
unobservable (i.e., supported with little or no market activity). 
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An asset’s or liability’s level within the fair value hierarchy is based on the lowest level of input that is significant to the fair value 
measurement. 

The measurement of fair value should be consistent with one of the following valuation techniques: market approach, income approach, 
and/or cost approach. The market approach uses prices and other relevant information generated by market transactions involving 
identical or comparable assets or liabilities (including a business). For example, valuation techniques consistent with the market 
approach often use market multiples derived from a set of comparables. Multiples might lie in ranges with a different multiple for each 
comparable. The selection of where within the range the appropriate multiple falls requires judgment, considering factors specific to the 
measurement (qualitative and quantitative). Valuation techniques consistent with the market approach include matrix pricing. Matrix 
pricing is a mathematical technique used principally to value debt securities without relying exclusively on quoted prices for the specific 
securities, but rather by relying on the security’s relationship to other benchmark quoted securities. 

For financial assets measured at fair value on a recurring and nonrecurring basis, the fair value measurements by level within the fair 
value hierarchy used were as follows: 
 

December 31, 2020   

Quoted prices 
in active 
markets 

for identical 
assets 

(Level 1)     

Significant 
other 

observable 
input 

(Level 2)     

Significant 
unobservable 

inputs 
(Level 3)     

Balance at end 
of period   

Recurring fair value measurements                             
Securities available-for-sale                             

U.S. Government agency securities   $ —     $ 69,776     $ —     $ 69,776   
State and municipal securities     —       87,812       —       87,812   
U.S. Government agencies and sponsored 
   enterprises (GSEs):                             

Mortgage-backed securities     —       175,847       —       175,847   
Collateralized mortgage obligations (CMOs)     —       94,948       —       94,948   

Pooled trust preferred securities     —       —       70       70   
Corporate debt securities     —       7,193       —       7,193   

Total securities available-for-sale     —       435,576       70       435,646   
Equity securities     12,849       —       —       12,849   

Total recurring fair value measurements   $ 12,849     $ 435,576     $ 70     $ 448,495   
                              
Nonrecurring fair value measurements *                             

Impaired loans   $ —     $ —     $ 5,034     $ 5,034   
Mortgage servicing rights     —       —       291       291   

Total nonrecurring fair value measurements   $ —     $ —     $ 5,325     $ 5,325   
 
* impairment 
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December 31, 2019   

Quoted prices 
in active 
markets 

for identical 
assets 

(Level 1)     

Significant 
other 

observable 
input 

(Level 2)     

Significant 
unobservable 

inputs 
(Level 3)     

Balance at end 
of period   

Recurring fair value measurements                             
Securities available-for-sale                             

U.S. Government agency securities   $ —     $ 69,298     $ —     $ 69,298   
State and municipal securities     —       50,781       —       50,781   
U.S. Government agencies and sponsored 
   enterprises (GSEs):                             

Mortgage-backed securities     —       134,829       —       134,829   
Collateralized mortgage obligations (CMOs)     —       86,610       —       86,610   

Pooled trust preferred securities     —       —       79       79   
Corporate debt securities     —       8,113       —       8,113   

Total securities available-for-sale     —       349,631       79       349,710   
Equity securities     9,164       —       —       9,164   

Total recurring fair value measurements   $ 9,164     $ 349,631     $ 79     $ 358,874   
                              
Nonrecurring fair value measurements *                             

Impaired loans   $ —     $ —     $ 5,212     $ 5,212   
Mortgage servicing rights     —       —       7       7   

Total nonrecurring fair value measurements   $ —     $ —     $ 5,219     $ 5,219   
 
* impairment  

The following table presents additional quantitative information about assets measured at fair value on a nonrecurring basis and for 
which QNB has utilized Level 3 inputs to determine fair value: 
 

   Quantitative information about Level 3 fair value measurements 

December 31, 2020  Fair value   
Valuation 
techniques    

Unobservable 
input    

Value or range 
of values 

Impaired loans  $ 4,754   Appraisal of collateral (1)  Appraisal adjustments (2)  -10% to -30% 
            Liquidation expenses (3)  -10% 
Impaired loans    280   Financial statement 

values for UCC 
collateral 

   Financial statement 
value discounts 

(5)  -87.5 to -100% 

Mortgage servicing rights    291   Discounted cash flow    Remaining term    2 to 30 yrs 
            Discount rate    12.0% to 12.5% 
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   Quantitative information about Level 3 fair value measurements   

December 31, 2019  Fair value   
Valuation 
techniques    

Unobservable 
input    

Value or range 
of values   

Impaired loans  $ 4,655   Appraisal of collateral (1)  Appraisal adjustments (2)  -5% to -40%   
            Liquidation expenses (3)  -10%   
Impaired loans    521   Financial statement 

values for UCC 
collateral 

   Financial statement 
value discounts 

(5)  -30 to -100%   

Impaired loans    36   Used commercial 
vehicle guides 

   Guide value discounts (4)    -30 % 

Mortgage servicing rights    —   Discounted cash flow    Remaining term    2 to 27 yrs   
            Discount rate    12.0% to 12.5%   

 
(1) Fair value is primarily determined through appraisals of the underlying collateral by independent parties, which generally includes 

various level 3 inputs which are not always identifiable. 
(2) Appraisals may be adjusted by management for qualitative factors such as economic conditions and the age of the appraisal. The 

range is presented as a percent of the initial appraised value. 
(3) Appraisals and pending agreements of sale are adjusted by management for estimated liquidation expenses. The range is presented 

as a percent of the initial appraised value. 
(4) If lendable value (lower than wholesale) is utilized then no additional discounts are taken. If lendable value is not provided, then 

additional discounts are applied. 
(5) Values obtained from financial statements for UCC collateral (fixed assets and inventory) are discounted to estimated realizable 

liquidation value. 
  
The following table presents additional information about the securities available-for-sale measured at fair value on a recurring basis 
and for which QNB utilized significant unobservable inputs (Level 3 inputs) to determine fair value for the year ended December 31: 
 

    
Fair value measurements using 

significant unobservable inputs (Level 3)   
Securities available-for-sale   2020     2019   
Balance, beginning of year   $ 79     $ 116   
Payments received     (1 )     (37 ) 
Sale of securities     —       —   
Total gains or losses (realized/unrealized)               

Included in earnings     —       —   
Included in other comprehensive 
   income     (8 )     —   

Transfers in and/or out of Level 3     —       —   
Balance, end of year   $ 70     $ 79   

 
There were also no transfers in or out of level 3 for the same periods. There was $0 and $0  in losses included in earnings attributable to 
the change in unrealized gains or losses relating to the available-for-sale securities above with fair value measurements utilizing 
significant unobservable inputs for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively. 

The Level 3 securities consist of one collateralized debt obligation security (“PreTSL”), which is backed by trust preferred securities 
issued by banks. The market for this security at December 31, 2020 was not active and markets for similar securities also are not active. 
The new issue market is also inactive and there are currently very few market participants who are willing and or able to transact for 
these securities. 

Given conditions in the debt markets today and the absence of observable transactions in the secondary and new issue markets, we 
determined: 

� The few observable transactions and market quotations that are available are not reliable for purposes of determining fair 
value at December 31, 2020; 
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� An income valuation approach technique (present value technique) that maximizes the use of relevant observable inputs 
and minimizes the use of unobservable inputs will be equally or more representative of fair value than the market approach 
valuation technique used at prior measurement dates; and 

� PreTSLs will be classified within Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy because significant adjustments are required to 
determine fair value at the measurement date. 

The Bank used an independent third party to value this security using a discounted cash flow analysis. Based on management’s review 
of the bond’s single underlying issuer, there are no expected credit losses or prepayments; cashflows used were contractual based on the 
Bloomberg YA screen.  The assumed cashflows have been discounted using and estimated market discount rate based on the 30-year 
swap rate.  The 30-year is used as the reference rate since it is indicative of market expectation for short-term rates in the future.  This 
is consistent with the 30-year nature of PreTSL securities, which are priced using the 3-month LIBOR as a reference rate.  The discount 
rate of 5.89% includes the risk-free rate, a credit component and a spread for illiquidity.      

The following information should not be interpreted as an estimate of the fair value of QNB since a fair value calculation is only provided 
for a limited portion of QNB’s assets and liabilities. Due to a wide range of valuation techniques and the degree of subjectivity used in 
making the estimates, comparisons between QNB’s disclosures and those of other companies may not be meaningful. 

The following methods and assumptions were used to estimate the fair values of each major classification of financial instrument and 
non-financial asset at December 31, 2020 and 2019: 

Cash and cash equivalents, accrued interest receivable and accrued interest payable (carried at cost):  The carrying amounts reported in 
the balance sheet approximate those assets’ fair value. 

Investment securities:  available-for-sale (carried at fair value) and equity investments with readily determinable fair values (carried at 
fair value):  The fair value of securities are determined by obtaining quoted market prices on nationally recognized securities exchanges 
(Level 1), or matrix pricing (Level 2), which is a mathematical technique used widely in the industry to value debt securities without 
relying exclusively on quoted market prices for the specific securities but rather by relying on the securities’ relationship to other 
benchmark quoted prices. Level 2 debt securities are valued by a third-party pricing service commonly used in the banking industry. 
Level 2 fair value measurements consider observable data that may include dealer quotes, market spreads, cash flows, the U.S. Treasury 
yield curve, live trading levels, trade execution date, market consensus prepayment speeds, credit information and the security’s terms 
and conditions, among other things. For certain securities which are not traded in active markets or are subject to transfer restrictions, 
valuations are adjusted to reflect illiquidity and/or non-transferability, and such adjustments are generally based on available market 
evidence (Level 3). In the absence of such evidence, management’s best estimate is used. Management’s best estimate consists of both 
internal and external support on certain Level 3 investments. Cash flow models using a present value formula that includes assumptions 
market participants would use along with indicative exit pricing obtained from broker/dealers (where available) were used to support 
fair values of certain Level 3 investments. 

Restricted investment in stocks (carried at cost):  The fair value of stock in Atlantic Community Bankers Bank and the Federal Home 
Loan Bank and VISA Class B is the carrying amount, based on redemption provisions, and considers the limited marketability of such 
securities. 

Loans Held for Sale (carried at lower of cost or fair value):  The fair value of loans held for sale is determined, when possible, using 
quoted secondary market prices. If no such quoted prices exist, the fair value of a loan is determined using quoted prices for a similar 
loan or loans, adjusted for the specific attributes of that loan. 

Loans Receivable (carried at cost):  The fair values of loans are estimated using discounted cash flow analyses, using market rates at the 
balance sheet date that reflect the credit and interest rate-risk inherent in the loans. Projected future cash flows are calculated based upon 
contractual maturity or call dates, projected repayments and prepayments of principal. Generally, for variable rate loans that reprice 
frequently and with no significant change in credit risk, fair values are based on carrying values. 

Impaired Loans (generally carried at fair value):  Impaired loans are loans in which QNB has measured impairment generally based on 
the fair value of the loan’s collateral. Fair value is generally determined based upon independent third-party appraisals of the properties, 
or discounted cash flows based upon the expected proceeds. These assets are included as Level 3 fair values, based upon the lowest 
level of input that is significant to the fair value measurements. There was one impaired loan at both December 31, 2020 and 2019, 
respectively, that had specific reserves required and were partially charged-off at year end; the charge-off on this loan occurred in 2017. 
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Mortgage Servicing Rights (carried at lower of cost or fair value):  The fair value of mortgage servicing rights is based on a valuation 
model that calculates the present value of estimated net servicing income. The mortgage servicing rights are stratified into tranches 
based on predominant characteristics, such as interest rate, loan type and investor type. The valuation incorporates assumptions that 
market participants would use in estimating future net servicing income. 

Deposit liabilities (carried at cost):  The fair value of deposits with no stated maturity (e.g. demand deposits, interest-bearing demand 
accounts, money market accounts and savings accounts) are by definition, equal to the amount payable on demand at the reporting date 
(i.e. their carrying amounts). This approach to estimating fair value excludes the significant benefit that results from the low-cost funding 
provided by such deposit liabilities, as compared to alternative sources of funding. Deposits with a stated maturity (time deposits) have 
been valued using the present value of cash flows discounted at rates approximating the current market for similar deposits. 

Short-term borrowings (carried at cost):  The carrying amount of short-term borrowings approximates their fair values. 

Long-term debt (carried at cost):  Long-term debt has stated maturities and have been valued using the present value of cash flows 
discounted at rates approximating the current market for similar debt instruments. 

Off-balance-sheet instruments (disclosed at cost):  The fair value for the Bank’s off-balance sheet instruments (lending commitments 
and letters of credit) are based on fees currently charged in the market to enter into similar agreements, taking into account, the remaining 
terms of the agreements and the counterparties’ credit standing. 

Management uses its best judgment in estimating the fair value of QNB’s financial instruments; however, there are inherent weaknesses 
in any estimation technique. Therefore, for substantially all financial instruments, the fair value estimates herein are not necessarily 
indicative of the amounts the Company could have realized in a sales transaction on the dates indicated. The estimated fair value amounts 
have been measured as of the respective period ends and have not been re-evaluated or updated for purposes of these financial statements 
subsequent to those respective dates. As such, the estimated fair values of these financial instruments subsequent to the respective 
reporting dates may be different than the amounts reported at each year end. 

The estimated fair values and carrying amounts of QNB’s financial and off-balance sheet instruments are summarized as follows: 
 
                  Fair value measurements   

December 31, 2020   
Carrying 
amount     Fair value     

Quoted 
prices in 

active 
markets for 

identical 
assets 

(Level 1)     

Significant 
other 

observable 
inputs 

(Level 2)     

Significant 
unobservable 

inputs 
(Level 3)   

Financial assets                                         
Cash and cash equivalents   $ 39,331     $ 39,331     $ 39,331     $ —     $ —   
Investment securities:                                    

Available-for-sale     435,646       435,646       —       435,576       70   
Equity     12,849       12,849       12,849       —       —   

Restricted investment in bank stocks     1,041       1,041       —       1,041       —   
Loans held for sale     6,570       6,886       —       6,886       —   
Net loans     909,216       915,726       —       —       915,726   
Mortgage servicing rights     533       568       —       —       568   
Accrued interest receivable     4,825       4,825       —       4,825       —   

                                     
Financial liabilities                                    

Deposits with no stated maturities   $ 1,030,982     $ 1,030,982     $ 1,030,982     $ —     $ —   
Deposits with stated maturities     197,085       199,127       —       199,127       —   
Short-term borrowings     58,838       58,838       58,838       —       —   
Long-term debt     10,000       10,269       10,269       —       —   
Accrued interest payable     350       350       —       350       —   

                                     
Off-balance sheet instruments                                    

Commitments to extend credit   $ —     $ —     $ —     $ —     $ —   
Standby letters of credit     —       88       —       88       —   
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                  Fair value measurements   

December 31, 2019   
Carrying 
amount     Fair value     

Quoted 
prices in 

active 
markets for 

identical 
assets 

(Level 1)     

Significant 
other 

observable 
inputs 

(Level 2)     

Significant 
unobservable 

inputs 
(Level 3)   

Financial assets                                         
Cash and cash equivalents   $ 17,608     $ 17,608     $ 17,608     $ —     $ —   
Investment securities:                                    

Available-for-sale     349,710       349,710       —       349,631       79   
Equity     9,164       9,164       9,164       —       —   

Restricted investment in bank stocks     1,073       1,073       —       1,073       —   
Loans held for sale     977       997       —       997       —   
Net loans     810,729       825,295       —       —       825,295   
Mortgage servicing rights     441       551       —       —       551   
Accrued interest receivable     2,828       2,828       —       2,828       —   

                                     
Financial liabilities                                    
Deposits with no stated maturities   $ 802,284     $ 802,284     $ 802,284     $ —     $ —   
Deposits with stated maturities     235,576       235,557       —       235,557       —   
Short-term borrowings     55,931       55,931       55,931       —       —   
Accrued interest payable     909       909       —       909       —   

                                     
Off-balance sheet instruments                                    
Commitments to extend credit   $ —     $ —     $ —     $ —     $ —   
Standby letters of credit     —       47       —       47       —   

 
 
Note 18 - Revenue Recognition from Contracts with Customer 
 
QNB generally fully satisfies its performance obligations on its contracts with customers as services are rendered and the transaction 
prices are typically fixed; charged either on a periodic basis or based on activity. Because performance obligations are satisfied as 
services are rendered and the transaction prices are fixed, there is little judgment involved in applying Topic 606 that significantly 
affects the determination of the amount and timing of revenue from contracts with customers.  The main types of revenue contracts 
included in non-interest income within the consolidated statements of operations are as follows:  
 

• Fees for services to customers—fees include service charges on deposits which are included as liabilities in the consolidated 
statement of financial position and consist of transaction-based fees, stop payment fees, Automated Clearing House (ACH) 
fees, account maintenance fees, and overdraft services fees for various retail and business checking customers.  These fees 
are charged as earned on the day of the transaction or within the month of the service, with the exception of Enhanced 
Account Analysis Fees, which are calculated on the previous month’s activity and assessed on the following month.  The 
Enhanced Account Analysis Fees are currently being accrued; the revenue is currently being recorded in the month it is 
earned.   Service charges on deposits are withdrawn directly from the customer’s account balance. 

• ATM and debit card – fees are recognized at the time the transaction is executed as that is the point in time QNB fulfills the 
customer’s request.  

• Retail brokerage and advisory—fee income and related expenses are accrued monthly to properly record the revenues in the 
month they are earned.  Advisory fees are collected in advance on a quarterly basis.  These advisory fees are recorded in the 
first month of the quarter for which the service is being performed.     Fees that are transaction based are recognized at the 
point in time that the transaction is executed (i.e. trade date).  

• Merchant – QNB earns interchange fees from credit/debit cardholder transactions conducted through VISA/MasterCard 
payment networks.  Interchange fees from cardholder transactions represent a percentage of the underlying transaction value 
and are recognized monthly, concurrently with the transaction processing services provided to the cardholder within the 
month.  

• Other—includes credit card fees, sales of checks to depositors, miscellaneous fees and gain/losses on sale of OREO. 
• Credit card fees are recognized monthly, concurrently with the transaction processing services provided to the 

cardholder within the month. 
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• Sales of checks to depositors are commissions earned from a third-party who provides checks to QNB’s customers.  
There is a pre-paid incentive with the third party which is recognized over the term of the contract.  Other commissions 
on the sales of checks are recorded weekly. 

• Miscellaneous fees, such as wire, cashier check and garnishment fees, are charged as earned on the day of the 
transaction. 

• Gain (loss) on sales of OREO – QNB records a gain or loss from the sale of OREO when control of the property 
transfers to the buyer, which generally occurs at the time of an executed deed. When the QNB finances the sale of 
OREO to the buyer, QNB assesses whether the buyer is committed to perform their obligations under the contract and 
whether collectability of the transaction price is probable.  Once these criteria are met, the OREO asset is derecognized 
and the gain or loss on sale is recorded upon the transfer of control of the property to the buyer.  In determining the gain 
or loss on the sale, QNB adjusts the transaction prices and related gain (loss) on sale if a significant financing 
component is present. 

 
Note 19 - Parent Company Financial Information 

Condensed financial statements of QNB Corp. only: 
 

Balance Sheets                 
December 31,   2020     2019   
Assets               
Cash and cash equivalents   $ 242     $ 3,616   
Investment securities (cost of $12,784 and $9,053)     12,849       9,164   
Investment in subsidiary     121,427       108,694   
Other assets     9       27   
Total assets   $ 134,527     $ 121,501   
                
Liabilities               
Other liabilities   $ 82     $ 784   
                
Shareholders' equity     134,445       120,717   
Total liabilities and shareholders' equity   $ 134,527     $ 121,501   

 
Statements of Income                         
Year ended December 31,   2020     2019     2018   
Dividends from subsidiary   $ 4,413     $ 3,820     $ 4,027   
Interest, dividend and other income     346       292       266   
Securities gains (losses)     585       1,781       (79 ) 
Net unrealized (loss) gain on investment equity securities     (47 )     770       (336 ) 

Total income     5,297       6,663       3,878   
Expenses     457       420       513   
Income before applicable income taxes and equity in 
   undistributed income of subsidiary     4,840       6,243       3,365   
Provision (benefit) for income taxes     97       714       (256 ) 
Income before equity in undistributed income of subsidiary     4,743       5,529       3,621   
Equity in undistributed income of subsidiary     7,340       6,828       7,714   
Net income   $ 12,083     $ 12,357     $ 11,335   
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Statements of Comprehensive 
Income   (in thousands)   
Year ended December 31,   2020     2019     2018   

    

Before 
tax 

amount     

Tax 
expense 
(benefit)     

Net of 
tax 

amount     

Before 
tax 

amount     

Tax 
expense 
(benefit)     

Net of 
tax 

amount     

Before 
tax 

amount     

Tax 
expense 
(benefit)     

Net of 
tax 

amount   
Net income   $ 14,645     $ 2,562     $ 12,083    $ 15,207     $ 2,850     $ 12,357    $ 12,892     $ 1,557     $ 11,335   
Other comprehensive 
income gain:                                                              

Net unrealized holding 
gains on securities:                                                              

Unrealized holding 
gains arising during 
the period     6,850       1,439       5,411      9,327       1,959       7,368      (3,156 )     (663 )     (2,493 ) 
Reclassification 
adjustment for gains 
included in net 
income     (24 )     (5 )     (19 )    26       5       21      (3 )     (1 )     (2 ) 

      6,826       1,434       5,392      9,353       1,964       7,389      (3,159 )     (664 )     (2,495 ) 
Total comprehensive 
income   $ 21,471     $ 3,996     $ 17,475    $ 24,560     $ 4,814     $ 19,746    $ 9,733     $ 893     $ 8,840   
 

Statements of Cash Flows                         
Year ended December 31,   2020     2019     2018   
Operating Activities                      

Net income   $ 12,083     $ 12,357     $ 11,335   
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided 
   by operating activities:                      

Equity in undistributed income from subsidiary     (7,340 )     (6,828 )     (7,714 ) 
Net securities (gains)  losses     (585 )     (1,781 )     79   
Net unrealized loss (gain) on investment equity 
securities     47       (770 )     336   
Stock-based compensation expense     112       118       117   
Accretion of discounts on investment securities     —       (45 )     —   
Increase (decrease) in other liabilities     (682 )     762       (403 ) 
Decrease increase (decrease) in other assets     17       126       (147 ) 
Deferred income tax (benefit) provision     (20 )     247       (158 ) 

Net cash provided by operating activities     3,632       4,186       3,445   
Investing activities                      

Purchase of investment equity securities     (7,914 )     (9,030 )     (9,763 ) 
Purchase of investment securities available-for-sale     —       (8,730 )     —   
Proceeds from sale of investment equity securities     4,767       11,838       4,902   
Proceeds from sale of investment securities available-for-
sale     —       8,775       —   

Net cash provided (used) by investing activities     (3,147 )     2,853       (4,861 ) 
Financing activities                      

Cash dividend paid     (4,226 )     (4,086 )     (3,863 ) 
Treasury stock purchase     (130 )     —       —   
Proceeds from issuance of common stock     497       591       684   

Net cash used by financing activities     (3,859 )     (3,495 )     (3,179 ) 
Increase (decrease)  cash and cash equivalents     (3,374 )     3,544       (4,595 ) 
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year     3,616       72       4,667   
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year   $ 242     $ 3,616     $ 72   
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Note 20 - Regulatory Restrictions 
Dividends payable by the Company and the Bank are subject to various limitations imposed by statutes, regulations and policies adopted 
by bank regulatory agencies. Under Pennsylvania and Federal banking law, the Bank is subject to certain restrictions on the amount of 
dividends that it may declare without prior regulatory approval. Under Federal Reserve regulations, the Bank is limited as to the amount 
it may lend affiliates, including the Company, unless such loans are collateralized by specific obligations. 

Both the Company and the Bank are subject to regulatory capital requirements administered by Federal bank regulatory agencies. Failure 
to meet minimum capital requirements can initiate actions by regulators that could have an effect on the financial statements. Under the 
framework for prompt corrective action, both the Company and the Bank must meet capital guidelines that involve quantitative measures 
of their assets, liabilities, and certain off-balance-sheet items.  

The capital amounts and classification are also subject to qualitative judgments by the regulators. Management believes, as of December 
31, 2020, that the Company and the Bank met capital adequacy requirements to which they were subject. 

The Bank is presently considered to be “well capitalized” under the regulatory framework. To be categorized as well capitalized, the 
Company and the Bank must maintain minimum ratios set forth in the table below. The Company and the Bank’s actual capital amounts 
and ratios are presented as follows: 
 

    Capital levels   
    Actual     Adequately capitalized     Well capitalized   

As of December 31, 2020   Amount     Ratio     Amount     Ratio     Amount     Ratio   
Total risk-based capital (to risk-weighted assets):                                                 

Consolidated   $ 139,705       13.95 %   $ 80,125       8.00 %   $ 100,156       10.00 % 
Bank     126,687       13.15       77,047     8.00       96,308     10.00   

                                            
Tier I capital (to risk-weighted assets):                                           

Consolidated     128,788       12.86       60,094     6.00       60,094     6.00   
Bank     115,770       12.02       57,785     6.00       77,047     8.00   

                                            
Common equity tier 1 capital (to risk-weighted assets):                                           

Consolidated     128,788       12.86       45,070     4.50     N/A     N/A   
Bank     115,770       12.02       43,339     4.50       62,600     6.50   

                                            
Tier I capital (to average assets):                                           

Consolidated     128,788       9.07       56,776     4.00     N/A     N/A   
Bank     115,770       8.23       56,286     4.00       70,357     5.00   

 
    Capital levels   
    Actual     Adequately capitalized     Well capitalized   

As of December 31, 2019   Amount     Ratio     Amount     Ratio     Amount     Ratio   
Total risk-based capital (to risk-weighted assets):                                                 

Consolidated   $ 130,412       13.82 %   $ 75,498       8.00 %   $ 94,373       10.00 % 
Bank     118,389     12.93       73,270     8.00       91,587     10.00   

                                            
Tier I capital (to risk-weighted assets):                                           

Consolidated     120,452     12.76       56,624     6.00       56,624     6.00   
Bank     108,429     11.84       54,952     6.00       73,270     8.00   

                                            
Common equity tier 1 capital (to risk-weighted assets):                                           

Consolidated     120,452     12.76       42,468     4.50     N/A     N/A   
Bank     108,429     11.84       41,214     4.50       59,532     6.50   

                                            
Tier I capital (to average assets):                                           

Consolidated     120,452     9.78       49,283     4.00     N/A     N/A   
Bank     108,429     8.89       48,804     4.00       61,005     5.00   
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Note 21 - Consolidated Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited) 

The unaudited quarterly results of operations for the years ended 2020 and 2019 are in the following table: 
 
    Quarters Ended 2020     Quarters Ended 2019   
    March 31     June 30     September 30     December 31     March 31     June 30     September 30     December 31   
Interest income   $ 11,331     $ 10,740     $ 10,763     $ 10,859     $ 11,289     $ 11,712     $ 11,817     $ 11,600   
Interest expense     2,168       1,506       1,433       1,338       2,453       2,601       2,635       2,435   
Net interest income     9,163       9,234       9,330       9,521       8,836       9,111       9,182       9,165   
Provision for loan losses     500       250       250       250       225       150       550       375   
Non-interest income     (1,571 )     2,817       2,809       3,547       2,309       1,654       2,144       2,210   
Non-interest expense     7,278       6,869       7,197       7,611       6,724       6,793       6,955       7,632   
Income before income taxes     (186 )     4,932       4,692       5,207       4,196       3,822       3,821       3,368   
Provision for income taxes     (406 )     998       914       1,056       817       679       731       623   
Net Income   $ 220     $ 3,934     $ 3,778     $ 4,151     $ 3,379     $ 3,143     $ 3,090     $ 2,745   
Earnings Per Share - basic *   $ 0.06     $ 1.11     $ 1.07     $ 1.17     $ 0.97     $ 0.90     $ 0.88     $ 0.78   
Earnings Per Share - diluted *   $ 0.06     $ 1.11     $ 1.07     $ 1.17     $ 0.97     $ 0.90     $ 0.88     $ 0.78   

* Due to rounding, quarterly earnings per share may not sum to annual earnings per share  
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ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL 
DISCLOSURE 

None. 

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES 

a) Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures 

Under the supervision and with the participation of QNB’s Chief Executive Officer, or CEO, and Chief Financial Officer, or CFO (its 
principal executive officer and principal financial officer), management has evaluated the effectiveness of the design and operation of 
QNB’s disclosure controls and procedures as of December 31, 2020. In designing and evaluating the disclosure controls and procedures, 
management recognized that any controls and procedures, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable 
assurance of achieving the desired control objectives. 

We maintain disclosure controls and procedures that are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by us in the reports 
that we file or submit under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or the Exchange Act, is recorded, processed, summarized 
and reported within the time periods required by the Securities and Exchange Commission, or the SEC, and that such information is 
accumulated and communicated to QNB’s management, including the CEO and CFO, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding 
required disclosure. 

Based on and as of the date of such evaluation, our CEO and CFO concluded that the design and operation of our disclosure controls 
and procedures were effective as of the end of the period covered by this Report. 

b) Internal Control over Financial Reporting 

Information required by this item is set forth in Management’s Report and Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm, 
both of which are incorporated by reference into this item. 

c) Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting 

On May 14, 2013, COSO issued an updated version of its Internal Control – Integrated Framework, referred to as the 2013 COSO 
Framework. Management’s assessment of the overall effectiveness of our internal controls over financial reporting for the year ended 
December 31, 2020 was based on the 2013 COSO Framework. 

There were no changes to the Company’s internal controls over financial reporting (as defined in Rule 13a-15(f)) of the Securities 
Exchange Act) during the quarter ended December 31, 2020 that materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, the 
Company’s control over financial reporting. 

ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION 

None. 
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PART III 

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 

The information required by Item 10 is incorporated by reference to information appearing in QNB Corp.’s definitive proxy statement 
to be used in connection with the 2021 Annual Meeting of Shareholders under the captions: 

� “Election of Directors” 
� “Governance of the Company - Code of Ethics” 
�  “Meetings and Committees of the Board of Directors of QNB and the Bank” 
� “Executive Officers of QNB and/or the Bank” 
� "Delinquent Section 16(a) Reports" 

The Company has adopted a Code of Business Conduct and Ethics applicable to its CEO, CFO and Controller as well as its long-
standing Code of Ethics which applies to all directors and employees. The codes are available on the Company’s website at 
www.qnbbank.com. 

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION 

The information required by Item 11 is incorporated by reference to the information appearing in QNB Corp.’s definitive proxy statement 
to be used in connection with the 2021 Annual Meeting of Shareholders under the captions: 

� “Compensation Committee Report” 
� “Executive Compensation” 
� “Director Compensation” 
� “Compensation Tables” 

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED 
STOCKHOLDER MATTERS 

Equity Compensation Plan Information 

The following table summarizes QNB’s equity compensation plan information as of December 31, 2020. Information is included for 
both equity compensation plans approved by QNB shareholders and equity compensation plans not approved by QNB shareholders. 
 

Plan Category   

Number of shares to be 
issued upon exercise of 

outstanding options, 
warrants and rights    

Weighted-average 
exercise price of 

outstanding options, 
warrants and rights    

Number of shares 
available for future 

issuance under equity 
compensation plans 
[excluding securities 

reflected in column (a)]  
    (a)    (b)    (c)  

Equity compensation plans approved by 
   QNB shareholders                      

2015 Stock option plan     116,550    $ 37.42      176,800  
2016 Employee stock purchase plan     —      —      13,952  

Equity compensation plans not approved by 
   QNB shareholders                      

None     —      —      —  
Total     116,550    $ 37.42      190,752   

 
Additional information required by Item 12 is incorporated by reference to the information appearing in QNB Corp.’s definitive proxy 
statement to be used in connection with the 2021 Annual Meeting of Shareholders under the captions: 

� “Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management” 
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ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE 

The information required by Item 13 is incorporated by reference to the information appearing in QNB Corp.’s definitive proxy statement 
to be used in connection with the 2021 Annual Meeting of Shareholders under the captions: 

� “Certain Relationships and Related Party Transactions” 
� “Governance of the Company - Director Independence” 

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES 

The information required by Item 14 is incorporated by reference to the information appearing in QNB Corp.’s definitive proxy statement 
to be used in connection with the 2021 Annual Meeting of Shareholders under the captions: 

� “Audit Committee Pre-Approval of Audit and Permissible Non-Audit Services of Independent Auditors” 
� “Audit Fees, Audit Related Fees, Tax Fees, and All Other Fees” 
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PART IV 

ITEM 15. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES 

(a) 1. Financial Statements 

The following financial statements are included by reference in Part II, Item 8 hereof. 
 

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm   
Consolidated Balance Sheets   
Consolidated Statements of Income   
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (Loss)   
Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equity   
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows   
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements   

 
2. Financial Statement Schedules 

The financial statement schedules required by this Item are omitted because the information is either inapplicable, not required or is in 
the consolidated financial statements as a part of this Report. 
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3. The following exhibits are incorporated by reference herein or filed with this Form 10-K: 
 
    3.1-  Articles of Incorporation of Registrant, as amended. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3(i) of Registrant's Annual Report

on Form 10-K, SEC File No. 0-17706, filed with the Commission on March 13, 2015) 
   

    3.2-  By-laws of Registrant, as amended January 26, 2021. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 of the Registrant's Report
on Form 8-K, SEC File No. 0-17706, filed with the Commission on January 27, 2021) 

   

    4.1-  Description of Capital Securities  
   

  10.1-  Employment Agreement between Registrant and David W. Freeman. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of
Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K, SEC File No. 0-17706, filed with the Commission on December 28, 2012)* 

   

  10.2-  Change of Control Agreement between Registrant and Scott G. Orzehoski. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of 
Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K, SEC File No. 0-17706, filed with the Commission on November 9, 2011)* 

   

  10.3-  Change of Control Agreement between Registrant and Dale A. Westwood (fka Wentz). (Incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.9 of Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K, SEC File No. 0-17706, filed with the Commission on March 29,
2013)* 

   

  10.4-  Change of Control Agreement between Registrant and Janice McCracken Erkes. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of
Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K, SEC File No. 0-17706, filed with the Commission on September 8, 2014)* 

   

  10.5-  Change of Control Agreement between Registrant and Christopher T. Cattie. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.9 of 
Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K, SEC File No. 0-17706, filed with the Commission on March 14, 2016)* 

   

  10.6-  QNB Corp 2015 Stock Incentive Plan (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit A to QNB Corp.’s proxy statement, filed
April 15, 2015)* 

   

  10.7-  QNB Corp. 2016 Employee Stock Purchase Plan. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit A to QNB Corp.’s proxy 
statement, filed with the Commission on April 12, 2016) 

   

  21.1-  Subsidiaries of the Registrant 
   

  23.1-  Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm 
   

  31.1-  Section 302 Certification of the Chief Executive Officer 
   

  31.2-  Section 302 Certification of the Chief Financial Officer 
   

  32.1-  Section 906 Certification of the Chief Executive Officer 
   

  32.2-  Section 906 Certification of the Chief Financial Officer 
   

   

The following Exhibits are being furnished ** as part of this report: 
 
No.   Description 
101.INS   Inline XBRL Instance Document ** 
101.SCH   Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document ** 
101.CAL   Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document ** 
101.LAB   Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document ** 
101.PRE   Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document ** 
101.DEF   Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definitions Linkbase Document ** 
104  Cover page interactive data file (formatted as inline XBRL and continued in Exhibit 101). 

* Indicates compensatory plan or arrangement 

** These interactive data files are being furnished as part of this Annual Report, and, in accordance with Rule 402 of Regulation 
S-T, shall not be deemed filed for purposes of Section 11 or 12 of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or Section 18 of 
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or otherwise subject to liability under those sections. 
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SIGNATURES 

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report 
to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized. 
 

  QNB Corp. 
March 11, 2021     
 BY:  /s/  David W. Freeman 
     David W. Freeman 
    

 
 Chief Executive Officer                

 
    

 
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report is signed below by the following persons on behalf of 
the Registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated 
 
/s/ Dennis Helf  Director, Chairman  March 11, 2021 
Dennis Helf       
        

/s/ David W. Freeman  Chief Executive Officer,  March 11, 2021 
David W. Freeman  Principal Executive    
   Officer and Director    
     

/s/ Autumn R. Bayles  Director  March 11, 2021 
Autumn R. Bayles 
 
/s/ Laurie A. Bergman 

   
 
Director 

  
 
March 11, 2021  

Laurie A Bergman 
 
/s/ Randy S. Bimes 

  
 
Director 

  
 
March 11, 2021 

Randy S. Bimes     
     

/s/ Thomas J. Bisko  Director  March 11, 2021 
Thomas J. Bisko       
        

/s/ Kenneth F. Brown, Jr.  Director  March 11, 2021 
Kenneth F. Brown, Jr.       
        

/s/ Jennifer L. Mann  Director  March 11, 2021 
Jennifer L. Mann       
        
        

/s/ Gary S. Parzych  Director  March 11, 2021 
Gary S. Parzych       
        

/s/ W. Randall Stauffer  Director  March 11, 2021 
W. Randall Stauffer       
        

/s/ Scott R. Stevenson  Director  March 11, 2021 
Scott R. Stevenson       
        

/s/ Janice McCracken Erkes  Chief Financial Officer  March 11, 2021 
Janice McCracken Erkes  (Principal Financial Officer)    
        

/s/ Mary E. Liddle  Chief Accounting Officer  March 11, 2021 
Mary E. Liddle  (Principal Accounting Officer)    
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Exhibit 4.1 
DESCRIPTION OF CAPITAL SECURITIES 

 
As of March 1, 2021, QNB Corp. (the “Company”) had one class of securities registered under Section 12 of the Securities 

Exchange Act of 1934, as amended:  common stock, $0.625 par value per share (the “Common Stock”).  The following summarizes the 
provisions of the Common Stock under the articles of incorporation and bylaws of the Company and under the provisions of the 
Pennsylvania Business Corporation Law of 1988, as amended (the “PBCL”).   The summary should be read in conjunction to the 
complete text of the articles of incorporation and bylaws and the PBCL. 

    
Authorized Shares of Capital Stock 

The authorized capital stock consists of 10,000,000 shares of Common Stock. 
   

Common Stock  
            Voting Rights 

Holders of Common Stock are entitled to one vote for every share having voting power on all matters submitted for action by 
the shareholders. Holders of Common Stock do not have cumulative voting rights in the election of directors.  

 
The Company’s articles of incorporation generally provide that any merger, consolidation, sale of substantially all of the 

Corporation’s assets, or other “Business Combination” transaction more fully described below, must be approved by the affirmative 
vote of not less than 75% of the Company’s then outstanding voting stock. Under the articles of incorporation, the 75% affirmative 
shareholder vote would not be required if: (a) a majority of the board of directors has given prior approval to the acquisition by the 
Related Person (as defined below) involved in the Business Combination of 20% or more of the outstanding shares of Common Stock 
which resulted in that person becoming a Related Person; or (b) a majority of the board of directors has approved the Business 
Combination prior to the time that the person became a Related Person. 

 
The term “Business Combination” means: 
�  any merger or consolidation of the Company or a subsidiary with or into a Related Person; 
�  any sale, lease, exchange, transfer or other disposition, including without limitation mortgage or any other security device 

of all or any substantial part of the assets of the Company (including without limitation any securities of a subsidiary) 
or of a subsidiary, to a Related Person; 

�  any merger or consolidation of a Related Person with or into the Company or a subsidiary; 
�  any sale, lease, exchange, transfer or other disposition of all or any substantial part of the assets of a Related Person to the 

Company or a subsidiary; 
�   the issuance of any securities of the Company or a subsidiary to a Related Person; 
�   the acquisition by the Company or a subsidiary of any securities of a Related Person; 
�   any reclassification of voting stock of the Corporation, or any recapitalization involving voting stock of the Corporation, 

consummated within five years after a Related Person became a Related Person; 
�   any loan or other extension of credit by the Company or a subsidiary to the Related Person or any guarantees by the 

Company or a subsidiary of any loan or other extension of credit by any person to a Related Person; and 
� any agreement, contract or other arrangement provided for any of the transactions described in this definition of Business 

Combination. 
 
“Related Person” means any individual, corporation, partnership or other person or entity which, together with its “affiliates” 

and “associates” (as those terms are defined in the Company’s articles of incorporation) is the beneficial owner, directly or indirectly, 
of 20% or more of the Company’s outstanding voting stock. 

 
Dividends and Distributions 
Holders of Common Stock are entitled to dividends and other distributions ratably as and when declared by the board of 

directors of the Company from assets legally available therefor. Specifically, dividends may be paid in cash, property or shares of 
Common Stock, unless the Company is insolvent or the dividend payment would render it insolvent. Dividend payments and 
distributions are subject to other legal requirements and, generally, may be paid in cash or property provided that, after giving effect to 
the dividend or distribution, the total assets of the Company would not be less than the total liabilities of the Company plus the amount 
necessary to satisfy the preferential rights, if any, of shareholders whose preferential rights are superior to those receiving the dividend 
or distribution. 

 
            Ranking 

Upon the voluntary or involuntary dissolution, liquidation or winding up of the affairs of the Company, after the payment in 
full of its debts and other liabilities, the remainder of its assets, if any, are to be distributed ratably among the holders of Common Stock. 
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            No Conversion Rights; No Preemptive Rights; No Redemption 
Holders of Common Stock have no preemptive or conversion rights and are not subject to further calls or assessment by the 

Company. There are no redemption or sinking fund provisions applicable to the Common Stock. 
  

            Fully Paid and Nonassessable 
Outstanding shares of Common Stock are validly issued, fully-paid and nonassessable. 
 

Anti-Takeover Provisions 
           Certain provisions of the Company’s articles of incorporation, bylaws and the PBCL may have the have the effect of delaying, deferring, 
or preventing a change in control of the Company: 
   
             Pennsylvania Anti-Takeover Provisions 
          Certain anti-takeover provisions of the PBCL apply to Pennsylvania registered corporations (e.g., publicly traded companies) including 
those relating to (1) control share acquisitions, (2) disgorgement of profits by certain controlling persons, (3) business combination transactions 
with interested shareholders, and (4) the rights of shareholders to demand fair value for their stock following a control transaction. Pennsylvania 
law allows corporations to opt-out of these anti-takeover sections under certain circumstances, but the Company has not opted out of any of 
these provisions. A general summary of these applicable anti-takeover provisions is set forth below. 
 

Control Share Acquisitions. Pennsylvania law regarding control share acquisitions relates to the act of acquiring for the first time 
voting power over voting shares (other than (i) shares owned continuously by the same natural person since January 1, 1988, (ii) shares 
beneficially owned by any natural person or trust, estate, foundation or similar entity to the extent such shares were acquired solely by gift, 
inheritance, bequest, device or other testamentary distribution, directly or indirectly, from a natural person who beneficially owned the shares 
prior to January 1, 1988 or (iii) shares acquired pursuant to a stock split, stock dividend or similar distribution with respect to shares that have 
been beneficially owned continuously since their issuance by the corporation by the shareholder that acquired them from the corporation or 
that were acquired from such shareholder pursuant to (ii) above) equal to: (a) at least 20% but less than 33 1/3%; (b) at least 33 1/3% but less 
than 50%; or (c) 50% or more of the voting power of the corporation. Once a control share acquisition has occurred, then all shares in excess 
of the triggering threshold, plus shares purchased at any time with the intention of acquiring such voting power or shares purchased within 180 
days of the date the triggering threshold was exceeded, are considered control shares.  Control shares cannot vote either until their voting rights 
have been restored by two separate votes of the shareholders, as described below, or until they have been transferred to a person who is not an 
affiliate of the transferor and does not thereby also become the holder of control shares. 

 
           The holder of control shares may wait until the next annual or special meeting after the acquisition took place to submit the question of 
the restoration of voting rights to the shareholders, or the acquiring person may accelerate the process by agreeing to underwrite the cost of a 
special meeting of shareholders for that purpose. In either case, the acquiring person is required to furnish for distribution to the shareholders 
an information statement containing a detailed disclosure concerning the acquiring person, its intentions with respect to ownership of securities 
of the corporation and other matters. As an alternative, a person submitting a bona fide written offer to make a control share acquisition may 
request prospective approval by the shareholders of the exercise of the voting rights of the shares proposed to be acquired, provided that the 
control share acquisition is consummated within 90 days after shareholder approval is obtained. Two shareholder votes are required to approve 
the restoration of voting rights. First, the approval of a majority of all voting power must be obtained. Second, the approval of a majority of all 
disinterested shareholders must be obtained.  
 

For a period of 24 months after the later of (a) a control share acquisition by an acquiring person who does not properly request 
consideration of voting rights, or (b) the denial of such a request or lapse of voting rights, the corporation may redeem all the control shares at 
the average of the high and low public market sales price of the shares on the date notice of the call for redemption is given by the corporation.  

 
           Disgorgement of Profits by Certain Controlling Persons. Pennsylvania law regarding disgorgement of profits by certain controlling persons 
applies in the event that (a) any person or group directly or indirectly publicly discloses or causes to be disclosed that the person or group may seek 
to acquire control of the corporation, or (b) a person or group acquires, offers to acquire or directly or indirectly publicly discloses or causes to be 
disclosed an intent to acquire) 20% or more of the voting power of the corporation and, in either case, sells shares within 18 months thereafter. Any 
profits from sales of equity securities of the corporation received by the person or group during such 18-month period will belong to the corporation 
if the securities that were sold were acquired during the 18-month period after or within 24 months prior to becoming a controlling person. 
 
       Business Combination Transactions with Interested Shareholders. Pennsylvania law regarding business combination transactions with 
interested shareholders provides that a person who acquires the direct or indirect beneficial ownership of shares entitled to cast at least 20% of the 
votes entitled to be cast for the election of directors or an affiliate or associate of the corporation who at any time within the prior five years was the 
beneficial owner, directly or indirectly, of 20% of the voting shares of the corporation is an “interested shareholder.” A corporation subject to this 
provision may not effect mergers or certain other business combinations with the interested shareholder for a period of five years, unless: 
 

� the business combination or the acquisition of stock by means of which the interested shareholder became an interested shareholder 
is approved by the corporation’s board of directors prior to such stock acquisition; 
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� the business combination is approved by the affirmative vote of the holders of all the outstanding common shares of the corporation; or 

� the business combination is approved by the affirmative vote of the holders of a majority of all shares entitled to vote, excluding votes 
of shares held by the interested shareholders or their affiliates, and at the time of such vote, the interested shareholder is the beneficial 
owner of at least 80% of the voting shares of the corporation. This exception applies only if the value of the consideration to be paid 
by the interested shareholder in connection with the business combination satisfies certain fair price requirements. 

After the five-year restricted period, an interested shareholder of the corporation may engage in a business combination with the 
corporation if (a) the business combination is approved by the affirmative vote of a majority of the shares other than those beneficially owned by 
the interested shareholder and its affiliates, or (b) the merger is approved at a shareholders meeting and certain fair price requirements are met. 

 
Rights of Shareholders to Demand Full Value for their Stock Following Control Transaction.  Under Pennsylvania law, a control 

transaction is an acquisition by a person or group of the voting power over at least 20% of the voting shares of the corporation. Subject to 
exceptions, if a Pennsylvania registered corporation is subject to a control transaction, the controlling person or group must provide prompt 
notice of the transaction to the court and each shareholder of record holding voting shares.  Any holder of voting shares may make a written 
demand on the controlling person or group for payment in cash of the fair value of each voting share at the date on which the control transaction 
occurs.  The minimum value that a shareholder can receive is the highest price paid per share by the controlling person or group within the 90-
day period ending on and including the date of the control transaction. If any shareholder believes the fair value of her shares is higher than the 
price offered by the controlling person or group, the shareholder may file a petition with the court seeking appraisal of the shares. 

 
             Staggered Board of Directors 

The bylaws provide for the classification of the board of directors into three classes with each class serving a staggered three-year 
term. As a result of this classification, only one-third of the entire board of directors stands for election in any one year and a minimum of two 
annual meetings would be required to elect a majority of the board of directors. 

 
             Calling of Special Meetings of Shareholders 
 Pursuant to the bylaws, special meetings of shareholders may only be called by the President of the Company, or by a majority of the 
Company’s board of directors. 
  
            Advance Notice Requirements for Shareholder Proposals and Director Nominations 

The bylaws provide that notice of any proposal by a shareholder which the shareholder desires to submit to a vote at an annual 
meeting, including any director nominations, must made by notice in writing, delivered or mailed by first class United States mail, postage 
prepaid, to the President of the Company not less than ninety (90) days nor more than one hundred twenty (120) days prior to any annual 
meeting of shareholders. The bylaws also specify requirements as to the contents of the shareholder’s notice or nomination. If notice is not 
provided in accordance with these provisions, a shareholder’s proposal will not appear on the meeting agenda.  

 
Removal of Directors 
Under Pennsylvania law, directors of the Company can be removed from office by a vote of shareholders only for cause. 
 

             Board of Directors May Consider Factors When Evaluating Take-Over Offer 
 The articles of incorporation provide that, when evaluating any offer by another party or a tender or exchange offer for any equity security of 
the Company or to enter into a merger or other business combination with the Company, the board may consider, among other factors: (i) the 
social and economic effects on the employees, customers and other constituents of the Company and its subsidiaries and on the communities 
in which the Company and its subsidiaries operate or are located, and (ii) the desirability of the Company continuing as an independent entity. 
 
Amendments to Articles of Incorporation 

The articles of incorporation provide that, in addition to any affirmative vote required by law, the articles of incorporation may be 
amended by the affirmative vote of the holders of a majority of the outstanding shares of voting stock; provided, however the approval of any 
amendment to Article V (shares), Article VII (business combinations) and Article VIII (amendments) of the articles of incorporation requires 
the affirmative vote of holders of at least 75% of the outstanding shares of voting stock. The PBCL also provides that our shareholders are not 
entitled by statute to propose amendments to the articles of incorporation. 

 
Amendments to Bylaws 
             The bylaws provide that our bylaws may be amended or repealed, in whole or in part, by the affirmative vote of a majority of the board 
of directors at any regular or special meeting of the board of directors. The PBCL provides that the ability of our board of directors to adopt, 
amend or repeal the bylaws is subject to the power of shareholders to change such action. The PBCL also provides that the board of directors 
does not have the authority to adopt or change a bylaw on specified subjects, including, but not limited to, authorized capital, the personal 
liability of directors, various matters relating to our board of directors, and matters relating to the voting rights of shareholders. 
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Exhibit 21.1 

Subsidiaries of the Registrant 

100% Voting Securities Owned by Registrant 

1) QNB Bank – chartered in the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania 
 
 
 
 

Exhibit 23.1 
 

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm 

We consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statements on Form S-3 (Nos. 333-164103 and 333-230602), and Form 
S-8 (Nos. 333-212939, 333-206134, 333-175788, 333-91201, 333-125998, and 333-135408) of QNB Corp. and subsidiary of our report 
dated March 12, 2021, relating to the consolidated financial statements, which appears in the annual report on Form 10-K for the year 
ended December 31, 2020. 
 
/s/ Baker Tilly US, LLP (formerly known as Baker Tilly Virchow Krause, LLP) 
 
Iselin, New Jersey 
March 12, 2021 
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Exhibit 31.1 

CERTIFICATION 

I, David W. Freeman, certify that: 

1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of QNB Corp. 

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact 
necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not 
misleading with respect to the period covered by this annual report. 

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in 
all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the Registrant as of, and for, the periods 
presented in this report. 

4. The Registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and 
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal controls over financial reporting (as 
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the Registrant and have: 

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed 
under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the Registrant, including its consolidated 
subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is 
being prepared; 

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be 
designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and 
the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting 
principles; 

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the Registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our 
conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by 
this report based on such evaluation; and 

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the Registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during 
the Registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the Registrant’s fourth quarter in the case of an annual report) that has 
materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the Registrant’s internal control over financial 
reporting; and 

5. The Registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over 
financial reporting, to the Registrant's auditors and the audit committee of Registrant's Board of Directors (or persons 
performing the equivalent function): 

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial 
reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the Registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and 
report financial information; and 

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the 
Registrant's internal control over financial reporting. 

 
Date:              March 12, 2021         By: /s/ David W. Freeman 
   David W. Freeman 
   Chief Executive Officer 
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Exhibit 31.2 

CERTIFICATION 

I, Janice McCracken Erkes, certify that: 

1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of QNB Corp. 

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact 
necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not 
misleading with respect to the period covered by this annual report. 

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in 
all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the Registrant as of, and for, the periods 
presented in this report. 

4. The Registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and 
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal controls over financial reporting (as 
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the Registrant and have: 

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed 
under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the Registrant, including its consolidated 
subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is 
being prepared; 

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be 
designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and 
the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting 
principles; 

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the Registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our 
conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by 
this report based on such evaluation; and 

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the Registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during 
the Registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the Registrant’s fourth quarter in the case of an annual report) that has 
materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the Registrant’s internal control over financial 
reporting; and 

5. The Registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over 
financial reporting, to the Registrant's auditors and the audit committee of Registrant's Board of Directors (or persons 
performing the equivalent function): 

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial 
reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the Registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and 
report financial information; and 

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the 
Registrant's internal control over financial reporting. 

 
Date:              March 12, 2021         By: /s/ Janice McCracken Erkes 
   Janice McCracken Erkes 
   Chief Financial Officer 
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Exhibit 32.1 

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350 

AS ADDED BY 
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002 

In connection with the Annual Report on Form 10-K of QNB Corp. (the Company) for the period ended December 31, 2020, as 
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the Report), I, David W. Freeman, Chief Executive Officer of the Company, certify, 
pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §1350, as added by § 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that this periodic report fully complies with the 
requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and that information contained in this report fairly 
presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the issuer. 
 
Date:             March 12, 2021                    By:  /s/ David W. Freeman 
   David W. Freeman 
   Chief Executive Officer 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Exhibit 32.2 

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350 

AS ADDED BY 
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002 

In connection with the Annual Report on Form 10-K of QNB Corp. (the Company) for the period ended December 31, 2020, as 
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the Report), I, Janice McCracken Erkes, Chief Financial Officer of the Company, 
certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §1350, as added by § 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that this periodic report fully complies with 
the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and that information contained in this report fairly 
presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the issuer. 
 
Date:             March 12, 2021                    By:  /s/ Janice McCracken Erkes 
   Janice McCracken Erkes 
   Chief Financial Officer 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
PO Box 9005 
Quakertown, PA 18951 
215-538-5600 
QNBbank.com 
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QNB Community Advisory Group Members 
 
The QNB Community Advisory Group was initially formed in 2004. The program has been very beneficial to QNB and hopefully to 
the participating members as well. The Board is very appreciative for the input and feedback received from the individuals involved. 
The following is a list of the members who currently serve on the QNB Community Advisory Group: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Richard Adams – Dick Adams Realtors 
Craig Adamson – Buxmont Academy 
Todd Baringer – The Baringer Group  
Aaron Baum – Baum Precision Machining, Inc. 
Jeff Bell – Precision Finishing, Inc. 
Randy Bimes – Quakertown Veterinary Clinic, PC 
Edwin Bolton – AGP Plastics, Inc. 
Elayne Brick – Washington House/Sellersville Theater  
Edward Buchinski – Grand Valley Holdings, Inc. (The Grand Theater) 
Daniel Cogan – Access Security & Access Lock 
Himanshu Dadarwala – Himanshu, Inc. 
Susan Dale – Spinnerstown Hotel 
Ray Derstine – Altek Business Solutions, Inc. 
Zachariah Derstine – Derstine’s Inc.  
Douglas Dolinar – Guidemark, Inc. 
David Evans – Housing Association & Development Corporation 
Gary Fetterman – Milford Enterprises Inc. 
Angie Floyd – MP Filtri USA,Inc. 
Kevin Frantz – Colebrook Property Management 
Thomas Garrity – Compass Point 
Jerry Gorski – Gorski Engineering 
E. Alan Groff – Associated Truck Sales Company 
Rose Hartle – Baum, Smith & Clemens 
Kevin Hartsoe – Neu Dynamics Corp. 
Ronald Herd Jr. – Daria Metal Fabricators 
Mark Horne – Grand View Hospital 
Ronald Hostetter – H2O Solutions, Inc. 
Bryan Hunsberger – Spring Hill Realty, Inc. 
Douglas Hutchinson – Hutchinson, Gillahan & Freeh PC 
Murtaza Jaffer – EBC Printing 
Ian Jeffery – Trolleybarn LLC 
Daniel Kendra – Precision Solutions, Inc. 
Ed Knell – Core Financial Outsourcing 
Mike Knieriem – Finesse Flooring, Inc. 
Ed Knight – EventQuip 
 
 

Richard Koze – Kay Builders, Inc. 
Chris LaBonge – Trolleybarn LLC 
Lisa Leatherman, CPA – DunlapSLK P.C. 
Marty Leber – George’s Tool Rental 
Joe Lepko – Lepko Finishing 
Jennifer Lutteroty – Frontier Hauling, LLC 
Jon Mayer – Mayer Development 
Michael McVaugh – Laboratory Testing, Inc. 
Jeremy Melber – Southern Lehigh School District 
Norman Mittman – Mittman & Liebman 
Robert Moffett, Esq. – Robert G. Moffett, Attorney at Law 
Kenneth Mohr Jr. – Mohr Management Resources 
Josh Moser – Moser Real Estate Holdings LLC 
Cynthia Novack – Candles & Supplies.com Inc. 
Dennis Pfleiger – St. Luke’s Quakertown Hospital 
Douglas Propst – Kwik Goal, Ltd.  
Kevin Roberts – Durham Hill Farm 
Brian Rocca – Eastern Surfaces, Inc. 
Terry Sands – Sands Auto Group  
Robert Schoen, CPA – Detweiler/Hershey & Associates 
Trevor Smith – Smith Property Group, LLC  
Daniel Soliday, CPA – Daniel L. Soliday, CPA 
Andrew Stanten – Altitude Marketing 
W. Randall Stauffer – Stauffer Glove & Safety 
Steve Staugaitis – Kreischer Miller 
Matthew Stephens – Stephens Funeral Home 
Bernard Suh – Pragma Corporation 
George Sweeney – Canon Capital 
Leonard Tagliavia – JD Byrider 
Thomas Tilley – Tilley’s Nursery, Inc. 
Paul Wagner – The Program 
Brian Webb – Webb Building Group 
Jason Wehrung – Wehrung’s Lumber & Home Center 
Donald Zabinski – JJGD, Holdings, GP LLC 
Terry Zeigler – Datacap Systems, Inc. 
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Officers of QNB Bank 

 
 
 
 

Todd A. Alderfer, SVP, Commercial Lending Team Leader 
John L. Andronis, VP, Commercial Loan Officer 
Wendy L. Awckland, VP, Dublin Office Branch Manager 
Jessica N. Bealer, VP, International Services 
Christopher L. Berg, Commercial Credit Analyst III 
James A. Bleakly, SVP, Special Assets 
Lisa M. Bohner, AVP, Loan Documentation Administrator 
Melissa S. Brindley, VP, Coopersburg Office Branch Manager 
Priscilla J. Buck, AVP, Commercial Credit Analyst III 
Jennifer A. Cotton, VP, Customer Service Center Manager 
Courtney L. Covelens, VP, Commercial Loan Officer 
Maria V. Cuthill, Commercial Credit Analyst III 
Kirk DeVries, Information Security Officer 
April B. Donahue, VP, Business Development Officer 
Gerry W. Donlon, VP, Information Technology Director 
Cory R. Fosbenner, VP, Country Square Office Branch Manager 
Sandra C. Freeman, AVP, Assistant Controller 
R. Kent Fuqua, Deposit Operations Electronic Banking Officer 
Lea J. Garrard, VP, Warminster Office Branch Manager 
Joseph C. Giacini, AVP, Programmer/Analyst, Technical  
  Operations Manager 
Martha E. Green, VP, Commercial Loan Officer 
Justin M. Hartrum, SVP, Commercial Loan Officer/ 
  QNBFS Program Manager 
Jonas L. Homa, VP, Commercial Loan Officer 
Lynn M. Housenick, VP, Retail Banking Analyst 
Melanie A. Iezzi, AVP, Special Assets Supervisor 
Jennifer I. James, AVP, Commercial Credit Analyst III 
Bruce D. Kenworthy, AVP, Business Development Officer 
Carl P. Kessler, VP, Security & BSA Officer 
Thomas R. Klee, SVP, Commercial Loan Officer 
Lori R. Knerr, VP, Allentown Office Branch Manager 
Toby R. Kollar, AVP, Training Manager 
Karen Y. Krier, VP, Perkasie Office Branch Manager 
Michele D. Krout, AVP, Accounting Operations Manager 

Denise R. Landis, AVP, Retail Loan Officer 
Mary E. Liddle, SVP, Chief Accounting Officer 
Connie A Lindenmuth, AVP, Retail/Mortgage Loan Officer 
Alex D. Lipyanik, VP, Commercial Loan Officer 
Kimberly A. Lipyanik, Human Resources Officer 
Bill F. Marks, SVP, Commercial Loan Officer 
Mark Mascarinas, AVP Quakertown Commons Office Branch Manager   
Bill R. McDowell, VP, Client Services Associate 
E. Harry McGuirk, SVP, Commercial Lending Manager 
Trisha A. Metz, AVP, Business Systems Analyst - Loans 
Sharon M. Michael, SVP, Commercial Loan Officer 
Teresa M. Milazzo, VP, Treasury Finance Officer 
Cheryl A. Morris, SVP, Chief Credit Officer 
Lisa A. Otery, SVP, Deposit Operations 
Lori P. Pinkerton, VP, Credit Manager 
Tiffany M. Pompei, VP, Compliance Officer 
Sharon L. Rotenberger, SVP, Retail Banking/  
  Downtown Office Branch Manager 
Romaine K. Russo, VP, Specialized Product Officer 
Bethany J. Schaffer, AVP, Retail/Mortgage Loan Officer 
Brian K. Schaffer, SVP, Chief Marketing Officer  
Tracey Sell, VP, Upper Perkiomen Valley Office Branch Manager 
Amy M. Shimp, VP, Loan Services Manager 
Richard B. Slimmer, VP, Commercial Loan Officer 
Brian J. Smith, VP, Financial Advisor 
Jackie M. Thomas, AVP, Colmar Office Branch Manager 
Gary C. Trively, VP, Wescosville Office Branch Manager 
Sandra L. Tur, AVP, Retail Lending Analyst 
Andrew G. Van Dyke, Loan Administration Officer 
John J. Ventura, SVP, Residential & Consumer Lending 
Bonnie A. Wade, AVP, Special Assets 
Kimberly A. Walters, Commercial Credit Analyst II 
Suzanne B. Weisberg, SVP, Human Resources 
Stephanie Zajkowski, AVP, Commercial Loan Officer 
Robert S. Zukowski, VP, Souderton Office Branch Manager 
 



476

NJ

 Bethlehem 


Durham  Kintnersville

 Revere

 Harrow

 Pipersville

Point    
Pleasant

Doylestown

 Pleasant
    ValleyCOOPERSBURG  

To Philadelphia

 SOUDERTON

 COLMAR

DUBLIN 

 Ottsville

  Center Valley

   QUAKERTOWN

  PERKASIE
Sellersville 

PA

To Pottstown

378

309
212

313

309

63

29

663

100

    East 
Greenville 

 

Hereford 

 Red Hill

212

412

611

611

113

 
Green Lane

Harleysville 

Montgomeryville
Kulpsville

D
elaw

are R
iver

North Wales 


412

Riegelsville 

 Hellertown

663

 Frenchtown

29
100

Macungie 


ALLENTOWN

Trexlertown 

 Fogelsville
 

   WESCOSVILLE

222   Emmaus

Catasauqua 


Whitehall 

WARMINSTER
       

309

22

78
78

476





263

UPPER
PERKIOMEN
VALLEY

P.O. Box 9005
Quakertown, PA 18951

QNB MARKET AREA

QNBbank.com

215.538.5600

.com/qnbbank

.com/qnbbank

.com/qnbbank

.com/company/qnb-bank SKU# 002CSNAA93


	2020 Annual Report Marketing Section web edit
	QNBC_2020_10-K_Final_Printer_Proof
	2020 Annual Report Marketing Section back cover



